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14701 Charlson Road
Eden Prairie, Minnesota 55347

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
May 9, 2019

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS:

C.H. Robinson Worldwide, Inc. s 2019 Annual Shareholders Meeting will be held on Thursday, May 9, 2019, at 1:00
p.m., Central Time. You may attend the meeting and vote your shares electronically as part of our virtual only meeting
of shareholders by visiting www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/CHRW2019. You will need the 12-digit control
number that is printed in the box marked by the arrow on your Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials or
Proxy Card to enter the Annual Meeting. We recommend that you log in at least fifteen minutes before the meeting to
ensure that you are logged in when the meeting starts. The purposes of the meeting are:

1. To elect ten directors to serve for a term of one year;
To approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of our named executive officers;
To ratify the selection of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the company’s independent registered
public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019;
To approve adding shares of our Common Stock to the company’s equity incentive plan, which increases
by 4,000,000 shares the authorized number of shares of our Common Stock issuable thereunder;
5. To consider a shareholder proposal on the adoption of greenhouse gas emissions reduction targets; and
6 To conduct any other business that properly comes before the meeting and any adjournment or
" postponement of the meeting.
Our Board of Directors has selected Wednesday, March 13, 2019, as our record date. Shareholders who own shares of
our Common Stock on the record date are entitled to be notified of, and to vote at, our Annual Meeting.

3.

4.

We use the internet to distribute proxy materials to our shareholders. We believe it is an efficient and
cost-effective way to provide the material, and it reduces the environmental impact of our Annual Meeting. The
Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials for the Shareholder Meeting, the Proxy Statement, and the
Annual Report are available at www.proxyvote.com.

By Thursday, March 28, 2019, we will have completed the mailing of the Notice of Internet Availability of
Proxy Materials to our shareholders. The notice has instructions on how to access our 2019 Proxy Statement
and Annual Report, attend our virtual meeting, and vote online. Shareholders who have requested hard copies
will receive the Proxy Statement and Annual Report by mail.

Your vote is important. Please vote as soon as possible by voting via the internet or by telephone. If you receive
a paper copy of the proxy card by mail, please sign and return the enclosed proxy card.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Ben G. Campbell
Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

March 28, 2019



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A

C.H. ROBINSON WORLDWIDE, INC.
14701 Charlson Road
Eden Prairie, Minnesota 55347

PROXY STATEMENT FOR THE
2019 ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
May 9, 2019

This Proxy Statement is soliciting your proxy for use at the C.H. Robinson Worldwide, Inc. s 2019 Annual
Shareholders Meeting. A proxy enables your shares of Common Stock to be represented and voted at the Annual
Meeting. Our Annual Meeting will be completely virtual and held at 1:00 p.m. Central Time on Thursday, May 9,
2019. You may attend the virtual meeting and vote your shares electronically by visiting
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/CHRW2019. The proxy can also be used at any adjournment or postponement
of the Annual Meeting.

This proxy is requested by the Board of Directors of C.H. Robinson Worldwide, Inc. ( the company, we, us, C.H.
Robinson ) for the following purposes:

1. To elect ten directors to serve for a term of one year;
To approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of our named executive officers;
To ratify the selection of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the company’s independent registered
public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019;
To approve adding shares of our Common Stock to the company’s equity incentive plan, which increases
by 4,000,000 shares the authorized number of shares of our Common Stock issuable thereunder;

5. To consider a shareholder proposal on the adoption of greenhouse gas emissions reduction targets; and

6 To conduct any other business that properly comes before the meeting and any adjournment or

" postponement of the meeting.

We provide our shareholders with the opportunity to access the 2019 Annual Meeting proxy materials via the
internet. A Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials is being mailed to all our shareholders, except
those who have previously provided instructions to receive paper copies of our proxy materials. The notice
contains instructions on how to access and review our proxy materials on the internet and how to vote your
shares. The notice will also tell you how to request our proxy materials in printed form or by email, at no
charge, if that is your preference. The notice contains your 12-digit control number that you will need to vote
your shares and attend our virtual only meeting. Please keep the notice for your reference until after our
Annual Meeting.

3.

4.

We will have completed mailing the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials to our shareholders by
March 28, 2019.

General Information

Q: Who is entitled to vote?
Holders of record of C.H. Robinson Worldwide, Inc. Common Stock, par value $0.10 per share, at the close of
business on March 13, 2019, are entitled to vote at our Annual Meeting. March 13, 2019, is referred to as the
record date. As of the record date, 137,358,627 shares of Common Stock were outstanding. Each share is entitled
to one vote. There is no cumulative voting.
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Shares are counted as present at the Annual Meeting if either the shareholder is present and votes during the Annual
Meeting, or has properly submitted a proxy by mail, by telephone, or by internet. To achieve a quorum and conduct
business at the Annual Meeting, a majority of our issued and
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outstanding Common Stock as of March 13, 2019, must be present and entitled to vote. If a quorum is not represented
at the Annual Meeting, the shareholders and proxies entitled to vote will have the power to adjourn the Annual
Meeting until a quorum is represented.

Q: How can I vote?
. If you submit your vote before the Annual Meeting using any of the following methods, your shares of Common
Stock will be voted as you have instructed:

By Internet: You can vote your shares at www.proxyvote.com. You may access this website 24 hours a
day, and voting is available through 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on Wednesday, May 8, 2019. You will
need your 12-digit control number that was included in the notice that was mailed to you. The voting
website has easy to follow instructions and allows you to confirm that the system has properly recorded
your votes. If you hold shares in street name, please follow the internet voting instruction in the notice
you received from your bank, broker, trustee, or other record holder.
By Telephone: You can vote your shares by telephone. To vote your shares by telephone, please go to
www.proxyvote.com and log in using the control number provided on your notice. At that site, you will
be provided with a telephone number for voting. Alternatively, if you request paper copies of the proxy
materials, your proxy card or voting instruction form will have a toll-free telephone number that you
may use to vote your shares. Telephone voting is available through 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on
Wednesday, May 8, 2019. When you vote by telephone, you will be required to enter your 12-digit
control number, so please have it available when you call. As with internet voting, you will be able to
confirm that the system has properly recorded your votes.
By Mail: If you choose to receive paper copies of the proxy materials by mail and you are a holder of
record, you can vote by marking, dating, and signing your proxy card and returning it by mail in the

*  postage-paid envelope provided to you. If you choose to receive paper copies of the proxy materials by

mail, and you hold your shares in street name, you can vote by completing and mailing the voting
instruction form provided by your bank, broker, trustee, or holder of record.

Your vote is important, and we encourage you to vote promptly. Internet and telephone voting are available through
11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on Wednesday, May 8, 2019, for all shares entitled to vote. The company will be hosting the
Annual Meeting virtually this year, which we believe allows C.H. Robinson to be more inclusive and reach a greater
number of our shareholders. To attend the virtual meeting please visit
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/CHRW2019 and be sure to have the control number provided to you on your
Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials or Proxy Card. If you are a beneficial shareholder (you hold your
shares through a nominee, such as a broker), your nominee can advise you whether you will be able to submit voting
instructions by telephone or via the internet. Submitting your proxy will not affect your right to vote in person, if you
decide to login with your control number and attend the Annual Meeting. Shareholders logging into the Annual
Meeting with their control number will receive the same rights and opportunities to participate in the Annual Meeting
as they would if the meeting was an in-person meeting, including having the ability to ask questions throughout the
meeting and having those questions answered during the meeting, to the extent they are related to the business being
conducted at the meeting. Shareholders logging in with their control number will be able to ask questions at any time
during the Annual Meeting. Relevant questions related to business being conducted at the Annual Meeting will be
answered following the adjournment of the Annual Meeting, and the company will prioritize questions that relate to
the proposals considered at the Annual Meeting. If a shareholder asks general questions about C.H. Robinson, the
company will respond to the shareholder after adjournment of the Annual Meeting. Shareholders can learn more
information about how to access the Annual Meeting by visiting www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/CHRW2019.

2 2019 Proxy Statement
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Q: What happens if I return my proxy without voting instructions?
A: If you do not return voting instructions with your proxy, your proxy will be voted:
*  FOR the election of the director nominees named in this Proxy Statement;
* FOR approval of the compensation of our named executive officers;
FOR the ratification of Deloitte & Touche LLP, the member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited,
* and their respective affiliates (collectively, Deloitte & Touche ) as our independent registered public
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019;
*  FOR the addition of Common Stock to the company’s equity incentive plan; and
*  AGAINST the shareholder proposal on the adoption of greenhouse gas emissions reduction targets.
Generally, a shareholder who does not vote in person or by proxy on a nominee or a proposal is not considered present
for determining whether the nominee is elected, or the proposal has been approved. Brokers cannot vote shares on
their customers’ behalf on non-routine proposals without receiving voting instructions from a customer but may vote
shares on routine proposals without such instructions. The only routine proposal among the five listed above is the
proposal to ratify the selection of Deloitte & Touche. If a broker does not receive voting instructions from its customer
with respect to the other non-routine proposals and is precluded from voting on those proposals, then a broker
non-vote occurs. If a broker returns a proxy indicating a lack of authority to vote on non-routine proposals, the shares
represented by the proxy will be deemed present at the meeting for purposes of determining a quorum, but not present
for purposes of calculating the vote on the non-routine proposals.

Q: What is the effect of an abstention or broker non-vote on each proposal?
Regarding the proposals involving the election of directors, the ratification of Deloitte & Touche, the addition of
our Common Stock to the company’s equity incentive plan, and the shareholder proposal:
If you abstain from voting on a nominee or a proposal, your shares will be considered present at the
Annual Meeting for purposes of determining a quorum and calculating the shares present and entitled to
vote on the nominee or the proposal and, accordingly, will have the same effect as a vote against the
nominee or proposal.
If you do not vote (or a broker non-vote occurs) on a nominee or a proposal, your shares will not be
* deemed present for the purposes of calculating the vote on that nominee or proposal and will generally
have no impact on determining whether the nominee is elected, or the proposal is approved.
Regarding the advisory proposal on the compensation of our named executive officers:

If you abstain or do not vote (or a broker non-vote occurs) on this proposal, the abstention or failure to
vote will not have any impact on the outcome of this proposal.
Q: What is the required vote on each matter?
Pursuant to our Bylaws, each of the proposals in this Proxy Statement (other than the advisory vote on the
compensation of our named executive officers) requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the
outstanding shares of Common Stock present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote,
provided that a quorum is present at the Annual Meeting. Regarding the advisory vote on the compensation of our
named executive officers, we will consider shareholders to have approved this proposal if the votes cast FOR the
proposal exceed the votes cast AGAINST the proposal.
2019 Proxy Statement 3
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Q: How do I revoke my proxy?
You may revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time before the voting closes at the Annual Meeting.
A: You may do this by submitting a properly executed proxy with a later date, or by delivering a written revocation
to the corporate secretary’s attention at the company’s address listed above, or during the Annual Meeting.
Shareholder Proposals and Other Matters

In November 2018, we received written notice of a shareholder proposal, and that shareholder proposal is described in
detail within this Proxy Statement. As of the date of this Proxy Statement, except for the shareholder proposal and the
other matters described in this Proxy Statement, neither the company nor the Board of Directors knows of any other
business that will be presented for consideration at the Annual Meeting. If any other matters are properly brought
before the Annual Meeting, the persons named in the proxy card will have discretionary authority to vote on such
matters and will vote according to their best judgment.

4 2019 Proxy Statement
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PROPOSAL ONE: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

There are ten nominees for election to the C.H. Robinson Board of Directors for a one-year term, nine of whom are
current directors. The Board of Directors has set the number of directors constituting the Board of Directors as of the
Annual Meeting at ten.

Scott P. Anderson, Wayne M. Fortun, Timothy C. Gokey, Mary J. Steele Guilfoile, Jodee A. Kozlak, Brian P. Short,
James B. Stake, Paula C. Tolliver, and John P. Wiehoff are directors whose terms expire at the 2019 Annual Meeting.
Robert C. Biesterfeld Jr. is a nominee for director at the 2019 Annual Meeting. On the recommendation of our
Governance Committee, the Board of Directors has nominated Ms. Guilfoile, Ms. Kozlak, and Ms. Tolliver and
Messrs. Anderson, Biesterfeld, Fortun, Gokey, Short, Stake, and Wiehoff for election to the Board of Directors at the
Annual Meeting for terms of one year each. Each has indicated a willingness to serve. Mr. Biesterfeld and Ms.
Tolliver are standing for election by the shareholders for the first time at the Annual Meeting. Ms. Tolliver was
identified as a potential candidate for the Board of Directors by a third-party search firm and appointed by the Board
of Directors on October 1, 2018. Mr. Biesterfeld, who will be assuming the role of chief executive officer of the
company on May 9, 2019, was nominated as a director by the Board of Directors in February 2019.

John P. Wiehoff and Ben G. Campbell will vote the proxies received by them for the election of Ms. Guilfoile, Ms.
Kozlak, and Ms. Tolliver and Messrs. Anderson, Biesterfeld, Fortun, Gokey, Short, Stake, and Wiehoff unless
otherwise directed. If any nominee becomes unavailable for election at the Annual Meeting, John P. Wiehoff and Ben
G. Campbell may vote for a substitute nominee at their discretion as recommended by the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors has determined that all the nominees, except for Robert C. Biesterfeld Jr. and John P. Wiehoff,

are independent under the current standards for independence established by the Nasdaq Stock Market, on which C.H.

Robinson s stock is listed under the symbol CHRW . In connection with its evaluation of director independence, the
Board of Directors considered the following transactions, all of which were entered into in the ordinary course of
business:

For Mr. Anderson, goods and services provided in the ordinary course of business by the company to

*  Patterson Companies, Inc., where Mr. Anderson was employed during 2018, and which were immaterial
to either companies’ revenues or operations in the last three fiscal years.
For Mr. Gokey, services provided in the ordinary course of business on behalf of the company by

*  Broadridge Financial Solutions where Mr. Gokey is employed, and which were immaterial to either
companies’ revenues or operations in the last three fiscal years.
For Mr. Short, services provided in the ordinary course of business by Admiral Merchants Motor
Freight, Inc. ( AMMEF ), an entity in which, together with a number of his family members, Mr. Short
holds a controlling interest. In 2018, AMMEF provided services to C.H. Robinson as a contracted motor

» carrier. In addition, we receive health plan administration services and health claim stop loss insurance
products from UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, of which Marianne D. Short, a sister of Mr. Short, was
the chief legal officer during 2018. The amounts paid to UnitedHealth Group for such services and
products were immaterial to either companies’ revenue or operations in the last three fiscal years.

2019 Proxy Statement 5
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PROPOSAL ONE: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board considered these relationships and their significance in determining that these directors are independent.
Information concerning the nominees is below.

Director and Nominee Biographies and Qualifications

Scott P. Anderson
(Director Nominee)

Robert C. Biesterfeld Jr.
(Nominee)

Scott P. Anderson, 52 years old, has been a director of the company since 2012. He is a
special advisor to Patterson Companies, Inc. (Nasdaq: PDCO). He served as president
and chief executive officer of Patterson Companies, Inc., from 2010 to 2017. In April
2013, he was elected to the additional responsibility of chairman of the board. Mr.
Anderson has worked with Patterson Companies since 1993. Prior to June 2006, when
he became president of Patterson Dental Supply, Inc., Mr. Anderson held senior
management positions in the dental unit, including vice president, sales, and vice
president, marketing. Mr. Anderson became one of the company’s directors in June
2010. Mr. Anderson is a past chairman of the Dental Trade Alliance. Mr. Anderson is a
trustee of Gustavus Adolphus College. He serves on the board of directors of the
Ordway Theater. Mr. Anderson earned his MBA from Northwestern University,
Kellogg School of Management and a Bachelor of Arts degree from Gustavus Adolphus
College.

Mr. Anderson has significant public company senior management and executive
experience through his service in several senior leadership positions at Patterson
Companies. He also has public company board experience, having served as a member
of Patterson’s board of directors since 2010. Mr. Anderson also brings substantial sales
and marketing expertise to the company, having served as Patterson’s vice president,
sales, and vice president, marketing. Mr. Anderson meets the definition of an Audit
Committee Financial Expert as established by the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Robert C. Biesterfeld, Jr., 43 years old, was named chief operating officer of C.H.
Robinson in February 2018 and will be assuming the role of chief executive officer of
C.H. Robinson on May 9, 2019. Prior to serving as chief operating officer, Mr.
Biesterfeld served as president of North American Surface Transportation from January
2016 to December 2018, vice president of North American Truckload from January
2014 to December 2015, and vice president of Temperature Controlled Transportation
and Sourcing Services from January 2013 to December 2014. Before his executive
roles, Mr. Biesterfeld was general manager of the West Sourcing region from 2003 to
2011. He began his career with C.H. Robinson in 1999 in the Corporate Procurement
and Distribution Services office. Mr. Biesterfeld serves on several industry and
non-profit boards and committees. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Winona
State University.

Mr. Biesterfeld has approximately 20 years of experience with C.H. Robinson,
including investor relations and executive experience as chief operating officer and
various other executive positions within the company. He has an extensive and

thorough understanding of C.H. Robinson’s operations and the transportation industry in
general.

6 2019 Proxy Statement
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PROPOSAL ONE: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Wayne M. Fortun
(Director Nominee)

Timothy C. Gokey
(Director Nominee)

Wayne M. Fortun, 70 years old, has been a director of C.H. Robinson since 2001. Mr.
Fortun joined Hutchinson Technology Inc., a global technology manufacturer, in 1975
and until 1983, he held various positions in engineering, marketing, and operations. In
1983, he was elected director, president, and chief operating officer of Hutchinson
Technology Inc., and in May 1996, he was appointed its chief executive officer. In
October 2012, he was appointed chairman of the board and retired as chief executive
officer. In October 2016, he retired as chairman of the board.

Through Mr. Fortun’s long tenure with Hutchinson, including as chief executive officer
and member of the board, he possesses significant leadership and strategic planning
skills. Because of Hutchinson’s worldwide footprint, Mr. Fortun has broad international
business experience relevant to the company’s operations. He also has public company
board experience through his membership on the boards of Hutchinson and G&K
Services, Inc.

Timothy C. Gokey, 57 years old, joined C.H. Robinson as a director in 2017. On
September 12, 2018, Mr. Gokey was named Broadridge Financial Solutions’ (NYSE:
BR) chief executive offer, effective January 2, 2019. At that time he was also appointed
to the Broadridge board of directors. Prior to the appointment he served as president and
chief operating officer. Mr. Gokey joined Broadridge Financial Solutions in 2010 as
chief corporate development officer. Mr. Gokey was promoted to corporate senior vice
president and chief operating officer in 2012. He was appointed to president of
Broadridge in September 2017. Prior to Broadridge, Mr. Gokey served as president,
Retail Tax for H&R Block (NYSE: HRB) and as a partner at McKinsey & Company.
Mr. Gokey earned a Doctorate in Finance and an undergraduate degree in Philosophy,
Politics, and Economics from the University of Oxford, where he studied as a Rhodes
Scholar. He is a graduate of Princeton University, where he earned a Bachelor of Arts in
Public Affairs and Management Engineering.

Through his service as president and chief operating officer of Broadridge Financial
Solutions, Mr. Gokey has developed exceptional leadership and execution skills and has
broad public company knowledge and expertise. He is also deeply involved in
Broadridge’s international operations and technology organization. In his prior roles
with Broadridge, as well as H&R Block and McKinsey & Company, Mr. Gokey has
demonstrated expertise in the areas of mergers and acquisitions, sales and marketing,
and other growth-related activities. Mr. Gokey meets the definition of an Audit
Committee Financial Expert as established by the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

2019 Proxy Statement 7
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PROPOSAL ONE: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Mary J. Steele Guilfoile
(Director Nominee)

Jodee A. Kozlak
(Director Nominee)

Mary J. Steele Guilfoile, 65 years old, joined C.H. Robinson as a director in 2012. Ms.
Guilfoile is chairman of MG Advisors, Inc., a privately owned financial services merger
and acquisition advisory and consulting services firm. Prior to joining MG Advisors in
2002, Ms. Guilfoile spent twelve years with JP Morgan Chase (NYSE: JPM) and its
predecessor companies, Chase Manhattan Corporation and Chemical Banking
Corporation, as executive vice president, corporate treasurer, and chief administrative
officer for its investment bank, and various merger integration, executive management
and strategic planning positions. Ms. Guilfoile currently serves on the boards of The
Interpublic Group of Companies (NYSE: IPG), where she is chairman of the audit
committee; Hudson, Ltd (NYSE: HUD), where she serves as chairman of the audit
committee; and Pitney Bowes Inc. (NYSE: PBI). Ms. Guilfoile earned her Master of
Business Administration from Columbia University Graduate School of Business, and a
Bachelor of Science degree from Boston College.

Ms. Guilfoile has significant experience and expertise in the areas of corporate mergers
and acquisitions, business integration, and financing through her association with the
investment banks of several large financial institutions. She also has public board
experience through her membership on the boards of Interpublic, Hudson, and Pitney
Bowes.

Jodee A. Kozlak, 56 years old, joined C.H. Robinson as a director in 2013. Ms. Kozlak
is the founder and chief executive officer of Kozlak Capital Partners, LLC, a private
consulting firm. Prior to this role, Ms. Kozlak served as the global senior vice president
of human resources of Alibaba Group (NYSE: BABA) from February 2016 to
November 2017. Prior to joining Alibaba Group, Ms. Kozlak was the executive vice
president and chief human resources officer of Target Corporation (NYSE: TGT) from
March 2007 until February 2016. Prior to joining Target in 2001, Kozlak was a partner
in the litigation practice of Greene Espel, PLLP, a Minnesota law firm. She also
previously served as a senior associate at Oppenheimer Wolff & Donnelly and a senior
auditor at Arthur Andersen & Co., both in Minneapolis. Ms. Kozlak serves as a board
member of Aspen Dental, and MGIC Investment Corp. (NYSE: MTG). She joined the
University of St. Thomas Board of Trustees in 2018, is past president of the board of
directors of The Guthrie Theater, a fellow of the Distinguished Careers Institute (DCI)
at Stanford University and a member of the Stanford Advisory Board on Longevity. She
received a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accounting from the College of St. Thomas and
earned her Juris Doctor degree from the University of Minnesota.

Through her human resources executive leadership at Target and Alibaba Group, Ms.
Kozlak has developed significant knowledge and expertise in human capital strategy,
global operations, and digital transformation. Her experience has also given her a deep
understanding of executive compensation within a public company.

2019 Proxy Statement
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PROPOSAL ONE: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Brian P. Short
(Director Nominee)

James B. Stake
(Director Nominee)

Brian P. Short, 69 years old, has been a director of the company since 2002. He is chief
executive officer of Leamington Co., a holding company with interests in
transportation, community banking, agricultural production, and real estate. Leamington
operates AMME, St. Paul Flight Center, Inc., First Farmers & Merchants Banks, and
Benson Parking Services, Inc. Mr. Short also serves as a legal mediator and previously
served as a United States Magistrate. His community service has included service on
the board of directors of Catholic Charities, St. Joseph’s Home for Children, Saint
Thomas Academy, Allina Hospitals and Clinics, and William Mitchell College of Law.
He also serves on the board of directors of the St. Francis Mission Foundation, the
Advisory Council to the Law School of the University of Notre Dame and the board of
governors of the Law School of the University of St. Thomas. Mr. Short has an
undergraduate degree in economics from the University of Notre Dame and is also a
graduate of its law school.

Mr. Short has significant executive experience and, in particular, has experience in the
trucking industry through his leadership position at Admiral Merchants Motor Freight, a
trucking and transportation services company. In addition, with Mr. Short’s legal
background and experience, he provides valuable insight into the company’s enterprise
risk management areas. Mr. Short meets the definition of an Audit Committee Financial
Expert as established by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

James B. Stake, 66 years old, joined C.H. Robinson as a director in 2009. Mr. Stake
retired from 3M Company (NYSE: MMM) in 2008, serving most recently as executive
vice president of 3M’s Enterprise Services. He served in a variety of leadership positions
at 3M Company, leading global health care, industrial, and commercial businesses
ranging in size from $100 million to over $3 billion. During his career he served over
12 years of foreign assignments in Europe and South America. In addition to his career
at 3M Company, Mr. Stake serves as a board member and chairs the compensation
committee for Otter Tail Corporation (Nasdaq: OTTR), is chairman of the board for
Ativa Medical Corp., and has taught as an adjunct professor at the University of
Minnesota’s Carlson School of Management. Mr. Stake holds a Bachelor of Science in
Chemical Engineering from Purdue University and a Master of Business Administration
from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania.

Throughout his career at 3M Company, Mr. Stake gained extensive public company
senior management experience at a large company that operates worldwide. In

particular, Mr. Stake’s foreign leadership positions and his position with Enterprise
Services, a shared services organization, provide valuable perspective for 3M

Company’s international operations and its information technology systems. Mr. Stake
also has prior public company board experience with Otter Tail. Mr. Stake meets the
definition of an Audit Committee Financial Expert as established by the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

2019 Proxy Statement 9
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PROPOSAL ONE: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Paula C. Tolliver
(Director Nominee)

John P. Wiehoff
(Director Nominee)

Paula C. Tolliver, 54 years old, joined C.H. Robinson as a director in 2018. Ms.
Tolliver currently serves as corporate vice president and chief information officer at
Intel Corporation (Nasdaq: INTC). Prior to joining Intel in 2016, Ms. Tolliver served as
corporate vice president of Business Services and chief information officer at the Dow
Chemical Company (NYSE: DWDP) from 2012 to 2016. Ms. Tolliver also led a
services business for Dow Chemical, in addition to holding a variety of other roles in
her 20 plus years with the company. She earned a Bachelor’s degree in Business
Information Systems and Computer Science from Ohio University.

Ms. Tolliver has significant experience and expertise in the areas of information
technology and innovation. She also has demonstrated the ability to successfully lead a
service business. Ms. Tolliver meets the definition of an Audit Committee Financial
Expert as established by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

John P. Wiehoff, 57 years old, has been chief executive officer of C.H. Robinson since
May 2002, president of the company since December 1999, a director since 2001, and
became the chairman in January 2007. As of May 9, 2019, Mr. Wiehoff will assume the
role of executive chairman and no longer serve as chief executive officer. Previous
positions with the company include senior vice president from October 1998, chief
financial officer from July 1998 to December 1999, treasurer from August 1997 to June
1998, and corporate controller from 1992 to June 1998. Prior to that, Mr. Wiehoff was
employed by Arthur Andersen LLP. Mr. Wiehoff also serves on the board of directors
of Polaris Industries Inc. (NYSE: PII) and Donaldson Company, Inc. (NYSE: DCI). He
holds a Bachelor of Science degree from St. John’s University.

Mr. Wiehoff has more than 27 years of experience with the company, including as its
chief financial officer and as chief executive officer since 2002. He has deep and direct
knowledge of the company’s business and operations. He also has significant public
company board experience with Polaris and Donaldson.

BOARD VOTING RECOMMENDATION

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the election of Scott P. Anderson, Robert C.
Biesterfeld Jr., Wayne M. Fortun, Timothy C. Gokey, Mary J. Steele Guilfoile, Jodee A. Kozlak,
Brian P. Short, James B. Stake, Paula C. Tolliver, and John P. Wiehoff as directors of

10

C.H. Robinson Worldwide, Inc.

2019 Proxy Statement

14



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A
PROPOSAL ONE: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS GOVERNANCE MATTERS

The Board of Directors (or the Board ) has a policy that all directors and nominees nominated for election at the
Annual Meeting are expected to attend the Annual Meeting. In 2018, all of the director nominees attended the Annual
Meeting.

During 2018, the Board of Directors held seven meetings. Each director holding office during the year attended at
least 75 percent of the aggregate of the meetings of the Board of Directors (held during the period for which he or she
had been a director) and the meetings of the Committees of the Board on which he or she served (held during the
period for which he or she served on a committee) except Mr. Gokey, who attended 72 percent of the meetings. Mr.
Gokey s attendance was temporarily impacted by his professional obligations associated with his recent appointment
as chief executive officer of Broadridge Financial Solutions. The Chair of the Governance Committee discussed these
matters with Mr. Gokey and received assurances that Mr. Gokey s attendance will not be impacted going forward.

Our Board of Directors has three committees: the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, and the
Governance Committee. Currently, members and chairs of these committees are:

Independent Directors Audit Compensation Governance
Scott P. Anderson X Chair
Wayne M. Fortun Chair X
Timothy C. Gokey X X
Mary J. Steele Guilfoile X X
Jodee A. Kozlak X
Brian P. Short X
James B. Stake Chair X
Paula C. Tolliver X X

Board Leadership Structure

Our Board of Directors is led by John P. Wiehoff, who has been our president since 1999 and our chief executive
officer since 2002. Mr. Wiehoff joined the Board of Directors in 2001 and was appointed chairman of the board in
2007. Mr. Wiehoff, who is resigning as chief executive officer of C.H. Robinson effective May 9, 2019, will continue
to serve as executive chairman of the board. The Board has determined that Mr. Wiehoff s continued service as
executive chairman will allow him to utilize his Board leadership experience during the time of chief executive officer
transition.

In 2019, the Board amended our Corporate Governance Guidelines to provide that the Board will appoint a lead
independent director any time that the chairman of the board is not independent, and it describes the duties of the lead
independent director. The Board appointed Scott P. Anderson to serve as lead independent director beginning in May
2019. Mr. Anderson currently serves as the Chair of the Governance Committee.

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines provide that the chairman, in consultation with other Board members, sets the
agenda for regular meetings of the Board, and the chair of each committee is responsible for the agendas for the
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meetings of the applicable committee. Directors and committee members are encouraged to suggest agenda items and
may raise other matters at meetings.

We believe that our leadership structure supports the Board s risk oversight function. Strong independent directors
with significant tenure on the Board chair the committees most directly involved in the risk oversight function, there is

open communication between management and the Board, and all directors are involved in the risk oversight function.

2019 Proxy Statement 11
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Risk Oversight

The Board is actively involved in the oversight of risks that could affect the company. This oversight is conducted
primarily through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee Charter establishes that one of the responsibilities of
the Audit Committee is to review the risk management of the company on an annual basis. To assist it in this
oversight function, the vice president of risk of the company presents a risk management update at each of the
quarterly Audit Committee meetings. In addition, our management and internal audit department conduct an annual
enterprise risk assessment of the company, which includes interviews of various key personnel within the company
and members of the Audit Committee. The results of the annual risk assessment are presented to the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee provides periodic risk assessment updates to the Board and solicits input from the Board
regarding the company s risk management practices. In addition, the Compensation Committee periodically reviews
the company s compensation programs to ensure that they do not encourage excessive risk-taking. Additional review
or reports on enterprise risks are conducted as needed by the Board or the committees.

The Audit Committee

All our Audit Committee members are independent under applicable Nasdaq listing standards and Securities and
Exchange Commission rules and regulations. Our Board of Directors has determined that all five members of the

Audit Committee, Messrs. Anderson, Gokey, Short, Stake, and Ms. Tolliver, meet the definition of an Audit
Committee Financial Expert as established by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Audit Committee assists
the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to the quality and integrity of the financial
reports of the company. The Audit Committee has the sole authority to appoint, review, and discharge our

independent auditors, and has established procedures for the receipt, retention, and response to complaints regarding
accounting, internal controls, or audit matters. In addition, among other responsibilities in the Audit Committee
Charter, the Audit Committee is responsible for:

Reviewing the scope, results, timing, and costs of the audit with the company’s independent auditors and
reviewing the results of the annual audit examination;
Assessing the independence of the outside auditors on an annual basis, including receipt and review of a
(2) written report from the independent auditors regarding their independence consistent with applicable
rules of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board;
(3) Reviewing and approving in advance the services provided by the independent auditors;
(4) Overseeing the internal audit function;
5) Reviewing the company’s significant accounting policies, financial results, and earnings releases and the
adequacy of our internal controls and procedures;
(6) Reviewing the risk management status of the company; and
(7) Reviewing and approving related-party transactions.
The Audit Committee held eight meetings during 2018. The Audit Committee has engaged Deloitte & Touche LLP as
the independent auditor for fiscal year 2019 and is recommending that the company’s shareholders ratify this
appointment at the Annual Meeting. The report of the Audit Committee is found on page 42 of this Proxy Statement.

ey
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The Compensation Committee

All our Compensation Committee members are independent under applicable Nasdaq listing standards and Internal
Revenue Service and Securities and Exchange Commission rules and regulations. The Compensation Committee has
oversight responsibilities relating to executive compensation, employee compensation and benefits programs and
plans, and leadership development. In addition, among other responsibilities in the Compensation Committee Charter,
the Compensation Committee is responsible for:

(1) Reviewing the performance of the chief executive officer;

@) Determining all elements of the compensation and benefits for the chief executive officer and other
executive officers of the company;

Reviewing and approving the company’s compensation program, including equity-based plans, for

management employees generally;

Overseeing the company’s process of conducting advisory shareholder votes on executive compensation;

and

5) Reviewing executive officers’ employment agreements; separation and severance agreements; change in

control agreements; and other compensatory contracts, arrangements, and benefits.

The Compensation Committee held five meetings during 2018. See 2018 Compensation Discussion and Analysis

beginning on page 17 including Section VI, Compensation Process, beginning on page 23. for a discussion of the role

played by our chief executive officer in compensation decisions. The Compensation Committee report on executive

compensation is found on page 37 of this Proxy Statement.

3)
“)

The Governance Committee

All members of our Governance Committee are independent under applicable Nasdaq listing standards. The
Governance Committee serves in an advisory capacity to the Board of Directors on matters of organization and the
conduct of Board activities. Among other responsibilities in the Governance Committee Charter, the Governance
Committee is responsible for:

1) Periodically reviewing and making recommendations to the Board as to the size and composition of the
Board and criteria for director nominees;

(2) Identifying and recommending candidates for service on the Board;

3) Reviewing and revising the company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, including recommending any
necessary changes to the Corporate Governance Guidelines to the Board;

(4) Leading the Board in an annual review of the performance of the Board and the Board committees;

(5) Making recommendations to the Board regarding Board committee assignments;

©) Mak‘ing recommendations to the Board on whether each director is independent under all applicable
requirements;

(7) Making recommendations to the Board with respect to the compensation of non-employee directors;

) Periodically reviewing with the company’s chief legal officer developments that may have a material
impact on the company’s corporate governance programs, including related compliance policies; and

Periodically reviewing the company’s policies, practices, and disclosures with respect to significant

(9) issues of corporate responsibility including the alignment of such efforts with the company’s overall

strategy.

2019 Proxy Statement 13
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The Governance Committee considers Board of Director nominees recommended by shareholders. The process for
receiving and evaluating these nominations from shareholders is described below under the caption Nominations.

The Governance Committee held three meetings during 2018.

The charters for each of the Committees of the Board of Directors, our Corporate Governance Guidelines, and our
company s Code of Ethics, which are all a part of our Corporate Compliance Program, are posted under the
Governance section of the Investors page of our website at www.chrobinson.com.

Shareholder Communications with Board

C.H. Robinson shareholders and other interested parties may send written communications to the Board of Directors
or to any individual director by mailing it to C.H. Robinson Worldwide, Inc., Board of Directors, c/o C.H. Robinson
corporate secretary, 14701 Charlson Road, Suite 1200, Eden Prairie, MN 55347. These communications will be
compiled by the corporate secretary and periodically submitted to the Board or individual director.

Nominations

The Governance Committee considers director nominee recommendations from a wide variety of sources, including
members of the Board of Directors, business contacts, community leaders, and members of management. The
Governance Committee will also consider shareholder recommendations for director nominees using the same
selection criteria and qualifications as nominees identified by other sources, as described below. The Governance
Committee may also engage search firms to assist in the director recruitment process.

The Governance Committee determines the selection criteria and qualifications of director nominees based upon the
needs of the company. The Board of Directors believes that the directors should possess the highest personal and
professional ethics and integrity and be committed to representing the long-term interests of the company s
shareholders. Preferred qualifications also include current or recent experience as a chief executive officer or expertise
in a particular business discipline. Directors should be able to provide insights and practical wisdom based on their
experience and expertise. While the company does not have a policy regarding the consideration of diversity in
identifying director nominees, the company s Corporate Governance Guidelines provide, and the Governance
Committee believes, that creating a board with a diversity of talent, experience, accomplishments, and perspectives is
in the best interests of the company and our shareholders. The company is committed to considering candidates for the
Board, regardless of gender, ethnicity, and national origin. Any search firm retained to assist the Governance
Committee in seeking director candidates will be instructed to consider these commitments.

Shareholders who would like to directly nominate a director candidate must give written notice to the company s
corporate secretary, either by personal delivery or by United States mail, at the following address: 14701 Charlson
Road, Eden Prairie, MN 55347. The shareholder s notice must be received by the corporate secretary no later than (a)
90 days before the anniversary date of the previous year s Annual Meeting or (b) the close of business on the tenth day
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following the date on which notice of a special meeting of shareholders for election of directors is first given to
shareholders. For each proposed nominee, the shareholder s notice must comply with and include all information that
is required to be disclosed under our Bylaws, any applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules and
regulations, and any applicable laws. The written notice must also include a written consent of the proposed nominee,
agreeing to stand for election if nominated by the Governance Committee, and to serve as a director if appointed by
the Board of Directors. The shareholder s notice must also include:

(1) The name and address of the shareholder making the nomination;
(2) The number of C.H. Robinson shares entitled to vote at the meeting held by the shareholder;

14 2019 Proxy Statement
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A representation that the shareholder is a holder of record of C.H. Robinson Common Stock entitled to
(3) vote at the meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person
named in the notice; and
(4) A description of all arrangements or understandings between the shareholder and each nominee.
The Governance Committee initially evaluates a prospective nominee based on his or her resume and other
background information that has been provided to the committee. A member of the committee will contact for further
review those candidates whom the committee believes are qualified, who may fulfill a specific need of the Board of
Directors, and who would otherwise best contribute to the Board of Directors. Based on the information the
Governance Committee learns during this process, it determines which nominee(s) to recommend to the Board of
Directors to submit for election. The Governance Committee uses the same process for evaluating all nominees,
regardless of the source of the nomination.

No candidates for director nominations were submitted to the Governance Committee by any shareholder for the 2019
Annual Meeting. Any shareholder interested in presenting a nomination for consideration by the Governance
Committee prior to the 2020 Annual Meeting should do so as early as possible, to provide adequate time to consider
the nominee and comply with our Bylaws.

Compensation of Directors

In 2018, each independent director of C.H. Robinson was paid an annual retainer of $90,000 and no meeting fees. The
Audit Committee chair received an additional annual retainer of $30,000, and the chairs of the Governance and
Compensation Committees each received an additional annual retainer of $20,000. Other members of the Audit
Committee received an additional annual retainer of $12,500, and other members of the Governance and
Compensation Committees received additional annual retainers of $7,500. Retainers are paid in quarterly installments,
at the end of each calendar quarter. Before the retainers are earned, the directors may elect to receive all or a portion of
their retainers in cash, stock, or restricted stock units that are immediately vested and are payable to the directors after
their service on the Board of Directors has ended.

Directors are required to own a minimum of five times their annual Board retainer in company stock no later than five
years after joining the Board of Directors. We base the stock ownership requirements on all shares of company stock
deemed owned by a director, which includes vested stock options, vested and unvested restricted stock units, and
stock beneficially owned by the director, including owned in a trust, by a spouse, or by dependent children for our
directors.

In 2018, the Board of Directors granted each director a fully vested restricted stock unit award valued at $135,000,
deliverable after leaving the Board of Directors. C.H. Robinson also reimburses non-employee directors for
reasonable expenses incurred in attending Board of Directors meetings and for expenses incurred in obtaining
continuing education related to service on our Board of Directors. Directors who are also employees of C.H. Robinson
are not separately compensated for being a member of the Board of Directors.

2019 Proxy Statement 15
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2018 Director Compensation Table

Aggregate
Number of
Shares
Fees Earned Qutstanding
or Paid in Stock as of
Name Cash Awards™® Total December 31, 20182
Scott P. Anderson $ 122,500 $ 135,000 $ 257,500 #16,732
Wayne M. Fortun 117,500 135,000 252,500 38,149
Timothy C. Gokey 110,000 © 135,000 245,000 3,380
Mary J. Steele Guilfoile 105,000 135,000 240,000 11,546
Jodee A. Kozlak 105,000 © 135,000 240,000 12,473
Brian P. Short 110,000 © 135,000 245,000 57,163
James B. Stake 127,500 © 135,000 262,500 18,908
Paula C. Tolliver() 22,500 © 33,750 56,250 668

The dollar value reflected in this column was awarded as fully vested restricted stock units of the company.
(1) Shares equal to the number of restricted stock units will be distributed to the director after his or her board
membership terminates.
(2) Includes fully vested restricted stock units and directly owned shares.
The director has elected to receive the dollar value of these fees in restricted stock units of the company. Shares
equal to the number of restricted stock units will be distributed after termination of board membership.
The director has elected to receive one half of her board retainer in fully taxable unrestricted shares of company
stock and the balance of her board and committee retainers in cash for the first half of 2018.
The director has elected to receive one half of the dollar value of these fees in restricted stock units of
(5) the company and the balance of her fees in cash for the first quarter of 2018. Shares equal to the number
of restricted stock units will be distributed after termination of board membership.
The director has elected to receive one half of the dollar value of these fees in restricted stock units of the
(6) company and the balance of his fees paid in cash for 2018. Shares equal to the number of restricted stock units
will be distributed after termination of board membership.
(7) Ms. Tolliver was elected as a director of the company on October 1, 2018.
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

3)
)

The members of the Compensation Committee are Wayne M. Fortun, Timothy C. Gokey, Mary J. Steele Guilfoile,
Jodee A. Kozlak, James B. Stake, and Paula C. Tolliver. The Compensation Committee members have no interlocking
relationships requiring disclosure and are deemed independent under the rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
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22



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A
2018 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

2018 Compensation Discussion and Analysis The following Compensation Discussion & Analysis ( CD&A )
describes the background, objectives, and structure of our executive compensation programs. This CD&A is intended
to be read in conjunction with the tables beginning on pages 27 and 32. which provide further historical compensation
information for the following Named Executive Officers ( NEOs ):

e John P. Wiehoff, Chief Executive Officer
e Andrew C. Clarke, Chief Financial Officer
Robert C. Biesterfeld Jr., Chief Operating Officer and President of North America Surface
Transportation ( NAST )
*  Christopher J. O’Brien, Chief Commercial Officer
*  Michael J. Short, President of Global Freight Forwarding
I. Executive Summary

Key Compensation Philosophy and Structure

We believe our compensation philosophy and design are well aligned with the interests of our shareholders, as well as
our performance culture, growth strategy, and desire to attract and retain high-quality executives.

We:

*  Pay for performance;

*  Reward profitable long-term growth; and

*  Align the interests of management with our shareholders.
The company reviews general industry survey data prepared by an independent compensation consultant to assess
market competitiveness of the components of NEO compensation, including the appropriate mix of cash and equity.
The company also relies on broader survey data to assess market competitiveness of executive compensation
components. Internal equity is an important and necessary consideration in valuing executive positions. Individual pay
decisions are made based on a variety of factors, such as company, business unit, and individual performance; scope
and complexity of responsibility; critical needs and skills; leadership potential; and succession planning.

Compensation component considerations are as follows:

Base salaries: Base salaries are market-based, generally reflecting the 25th-50th percentile of our
defined market for talent.

*  Annual incentive compensation: Annual incentive compensation for 2018 was based on the following:
For our CEOQ, the annual incentive was 125 percent of base salary at target and was based on
enterprise adjusted pre-tax income (  APTI ). APTI is defined as pre-tax income, adjusted to
exclude executive bonuses and unusual or extraordinary items. The APTI calculation is
approved by our Compensation Committee.

For operating executive officers, the annual incentive varied from 33 percent to 100 percent of
*  Dbase salary at target and is tied to the APTI of the business division and/or region of
responsibility for the executive.

For administrative executive officers, the annual incentive at target varied between 60 percent
and 70 percent of base salary and is based on enterprise APTI.
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Mr. Biesterfeld began 2018 as the company’s president of NAST and was appointed to chief operating officer as
of March 1, 2018.
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The maximum annual incentive that may be paid is two times the executive’s planned annual
incentive at target.

Threshold and maximum performance goals for NEOs were set at 70 percent and 120 percent
of the relevant APTI targets, respectively.

Equity compensation: Our restricted stock awards are performance-based. Beginning with grants issued
in 2015, incentive stock options vest ratably over five years. We believe options are an inherently
performance-based instrument because stock price appreciation must occur for the value to be delivered.
Time-based vesting allows flexibility and liquidity for our executives not present in our
performance-based share awards. It is also more consistent with market-based practices and therefore,
supports our philosophy of providing compensation that is necessary to attract, retain, and motivate
high-quality executives.

Equity compensation is approximately 51 percent of the value of target total compensation (salary plus target annual
incentive plus grant date fair value of equity awards) for our executives, and 64 percent of target total compensation
for our CEO. Because equity compensation is a significant component, it is important that our equity compensation
instruments are consistent with market practices and viewed as competitive for top executive talent.

18

Mix of fixed and variable compensation: The mix of pay between fixed and variable compensation, and
the portion of variable compensation linked to performance vesting and the value of company common
stock, are consistent with our philosophy of strong linkage between pay and performance. It also puts a
substantial percentage of our executives’ compensation at risk. As reflected in the following charts, 84
percent of Mr. Wiehoff’s 2018 target total compensation was variable or at-risk, and 72 percent of the
2018 target compensation for our other NEOs was variable or at-risk.

Stock ownership guidelines: To ensure alignment with our shareholders, the Compensation Committee
has established stock ownership guidelines for our executive officers. The Compensation Committee
believes that linking a significant portion of the executive officer’s personal holdings to the company’s
success aligns our executive interests with that of our shareholders. Therefore, executive officers are
expected to acquire and hold a significant amount of C.H. Robinson stock. The Compensation
Committee has established stock ownership guidelines for our executive officers based on all shares of
company stock deemed owned by an executive officer, which includes vested stock options, stock held
in the company 401(k) plan, vested and unvested performance shares and restricted stock units. It also
includes stock beneficially owned by the officer, including owned in a trust, by a spouse, or by
dependent children. Equity ownership guidelines for executive officers are as follows:

*  CEOQO: Six times base salary

e Other NEOs: Three times base salary

2019 Proxy Statement
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*  Other direct reports to the CEO and COO: Three times base salary
It is expected that new or recently promoted members of the executive team will achieve the appropriate level of
ownership within five years of their appointment.

2018 Performance Highlights and Incentive Payouts

In 2018, we achieved record performance results through the strength of our people and our global platform. Our
focus on providing exceptional service to our customers and service providers; leveraging our technology and data;
and having highly talented, high-performing people in the industry enabled us to continue to win in the marketplace.
Our strong business results translated into above-target incentive payouts under our annual cash incentive plan for
four of our NEOs and increased vesting in our performance-based equity awards.

Our enterprise APTI, which is the measure we used to determine annual non-equity incentive payments for three of
our NEOs in 2018, finished 14 percent above target in 2018.

NAST APTI finished at 17 percent above target in 2018 driven by strong net revenue growth from all service lines.
Net revenue growth was primarily driven by increased pricing to our customers, mostly notably in truckload and less
than truckload ( LTL ) services but was partially offset by a decrease in truckload volumes. NAST APTI is one of the
performance measures for one of our 2018 NEOs.

Global Forwarding APTI finished at four percent below target in 2018 driven by strategic investments in our people
and processes. These investments included an increase in personnel expense due to higher average headcount and
increased expenditures related to technology, occupancy, and purchased services, including those from acquisitions.
These increases were partially offset by an increase in net revenues. Net revenue growth was driven by increased
volumes in all services and increased customer pricing in ocean and air services. Global Forwarding APTI was the
annual incentive compensation performance measure for one of our 2018 NEOs.

Say On Pay

The Compensation Committee also considers the results of the shareholders advisory vote on the compensation of
NEOs. At our 2018 and 2017 Annual Meetings, our say-on-pay proposals received for votes that represented
approximately 88 percent and 90 percent, respectively, of the shares voted on the proposals. The Compensation
Committee considered the results of these say-on-pay votes and other shareholder feedback when evaluating our
compensation practices and policies in 2018, and when setting the compensation of our NEOs for 2018. The
Compensation Committee believes that our say-on-pay proposal results demonstrate shareholders support of our
compensation practices.

II. Compensation Philosophy

Performance-based compensation and alignment of individual, company, and shareholder goals are integral
components of C.H. Robinson s company culture and management approach. Within our office network, a significant
portion of the cash compensation of our managers is based on the growth and profitability of their office. Performance
based compensation makes up a significant portion of our employees total compensation package. In addition,
approximately 2,500 employees, or over 16.4 percent of our total employees, hold equity they received through our
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current equity incentive plan.

C.H. Robinson, with guidance and oversight from our Compensation Committee, has adopted an executive officer
compensation philosophy that is intended to be consistent with our overall compensation approach and to achieve the
following basic goals:

(1) Provide a level of total compensation necessary to attract, retain, and motivate high quality executives;

(2) Pay incentive compensation aligned with company earnings growth at various levels;
2019 Proxy Statement 19
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(3) Emphasize both team and company performance;

(4) Balance incentive compensation to achieve both short-term and long-term profitability and growth; and

(5) Encourage executives to make long-term career commitments to C.H. Robinson and our shareholders.
Compensation decisions regarding individual executive officers are based on several factors, including individual
performance, level of responsibility, unique skills of the executive, tenure, and demands of the position.

III. Key Compensation Practices

Our compensation framework and pay-for-performance practices provide appropriate incentives to our executive
officers to achieve our financial goals and better align our executives with our shareholders interests.

What We Do What We Don’t Do
Executive compensation and incentive payouts are No guaranteed bonuses
subject to the approval of our independent Compensation
Committee
Pay opportunity is competitive with the 25th-50th No supplemental pension or executive retirement plan
percentile of general market data of similarly-sized (SERP) benefits

companies. Performance determines a majority of actual
earned pay and can be above or below the pay
opportunity

A significant portion of pay is at risk and performance  No repricing of underwater options or stock appreciation
based rights without shareholder approval

Annual incentive compensation performance metrics are No hedging or pledging of company shares
directly tied to the driver of shareholder value (APTI)

Appropriate caps on incentive plan payouts No discounted option or SAR grants

Performance based restricted stock and stock option No executive only severance plan
grants to create alignment with shareholders

Executives are subject to robust stock ownership
guidelines and a minimum of a two-year post-vest
holding requirement on all performance shares

Equity compensation subject to forfeiture and claw-back
if executive violates company employment agreements

Our Compensation Committee is comprised entirely of
independent directors

Our Compensation Committee engages an independent
consultant

Our Compensation Committee regularly meets in
executive session without management present
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IV. Elements of Executive Compensation

Base Salary

Annual base salary is designed to compensate our executive officers as part of a total compensation package necessary
to attract, retain, and motivate high quality executives. Our 2018 base salaries generally reflect the 25th to 50th
percentile of our defined market for talent. Salary levels in 2018 remain unchanged from 2017, other than for Mr.
Biesterfeld who was promoted to chief operating officer in 2018 and took on additional responsibilities in that
position.

Base salaries are reviewed annually. The Salary column of the Summary Compensation Table on page 32 contains the
annual base salary earned for 2018 for each of the NEOs.

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation ( annual incentive compensation )

The primary objectives of our annual non-equity incentive plan compensation ( annual incentive compensation ) are to
motivate our people to grow our company profits and align pay with annual company performance.

The Compensation Committee approves an individualized incentive compensation plan for each NEO in the first
quarter of the calendar year. NEO annual incentive compensation amounts are set as a percentage of their base salary,
to reflect the executive s responsibilities, performance, and contribution to overall company goals. The financial
measure used to determine incentive compensation is APTI.

Each year, the Compensation Committee establishes target APTI growth for the enterprise and the divisions at levels
that are consistent with the company s expected results. Given the transactional nature of a significant portion of our
business and our fluctuating net revenue margins due to market conditions, historically, the company has found it
difficult to forecast short-term performance. As such, we believe it is important to align targets more closely with our
long-term growth goals, with some consideration given to shorter-term market trends and divisional business plans.
Our annual targets should not vary significantly year to year, except under unusual circumstances.

The threshold, target, and maximum levels of APTI growth are set each year with the following objectives:

»  The relative difficulty of achieving each level is consistent from year to year;

The target level is challenging but achievable and reflects planned company performance. The
performance ranges within which threshold and maximum incentive payouts can be earned are
generally consistent with the range of financial results within which performance is expected to

occur; and

A threshold payment is made to reward partial achievement of the target, and a maximum payment
rewards attainment of an aggressive, but potentially achievable, level of performance.

For performance between threshold and target or target and maximum, the achievement percentage is determined by
linear interpolation. The performance range for the annual incentive compensation target for NEOs ranges from 70
percent of target at threshold and 120 percent of target at maximum. The NEO annual incentive compensation plan is
capped at two times the target opportunity.
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2018 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

In 2018, the Compensation Committee established these APTI targets based on the expectation that our stated
long-term diluted earnings per share growth rate for the company would be in the range of 7 to 12 percent. The
Compensation Committee certified the following actual performance levels and percentage of target payout for each
of the NEOs.

2018 NEO Annual Incentive Compensation Metrics Target Actual
Enterprise APTI growth() 7 % 21 %
North America Surface Transportation APTI growth® 7 % 24 %
Global Forwarding APTI growth® 10 % 6 %
1,056.2

Services

49.1

34.6

27.7

33.4

38.1
Depreciation, amortization and accretion

2,110.8

1,715.9

1,525.6

1,285.3

1,003.8
Selling, general, administrative and development expense

733.2
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637.0

5434

497.8

446.5
Other operating expenses

513.3

256.0

73.3

66.8

68.5
Total operating expenses

5,535.1

4,665.5

3,932.7

3,158.7

2,613.1
Operating income

1,905.0

1,998.4
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1,853.0

1,612.8

1,486.9
Interest (expense) income, TV Azteca, net

0.1
)

10.8

10.9

11.2

10.5
Interest income

54.7

354

25.6

16.5

14.0
Interest expense

(825.5
)

(749.6
)

(717.1
)
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(595.9
)

(580.2
)

(Loss) gain on retirement of long-term obligations

33
)

(70.2
)

1.2

(79.6
)

3.5
)

Other income (expense) (1)

23.8

31.3

47.7
)

(135.0
)

(62.0
)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes

1,154.6

1,256.1

1,125.9

830.0
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865.7
Income tax benefit (provision)

110.1

(30.7
)

(155.5
)

(158.0
)

(62.5
)

Net income

1,264.7

1,2254

970.4

672.0

803.2
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

(28.3
)

13.5
(14.0
)

13.1

21.7
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Net income attributable to American Tower Corporation stockholders

1,236.4

1,238.9

956.4

685.1

824.9
Dividends on preferred stock

9.4
)

(874
)

(107.1
)

(90.2
)

(239
)

Net income attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders

$
1,227.0

1,151.5

849.3

594.9
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801.0

Net income per common share amounts:

Basic net income attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders

$
2.79

2.69

2.00

1.42

$
2.02

Diluted net income attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders

$
277

2.67

1.98

1.41
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$
2.00

Weighted average common shares outstanding (in thousands):

Basic

439,606

428,181

425,143

418,907

395,958
Diluted

442,960

431,688

429,283

423,015

400,086
Distribution declared per common share

$
3.15
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2.62

2.17

1.81

$
1.40

Distribution declared per preferred share, Series A

$

2.63

5.25

3.94

$
3.98

Distribution declared per preferred share, Series B

$
13.75

55.00

55.00
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As of December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 (2)
(In millions)

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash) (3) $1,304.9 $954.9 $936.5 $462.9 $473.7

Property and equipment, net 11,247.1 11,101.0 10,517.3 9,866.4 7,590.1
Total assets 33,010.4 33,214.3 30,879.2 26,904.3 21,263.6
Long-term obligations, including current portion 21,159.9 20,205.1 18,533.5 17,119.0 14,540.3
Redeemable noncontrolling interest 1,004.8 1,126.2 1,091.3 — —
Total American Tower Corporation equity 5,336.1 6,241.5 6,763.9 6,651.7 3,953.6

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014, amount includes foreign currency (losses)
gains of ($4.5) million, $26.4 million, ($48.9) million, ($134.7) million and ($63.2) million, respectively.
Balances have been revised to reflect debt issuance cost adjustments and purchase accounting measurement period
adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2014.

As of December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014, amount includes $96.2 million, $152.8 million, $149.3

(3) million, $142.2 million and $160.2 million, respectively, of restricted funds pledged as collateral to secure
obligations and cash, the use of which is otherwise limited by contractual provisions.

ey
2

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
ITEM 7.

OPERATIONS
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations that follow are based upon our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of our
financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our
financial statements. Actual results may differ from these estimates and such differences could be material to the
financial statements. This discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements
included in this Annual Report and the accompanying notes, and the information set forth under the caption “Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates” below.

We report our results in five segments: U.S. property, Asia property, EMEA property, Latin America property and
services. In evaluating financial performance in each business segment, management uses, among other factors,
segment gross margin and segment operating profit (see note 20 to our consolidated financial statements included in
this Annual Report).

Executive Overview

We are one of the largest global REITs and a leading independent owner, operator and developer of multitenant
communications real estate. Our primary business is the leasing of space on communications sites to wireless service
providers, radio and television broadcast companies, wireless data providers, government agencies and municipalities
and tenants in a number of other industries. In addition to the communications sites in our portfolio, we manage
rooftop and tower sites for property owners under various contractual arrangements. We also hold other
telecommunications infrastructure, fiber and property interests that we lease primarily to communications service
providers and third-party tower operators. We refer to this business as our property operations, which accounted for
98% of our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018 and includes our U.S. property segment, Asia
property segment, EMEA property segment and Latin America property segment.

We also offer tower-related services in the United States, including site acquisition, zoning and permitting and
structural analysis, which primarily support our site leasing business, including the addition of new tenants and
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equipment on our sites.
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The following table details the number of communications sites, excluding managed sites, that we owned or operated
as of December 31, 2018:

Number of Number of
Operated Owned
Towers (1) DAS Sites

Number of
Owned Towers

Domestic:

United States 24,454 15,905 398
Asia:

India 74,804 — 1,068
EMEA.:

France 2,186 309 9
Germany 2,208 — —
Ghana 2,279 — 24
Kenya 715

Nigeria 4,760 — —
South Africa (2) 2,652 — —
Uganda 1,523 — —
EMEA total 16,323 309 33
Latin America:

Argentina (3) 36 — 4
Brazil (3) 16,632 2,257 91
Chile 1,298 — 18
Colombia 4,943 — 2
Costa Rica 553 — 2
Mexico (4) 9,047 186 85
Paraguay 1,276 — —
Peru 690 272 —
Latin America total 34,475 2,715 202

(I)Approximately 98% of the operated towers are held pursuant to long-term capital leases, including those subject to
purchase options.

(2)In South Africa, we also own fiber.

(3)In Argentina and Brazil, we also own or operate urban telecommunications assets, fiber and the rights to utilize
certain existing utility infrastructure for future telecommunications equipment installation.

( 4)In Mexico, we also own or operate urban telecommunications assets, including fiber, concrete poles and other
infrastructure.

In most of our markets, our tenant leases with wireless carriers generally have an initial non-cancellable term of at

least ten years, with multiple renewal terms. Accordingly, the vast majority of the revenue generated by our property

operations during the year ended December 31, 2018 was recurring revenue that we should continue to receive in

future periods. Based upon foreign currency exchange rates and the tenant leases in place as of December 31, 2018,

we expect to generate nearly $35 billion of non-cancellable tenant lease revenue over future periods, before the impact

of straight-line lease accounting. Most of our tenant leases have provisions that periodically increase the rent due

under the lease, typically based on an annual fixed escalation (averaging approximately 3% in the United States) or an

inflationary index in our international markets, or a combination of both. In addition, certain of our tenant leases

provide for additional revenue primarily to cover costs, such as ground rent or power and fuel costs.
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The revenues generated by our property operations may be affected by cancellations of existing tenant leases. As
discussed above, most of our tenant leases with wireless carriers and broadcasters are multiyear contracts, which
typically are non-cancellable; however, in some instances, a lease may be cancelled upon the payment of a termination
fee.

Revenue lost from either cancellations or the non-renewal of leases or rent renegotiations, which we refer to as churn,
historically has not had a material adverse effect on the revenues generated by our consolidated property operations.
This was again the case during the year ended December 31, 2018, in which loss of tenant billings from tenant lease
cancellations, non-renewal or renegotiations represented approximately 4% of our tenant billings.
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In 2018, we experienced an increase in revenue lost from cancellations or non-renewals primarily due to carrier
consolidation-driven churn in India, which we expect will continue to result in a higher impact on our revenues,
including tenant billings, as compared to the historical average, in 2019. We also expect this churn will compress our
gross margin and operating profit in 2019, particularly in our Asia property segment, although we expect this to be
partially offset by lower expenses due to reduced tenancy on existing sites or the decommissioning of sites. In
addition, we expect to periodically evaluate the carrying value of our Indian assets, which may result in the realization
of additional impairment expense or other similar charges. For more information, please see the information under the
caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting
Policies and Estimates.”

In October 2018, we entered into agreements with one of our tenants in India, Tata Teleservices and related entities
(collectively, “Tata”), for a settlement and release of certain contractual lease obligations of Tata.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, carrier consolidation-driven churn in India, including churn associated with
our settlement with Tata, negatively impacted our consolidated property revenue by $189.1 million, including
approximately $61.0 million in pass-through revenue, and negatively impacted our gross margin and operating profit
by $119.8 million.

The effects of carrier consolidation-driven churn described above were offset by the impact of the settlement with
Tata, which resulted in a net positive impact to property revenue of $333.7 million as a result of the $345.5 million
cash payment, partially offset by the impact of straight-line accounting and other amounts directly related to the
settlement. The settlement also resulted in a net positive impact to operating profit of $326.9 million.

On a net basis, carrier consolidation-driven churn and our settlement with Tata positively impacted our full year 2018
consolidated property revenue by $144.6 million and our full year 2018 operating profit by $207.1 million. In 2019,
we expect carrier consolidation-driven churn in India, excluding the impact of the nonrecurrence of one-time items
related to the settlement with Tata in 2018, to negatively impact our consolidated property revenue by approximately
$191.2 million, including approximately $22.3 million in pass-through revenue, and our operating profit by
approximately $148.0 million.

We also recorded impairment charges of $164.2 million as a result of the settlement with Tata in October 2018 and
$147.4 million as a result of one of our tenants in India, Aircel Ltd.’s (“Aircel”), filing for bankruptcy protection in
February 2018.

Property Operations Revenue Growth. Due to our diversified communications site portfolio, our tenant lease rates
vary considerably depending upon numerous factors, including, but not limited to, amount, type and position of tenant
equipment on the tower, remaining tower capacity and tower location. We measure the remaining tower capacity by
assessing several factors, including tower height, tower type, environmental conditions, existing equipment on the
tower and zoning and permitting regulations in effect in the jurisdiction where the tower is located. In many instances,
tower capacity can be increased with relatively modest tower augmentation capital expenditures.

The primary factors affecting the revenue growth of our property segments are:

Growth in tenant billings, including:

New revenue attributable to leases in place on day one on sites acquired or constructed since the beginning of the
prior-year period;

New revenue attributable to leasing additional space on our sites (“colocations”) and lease amendments; and
Contractual rent escalations on existing tenant leases, net of churn.

Revenue growth from other items, including additional tenant payments primarily to cover costs, such as ground rent
or power and fuel costs included in certain tenant leases (‘“pass-through”), straight-line revenue and decommissioning.

We continue to believe that our site leasing revenue is likely to increase due to the growing use of wireless services
globally and our ability to meet the corresponding incremental demand for our communications real estate. By adding
new tenants and new equipment for existing tenants on our sites, we are able to increase these sites’ utilization and
profitability. We believe the majority of our site leasing activity will continue to come from wireless service
providers, with tenants in a number of other industries contributing incremental leasing demand. Our site portfolio and
our established tenant base provide us with new business opportunities, which have historically resulted in consistent
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and predictable organic revenue growth as wireless carriers seek to increase the coverage and capacity of their existing
networks, while also deploying next generation wireless technologies. In addition, we intend to continue to
supplement our organic growth by selectively developing or acquiring new sites in our existing and new markets
where we can achieve our risk-adjusted return on investment objectives.

Property Operations Organic Revenue Growth. Consistent with our strategy to increase the utilization and return on
investment from our sites, our objective is to add new tenants and new equipment for existing tenants through
colocation and lease amendments. Our ability to lease additional space on our sites is primarily a function of the rate
at which wireless carriers
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and other tenants deploy capital to improve and expand their wireless networks. This rate, in turn, is influenced by the
growth of wireless services, the penetration of advanced wireless devices, the level of emphasis on network quality
and capacity in carrier competition, the financial performance of our tenants and their access to capital and general
economic conditions. According to industry data, recent aggregate annual wireless capital spending in the United
States has averaged approximately $30 billion, resulting in consistent demand for our sites.

Based on industry research and projections, we expect that a number of key industry trends will result in incremental
revenue opportunities for us:

In less advanced wireless markets where initial voice and data networks are still being deployed, we expect these
deployments to drive demand for our tower space as carriers seek to expand their footprints and increase the scope
and density of their networks. We have established operations in many of these markets at the early stages of wireless
development, which we believe will enable us to meaningfully participate in these deployments over the long term.
Subscribers’ use of mobile data continues to grow rapidly given increasing smartphone and other advanced device
penetration, the proliferation of bandwidth-intensive applications on these devices and the continuing evolution of the
mobile ecosystem. We believe carriers will be compelled to deploy additional equipment on existing networks while
also rolling out more advanced wireless networks to address coverage and capacity needs resulting from this
increasing mobile data usage.

The deployment of advanced mobile technology, such as 4G and 5G, across existing wireless networks will provide
higher speed data services and further enable fixed broadband substitution. As a result, we expect that our tenants will
continue deploying additional equipment across their existing networks.

Wireless service providers compete based on the quality of their existing networks, which is driven by capacity and
coverage. To maintain or improve their network performance as overall network usage increases, our tenants continue
deploying additional equipment across their existing sites while also adding new cell sites. We anticipate increasing
network densification over the next several years, as existing network infrastructure is anticipated to be insufficient to
account for rapidly increasing levels of wireless data usage.

Wireless service providers continue to acquire additional spectrum, and as a result are expected to add additional sites
and equipment to their networks as they seek to optimize their network configuration and utilize additional spectrum.
Next generation technologies requiring wireless connectivity have the potential to provide incremental revenue
opportunities for us. These technologies may include autonomous vehicle networks and a number of other
tnternet-of-things, or IoT, applications, as well as other potential use cases for wireless services. These technologies
may create new and complementary use cases for our communications real estate over time, although these use cases
are currently in nascent stages.

As part of our international expansion initiatives, we have targeted markets in various stages of network development
to diversify our international exposure and position us to benefit from a number of different wireless technology
deployments over the long term. In addition, we have focused on building relationships with large multinational
carriers such as Airtel, Telefénica S.A. and Vodafone Group PLC, among others. We believe that consistent carrier
network investments across our international markets position us to generate meaningful organic revenue growth
going forward.

In emerging markets, such as Ghana, India, Kenya, Nigeria and Uganda, wireless networks tend to be significantly
less advanced than those in the United States, and initial voice networks continue to be deployed in certain
underdeveloped areas. A majority of consumers in these markets still utilize basic wireless services, predominantly on
feature phones, while advanced device penetration remains low. In more developed urban locations within these
markets, data network deployments are underway. Carriers are focused on completing voice network build-outs while
also investing in initial data networks as mobile data usage and smartphone penetration within their customer bases
begin to accelerate.
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In India, the ongoing transition from 2G technology to 4G technology has included a period of carrier consolidation,
which we expect to continue through 2019, whereby the number of carriers operating in the marketplace has been
reduced through mergers, acquisitions and select carrier exits from the marketplace. Over the long term, this
consolidation process is expected to result in a more favorable structural environment for both the wireless carriers as
well as communications infrastructure providers. In the shorter term, as described above, the consolidation process
continues to result in elevated levels of churn within our India business, as merging carriers rationalize redundant
legacy equipment installations and as select carriers exit the marketplace.

26

48



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents

In markets with rapidly evolving network technology, such as South Africa and most of the countries in Latin
America where we do business, initial voice networks, for the most part, have already been built out, and carriers are
focused on 3G and 4G network build outs. Consumers in these regions are increasingly adopting smartphones and
other advanced devices, in particular as lower cost smartphones become increasingly available. As a result, the usage
of bandwidth-intensive mobile applications is growing materially. Recent spectrum auctions in these rapidly evolving
markets have allowed incumbent carriers to accelerate their data network deployments and have also enabled new
entrants to begin initial investments in data networks. Smartphone penetration and wireless data usage in these
markets are advancing rapidly, which typically requires that carriers continue to invest in their networks to maintain
and augment their quality of service.

Finally, in markets with more mature network technology, such as Germany and France, carriers are focused on
deploying 4G data networks to account for rapidly increasing wireless data usage among their customer base. With
higher smartphone and advanced device penetration and significantly higher per capita data usage, carrier investment
in networks is focused on 4G coverage and capacity.

We believe that the network technology migration we have seen in the United States, which has led to significantly
denser networks and meaningful new business commencements for us over a number of years, will be replicated in
our less advanced international markets over time. As a result, we expect to be able to leverage our extensive
international portfolio of approximately 129,930 communications sites and the relationships we have built with our
carrier tenants to drive sustainable, long-term growth.

We have master lease agreements with certain of our tenants that provide for consistent, long-term revenue and reduce
the likelihood of churn. Certain of those master lease agreements are holistic in nature and further build and augment
strong strategic partnerships with our tenants and have significantly reduced colocation cycle times, thereby providing
our tenants with the ability to rapidly and efficiently deploy equipment on our sites.

Demand for our communications sites could be negatively impacted by a number of factors, including an increase in
network sharing or consolidation among our tenants, as set forth in Item 1A of this Annual Report under the caption
“Risk Factors—If our tenants consolidate their operations, exit the telecommunications business or share site
infrastructure to a significant degree, our growth, revenue and ability to generate positive cash flows could be
materially and adversely affected.” In addition, the emergence and growth of new technologies could reduce demand
for our sites, as set forth under the caption “Risk Factors—New technologies or changes in our or a tenant’s business
model could make our tower leasing business less desirable and result in decreasing revenues and operating results.”
Further, our tenants may be subject to new regulatory policies from time to time that materially and adversely affect
the demand for our communications sites.

Property Operations New Site Revenue Growth. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we grew our portfolio of
communications real estate through the acquisition and construction of approximately 24,465 sites globally, as well as
the acquisition of certain urban telecommunications assets in Brazil. In a majority of our Asia, EMEA and Latin
America markets, the revenue generated from newly acquired or constructed sites resulted in increases in both tenant
and pass-through revenues (such as ground rent or power and fuel costs) and expenses. We continue to evaluate
opportunities to acquire communications real estate portfolios, both domestically and internationally, to determine
whether they meet our risk-adjusted hurdle rates and whether we believe we can effectively integrate them into our
existing portfolio.

New Sites (Acquired or Constructed) 2018 2017 2016

U.S. 285 635 65
Asia 21,470 1,135 43,865
EMEA 1,055 2,755 665
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Property Operations Expenses. Direct operating expenses incurred by our property segments include direct site level
expenses and consist primarily of ground rent and power and fuel costs, some or all of which may be passed through
to our tenants, as well as property taxes, repairs and maintenance. These segment direct operating expenses exclude all
segment and corporate selling, general, administrative and development expenses, which are aggregated into one line
item entitled Selling, general, administrative and development expense in our consolidated statements of operations.
In general, our property segments’ selling, general, administrative and development expenses do not significantly
increase as a result of adding incremental tenants to our sites and typically increase only modestly year-over-year. As
a result, leasing additional space to new tenants on our sites provides significant incremental cash flow. We may,
however, incur additional segment selling, general, administrative and development expenses as we increase our
presence in our existing markets or expand into new markets. Our
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profit margin growth is therefore positively impacted by the addition of new tenants to our sites but can be temporarily
diluted by our development activities.

Services Segment Revenue Growth. As we continue to focus on growing our property operations, we anticipate that
our services revenue will continue to represent a small percentage of our total revenues.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Included in our analysis of our results of operations are discussions regarding earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation, amortization and accretion, as adjusted (“Adjusted EBITDA”), Funds From Operations, as defined by the
National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“Nareit FFO”) attributable to American Tower Corporation
common stockholders, Consolidated Adjusted Funds From Operations (“Consolidated AFFO”) and AFFO attributable to
American Tower Corporation common stockholders.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as Net income before Income (loss) from equity method investments; Income tax
benefit (provision); Other income (expense); Gain (loss) on retirement of long-term obligations; Interest expense;
Interest income; Other operating income (expense); Depreciation, amortization and accretion; and stock-based
compensation expense.

Nareit FFO attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders is defined as net income before gains
or losses from the sale or disposal of real estate, real estate related impairment charges, real estate related depreciation,
amortization and accretion and dividends on preferred stock, and including adjustments for (i) unconsolidated
affiliates and (ii) noncontrolling interests. In this section, we refer to Nareit FFO attributable to American Tower
Corporation common stockholders as “Nareit FFO (common stockholders).”

We define Consolidated AFFO as Nareit FFO (common stockholders) before (i) straight-line revenue and expense;
(ii) stock-based compensation expense; (iii) the deferred portion of income tax; (iv) non-real estate related
depreciation, amortization and accretion; (v) amortization of deferred financing costs, capitalized interest, debt
discounts and premiums and long-term deferred interest charges; (vi) other income (expense); (vii) gain (loss) on
retirement of long-term obligations; (viii) other operating income (expense); and adjustments for (ix) unconsolidated
affiliates and (x) noncontrolling interests, less cash payments related to capital improvements and cash payments
related to corporate capital expenditures.

We define AFFO attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders as Consolidated AFFO,
excluding the impact of noncontrolling interests on both Nareit FFO (common stockholders) and the other adjustments
included in the calculation of Consolidated AFFO. In this section, we refer to AFFO attributable to American Tower
Corporation common stockholders as “AFFO (common stockholders).”

Adjusted EBITDA, Nareit FFO (common stockholders), Consolidated AFFO and AFFO (common stockholders) are
not intended to replace net income or any other performance measures determined in accordance with GAAP. None of
Adjusted EBITDA, Nareit FFO (common stockholders), Consolidated AFFO or AFFO (common stockholders)
represents cash flows from operating activities in accordance with GAAP and, therefore, these measures should not be
considered indicative of cash flows from operating activities, as a measure of liquidity or a measure of funds available
to fund our cash needs, including our ability to make cash distributions. Rather, Adjusted EBITDA, Nareit FFO
(common stockholders), Consolidated AFFO and AFFO (common stockholders) are presented as we believe each is a
useful indicator of our current operating performance. We believe that these metrics are useful to an investor in
evaluating our operating performance because (1) each is a key measure used by our management team for decision
making purposes and for evaluating our operating segments’ performance; (2) Adjusted EBITDA is a component
underlying our credit ratings; (3) Adjusted EBITDA is widely used in the telecommunications real estate sector to
measure operating performance as depreciation, amortization and accretion may vary significantly among companies
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depending upon accounting methods and useful lives, particularly where acquisitions and non-operating factors are
involved; (4) Consolidated AFFO is widely used in the telecommunications real estate sector to adjust Nareit FFO
(common stockholders) for items that may otherwise cause material fluctuations in Nareit FFO (common
stockholders) growth from period to period that would not be representative of the underlying performance of
property assets in those periods; (5) each provides investors with a meaningful measure for evaluating our
period-to-period operating performance by eliminating items that are not operational in nature; and (6) each provides
investors with a measure for comparing our results of operations to those of other companies, particularly those in our
industry.

Our measurement of Adjusted EBITDA, Nareit FFO (common stockholders), Consolidated AFFO and AFFO
(common stockholders) may not, however, be fully comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.
Reconciliations of Adjusted EBITDA, Nareit FFO (common stockholders), Consolidated AFFO and AFFO (common
stockholders) to net income, the most directly comparable GAAP measure, have been included below.
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Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
(in millions, except percentages)

Revenue
Year Ended December 31, Percent Percent
Change Change
2018 2017 2016 2018 vs 2017 vs
2017 2016
Property
U.S. $3,822.1 $3,605.7 $3,370.16 % 7 %
Asia 1,540.5 1,164.4 827.6 32 41
EMEA 687.3 626.2 529.5 10 18
Latin America 1,264.8 1,169.6 985.9 8 19
Total property 7,314.7 6,565.9 5,713.1 11 15
Services 125.4 98.0 72.6 28 35

Total revenues $7,440.1 $6,663.9 $5,785.7 12 % 15 %

Year ended December 31, 2018

U.S. property segment revenue growth of $216.4 million was attributable to:

Tenant billings growth of $264.0 million, which was driven by:

#$188.5 million due to colocations and amendments;

$59.6 million from contractual escalations, net of churn; and

€21.0 million generated from newly acquired or constructed sites;

Partially offset by a decrease of $5.1 million from other tenant billings; and

:A decrease of $47.6 million in other revenue, which includes an $81.3 million decrease due to straight-line
accounting.

Asia property segment revenue growth of $376.1 million was attributable to:

Tenant billings growth of $31.0 million, which was driven by:

$123.7 million generated from newly acquired or constructed sites, including $117.7 million from the transactions
with Vodafone (the “Vodafone Acquisition”) and Idea (the “Idea Acquisition”);

$49.5 million due to colocations and amendments; and

#0.6 million from other tenant billings;

Partially offset by a decrease of $142.8 million resulting from churn in excess of contractual escalations, including
$128.1 million due to carrier consolidation-driven churn in India;

Pass-through revenue growth of $59.7 million; and

An increase of $349.3 million in other revenue, primarily due to the net impact of our settlement with Tata and a
.decrease in revenue reserves. The settlement with Tata contributed $333.7 million to other revenue, as a result of the
approximately $345.5 million cash settlement payment, partially offset by the net impacts of straight-line accounting
and other amounts directly related to the settlement.

Segment revenue growth was partially offset by a decrease of $63.9 million attributable to the negative impact of
foreign currency translation related to fluctuations in Indian Rupees (“INR”).

EMEA property segment revenue growth of $61.1 million was attributable to:
Tenant billings growth of $47.1 million, which was driven by:

#17.3 million due to colocations and amendments;

#13.8 million from contractual escalations, net of churn;
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$15.0 million generated from newly acquired or constructed sites, primarily due to the full-year impact of the 2017
acquisition of FPS Towers in France through our European joint venture (the “FPS Acquisition”) and the acquisition of
communication sites in Kenya (the “Kenya Acquisition™); and

&1.0 million from other tenant billings;
An increase of $15.4 million in other revenue, primarily due to back-billing; and
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Pass-through revenue growth of $8.2 million.

Segment growth was partially offset by a decrease of $9.6 million attributable to the negative impact of foreign
currency translation, which included, among others, $8.6 million related to fluctuations in Nigerian Naira (“NGN”) and
$7.4 million related to fluctuations in Ghanaian Cedi (“GHS”), and was partially offset by an increase of $6.0 million
related to fluctuations in the Euro (“EUR”).

Latin America property segment revenue growth of $95.2 million was attributable to:

Tenant billings growth of $118.2 million, which was driven by:

$48.1 million due to colocations and amendments;

$34.0 million from contractual escalations, net of churn;

€26.1 million generated from newly acquired or constructed sites; and

€10.0 million from other tenant billings;

Pass-through revenue growth of $25.6 million; and

An increase of $49.8 million in other revenue, due in part to $62.6 million from our fiber businesses in Mexico and
Brazil and a $6.0 million reduction in revenue reserves from a settlement related to the judicial reorganization of a
tenant in Brazil, partially offset by the impact of straight-line accounting.

Segment revenue growth was partially offset by a decrease of $98.4 million attributable to the negative impact of
foreign currency translation, which included, among others, $81.1 million related to fluctuations in Brazilian Reais
(“BRL”), $10.2 million related to fluctuations in Argentinean Pesos (“ARS”) and $7.1 million related to fluctuations in
Mexican Pesos (“MXN™).

The increase in services segment revenue of $27.4 million was primarily attributable to an increase in site acquisition
projects.

Year ended December 31, 2017

U.S. property segment revenue growth of $235.6 million was attributable to:

Tenant billings growth of $206.6 million, which was driven by:

#$151.2 million due to colocations and amendments;

$42 .9 million from contractual escalations, net of churn;

&11.5 million generated from newly acquired or constructed sites; and

&1.0 million from other tenant billings; and

$29.0 million of other revenue growth, primarily due to a $66.4 million impact of straight-line accounting, partially
offset by a $37.4 million net decrease in other revenue, primarily due to the absence of $38.8 million in
decommissioning revenue recognized in the prior year.

Asia property segment revenue growth of $336.8 million was attributable to:

Tenant billings growth of $192.2 million, which was driven by:

€143.7 million generated from newly acquired sites, due to the Viom Acquisition;

$58.8 million due to colocations and amendments; and

€6.8 million generated from newly constructed sites;

Partially offset by,

A decrease of $16.8 million from churn in excess of contractual escalations; and

A decrease of $0.3 million from other tenant billings;

Pass-through revenue growth of $129.3 million, primarily due to the Viom Acquisition; and

A decrease of $20.2 million in other revenue, primarily due to an increase of $13.1 million in revenue reserves.
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Segment revenue also increased by $35.5 million attributable to the impact of foreign currency translation related to
fluctuations in INR.

EMEA property segment revenue growth of $96.7 million was attributable to:
Tenant billings growth of $99.1 million, which was driven by:
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$62.4 million generated from newly acquired or constructed sites, primarily due to the full-year impact of the FPS
Acquisition;

#17.9 million due to colocations and amendments;

#17.8 million from contractual escalations, net of churn; and

&1.0 million from other tenant billings;

Pass-through revenue growth of $35.3 million; and

€3.4 million of other revenue growth, primarily attributable to the impact of straight-line accounting.

Segment revenue growth was partially offset by a decrease of $41.1 million attributable to the negative impact of
foreign currency translation, which included, among others, $35.0 million related to fluctuations in NGN and $14.5
million related to fluctuations in GHS, partially offset by an increase of $9.8 million related to fluctuations in South
African Rand (“ZAR”).

Latin America property segment revenue growth of $183.7 million was attributable to:

Tenant billings growth of $92.4 million, which was driven by:

#$38.9 million due to colocations and amendments;

$32.7 million from contractual escalations, net of churn;

#18.7 million generated from newly acquired or constructed sites; and

€2.1 million from other tenant billings;

Pass-through revenue growth of $22.2 million; and

$17.6 million of other revenue growth, due in part to $7.1 million from our newly acquired fiber business in Mexico
and a $7.0 million reduction in revenue in the prior-year period resulting from a judicial reorganization of a tenant in
Brazil, partially offset by the impact of straight-line accounting.

Segment revenue also increased $51.5 million attributable to the positive impact of foreign currency translation, which
included, among others, $49.9 million related to fluctuations in BRL and $2.8 million related to fluctuations in
Colombian Pesos (“COP”), partially offset by a decrease of $3.3 million related to fluctuations in MXN.

The increase in services segment revenue of $25.4 million was primarily attributable to an increase in site acquisition
projects.

Gross Margin
Year Ended December 31, Percent Percent

Change Change
2018 2017 2016 2018 vs 2017 vs

2017 2016
Property
U.S. $3,051.1 $2,859.2 $2,636.77 % 8 %
Asia 829.6 5154 361.7 61 42
EMEA 449.2 387.9 305.8 16 27
Latin America 858.4 794.3 658.8 8 21
Total property 5,188.3 4,556.8 3,963.0 14 15

Services 77.2 64.2 45.6 20 % 41 %
Year ended December 31, 2018
The increase in U.S. property segment gross margin was primarily attributable to the increase in revenue described

.above, partially offset by an increase in direct expenses of $24.5 million.

The increase in Asia property segment gross margin was primarily attributable to the increase in revenue described
above and a benefit of $36.5 million attributable to the impact of foreign currency translation on direct expenses,
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partially offset by an increase in direct expenses of $98.4 million, primarily due to the Vodafone Acquisition and the
Idea Acquisition.

The increase in EMEA property segment gross margin was primarily attributable to the increase in revenue described
above and a benefit of $9.4 million attributable to the impact of foreign currency translation on direct expenses,
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partially offset by an increase in direct expenses of $9.2 million, primarily due to the FPS Acquisition and the Kenya
Acquisition.

The increase in Latin America property segment gross margin was primarily attributable to the increase in revenue
described above and a benefit of $33.3 million attributable to the impact of foreign currency translation on direct
expenses, partially offset by an increase in direct expenses of $53.5 million, primarily due to our fiber businesses in
Mexico and Brazil, and a reduction of $10.9 million in interest income related to TV Azteca, S.A. de C.V. (“TV
Azteca”).

The increase in services segment gross margin was primarily due to an increase in revenue, as described above,
partially offset by an increase in direct expenses of $14.4 million.

Year ended December 31, 2017
The increase in U.S. property segment gross margin was primarily attributable to the increase in revenue described
above, partially offset by an increase in direct expenses of $13.1 million.

The increase in Asia property segment gross margin was primarily attributable to the increase in revenue described
above, partially offset by an increase in direct expenses of $163.1 million, primarily due to the Viom Acquisition.
Direct expenses increased by an additional $20.0 million attributable to the impact of foreign currency translation.

The increase in EMEA property segment gross margin was primarily attributable to the increase in revenue described
above and a benefit of $35.1 million attributable to the impact of foreign currency translation on direct expenses,
partially offset by an increase in direct expenses of $49.7 million, partially due to the FPS Acquisition.

The increase in Latin America property segment gross margin was primarily attributable to the increase in revenue
described above, partially offset by an increase in direct expenses of $29.6 million, partially due to our acquisitions of
urban telecommunications assets and fiber, in Mexico and Argentina. Direct expenses increased by an additional
$18.6 million due to the impact of foreign currency translation.

The increase in services segment gross margin was primarily due to an increase in site acquisition projects.
Selling, General, Administrative and Development Expense (“SG&A”)
Year Ended December 31, Percent Percent

Change Change
2018 2017 2016 2018 vs 2017 vs

2017 2016

Property

U.S. $1652 $1514 $1476 9 % 3 %
Asia 110.7 824 48.2 34 71
EMEA 69.1 67.9 60.9 2 11
Latin America 83.5 717.5 60.7 8 28
Total property 4285 3792 3174 13 19
Services 14.4 13.7 12.5 5 10
Other 2903 2441 2135 19 14

Total selling, general, administrative and development expense $733.2 $637.0 $543.4 15 % 17 %

Year Ended December 31, 2018
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The increases in each of our U.S., EMEA and Latin America property segment SG&A were primarily driven by
tncreased personnel costs to support our business, including our acquisitions of urban telecommunications assets in

our Latin America property segment.
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The increase in our Asia property segment SG&A was primarily driven by an increase in bad debt expense of $25.1
million as a result of receivable reserves with certain tenants.

The increase in our services segment SG&A was primarily attributable to an increase in the allocation of
personnel costs to our tower services group.

The increase in other SG&A was primarily attributable to an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $28.6
million, principally due to the acceleration of expense associated with amendments to existing grants, and an increase
in corporate SG&A.

Year Ended December 31, 2017

The increases in each of our property segments’ SG&A were primarily driven by increased personnel costs to support
our business, including additional costs as a result of the Viom Acquisition in our Asia property segment and the FPS
Acquisition in our EMEA property segment. The increase in our Asia property segment SG&A was partially driven
by an increase in bad debt expense of $24.6 million as a result of aged receivables with certain tenants and the
increase in our EMEA property segment SG&A was partially offset by the impact of foreign currency fluctuations
and a reduction in bad debt expense of $3.7 million.

The increase in our services segment SG&A was primarily attributable to an increase in personnel costs within our
tower services group.

The increase in other SG&A was primarily attributable to an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $18.1
million and an increase in corporate SG&A.

Operating Profit
Year Ended December 31, Percent Percent

Change Change
2018 2017 2016 2018 vs 2017 vs

2017 2016
Property
U.S. $2,885.9 $2,707.8 $2,489.17 % 9 %
Asia 718.9 433.0 313.5 66 38
EMEA 380.1 320.0 244.9 19 31
Latin America 774.9 716.8 598.1 8 20
Total property 4,759.8 4,177.6 3,645.6 14 15

Services 62.8 50.5 33.1 24 % 53 %
Year Ended December 31, 2018

The increases in operating profit for each of our property segments, as well as our services segment, were primarily
attributable to an increase in our segment gross margin, partially offset by increases in our segment SG&A.

Year Ended December 31, 2017

The growth in operating profit for each of our property segments was primarily attributable to an increase in our
segment gross margin, partially offset by increases in our segment SG&A.
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The growth in operating profit for our services segment was primarily attributable to an increase in our segment gross
margin, partially offset by an increase in our segment SG&A.
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Depreciation, Amortization and Accretion

Year Ended December 31, Percent Percent
Change Change
2018 2017 2016 2018 vs 2017 vs
2017 2016
Depreciation, amortization and accretion $2,110.8 $1,7159 $1,525.6 23 % 12 %

The increase in depreciation, amortization and accretion expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily
attributable to $327.5 million of accelerated amortization of a tenant relationship intangible asset as a result of the
settlement with Tata. Also contributing to the increase was the acquisition, lease or construction of new sites since the
beginning of the prior-year period, which resulted in an increase in property and equipment and intangible assets
subject to amortization.

The increase in depreciation, amortization and accretion expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily
attributable to the acquisition, lease or construction of new sites since the beginning of the prior-year period, which
resulted in an increase in property and equipment and intangible assets subject to amortization.

Other Operating Expenses
Year Ended Percent Percent
December 31, Change Change
2018 vs 2017 vs
2018 2017 2016 2017 2016
Other operating expenses $513.3 $256.0 $73.3 101 % 249 %

The increase in other operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily attributable to an
increase in impairment charges of $182.6 million and an increase of $52.8 million in losses on sales or disposals of
assets. The impairment charges included $258.3 million related to tower and network intangible assets and $107.3
million related to tenant relationships in our Asia property segment due to the settlement with Tata, Aircel’s filing for
bankruptcy protection and other carrier consolidation-driven churn in India. The increase was also attributable to the
nonrecurrence of a $22.2 million refund of acquisition costs recorded in the prior-year period related to an acquisition
in Brazil, partially offset by $10.0 million to fund our charitable foundation in the prior-year period.

The increase in other operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily attributable to an
increase in impairment charges of $182.9 million. These charges included $81.0 million related to tower and network
intangible assets and $100.1 million related to tenant relationships in our Asia property segment, primarily due to
carrier consolidation-driven churn. The increase in other operating expenses also included an increase of $7.7 million
in losses on sales or disposals of assets and $10.0 million to fund our charitable foundation. These items were partially
offset by aggregate purchase price refunds of $22.2 million of acquisition costs, primarily relating to an acquisition in
Brazil completed in 2014.

Total Other Expense
Year Ended Percent Percent
December 31, Change Change
2018 vs 2017 vs
2018 2017 2016 2017 2016
Total Other expense $750.4 $742.3 $727.11 % 2 %
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Total other expense consists primarily of interest expense and realized and unrealized foreign currency gains and
losses. We record unrealized foreign currency gains or losses as a result of foreign currency fluctuations primarily
associated with our intercompany notes and similar unaffiliated balances denominated in a currency other than the
subsidiaries’ functional currencies.

The increase in total other expense during the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily due to additional interest
expense of $75.9 million due to a $2.0 billion increase in our average debt outstanding and foreign currency losses of
$4.5 million in the current period, compared to foreign currency gains of $26.4 million in the prior-year period. The
increase was partially offset by (i) a decrease in loss on retirement of long-term obligations of $66.9 million due to the
nonrecurrence of a loss of $70.2 million recorded in the prior-year period attributable to the redemptions of the 7.25%
senior unsecured notes due 2019 (the “7.25% Notes”) and the 4.500% senior unsecured notes due 2018 (the “4.500%
Notes”) and the repayment of the Secured Cellular Site Revenue Notes, Series 2012-2 Class A, Series 2012-2 Class B
and Series 2012-2 Class C and Secured Cellular Site Revenue Notes, Series 2010-2, Class C and Series 2010-2, Class
F (collectively, the “GTP Notes™), (ii) an increase in other income of $23.4 million partially due to the write-offs of the
capital lease liability and Economic Rights Agreement and related amortization in conjunction with the note
extinguishment with TV Azteca (as described in note 5 to our consolidated
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financial statements included in this Annual Report) and (iii) an additional $19.3 million in interest income, compared
to the prior-year period.

The increase in total other expense during the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily due to a loss on
retirement of long-term obligations of $70.2 million attributable to the redemptions of the 7.25% Notes and the
4.500% Notes and the repayment of the GTP Notes, compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, where we
recorded a gain on retirement of long-term obligations of $1.2 million attributable to the repayment of the Secured
Tower Cellular Site Revenue Notes, Series 2012-1, Class A and the Secured Cellular Site Revenue Notes, Series
2010-1, Class C. The increase was also attributable to additional interest expense of $32.5 million due to a $0.9 billion
increase in our average debt outstanding. These items were partially offset by foreign currency gains of $26.4 million
compared to foreign currency losses of $48.9 million in the prior-year period, as well an additional $9.8 million in
interest income compared to the prior-year period.

Income Tax (Benefit) Provision

Year Ended December 31, Percent Percent
Change Change
2018 2017 2016 2018 vs 2017 vs
2017 2016
Income tax (benefit) provision $(110.1) $30.7 $155.5 (459)% (80 )%
Effective tax rate 9.5 Y 2.4 % 138 %

As a REIT, we may deduct earnings distributed to stockholders against the income generated by our REIT operations.
In addition, we are able to offset certain income by utilizing our NOLs, subject to specified limitations. Consequently,
the effective tax rate on income from continuing operations for each of the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016 differs from the federal statutory rate.

The change in the income tax (benefit) provision for the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily attributable to
the receipt of the payment associated with the Tata settlement, offset by the deferred tax benefit of impairment charges
and accelerated amortization in India. Additionally, we restructured our international operations in certain
jurisdictions resulting in a current-year benefit of $85.7 million, which was offset by the nonrecurrence of prior-year
benefit from a clarification in income tax law in Ghana.

The decrease in the income tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily attributable to lower
uncertain tax position reserve recorded in 2017 than in 2016, a decrease in foreign earnings in India due to
impairments, as well as changes in tax laws in certain foreign jurisdictions.

Net Income / Adjusted EBITDA and Net Income / Nareit FFO attributable to American Tower Corporation common
stockholders / Consolidated AFFO / AFFO attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders

Year Ended December 31, Percent Percent
Change Change
2018 2017 2016 2018 vs 2017 vs

2017 2016
Net income $1,264.7 $1,2254 $9704 3 % 26 %
Income tax (benefit) provision (110.1 ) 30.7 155.5 459) (@0 )
Other (income) expense (23.8 ) (31.3 ) 47.7 24 ) 166 )
Loss (gain) on retirement of long-term obligations 3.3 70.2 (1.2 ) 95 ) (5,950)
Interest expense 825.5 749.6 717.1 10 5
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Interest income

Other operating expenses

Depreciation, amortization and accretion
Stock-based compensation expense
Adjusted EBITDA
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Year Ended December 31, Percent Percent
Change Change
2018 2017 2016 2018 vs 2017 vs

2017 2016
Net income $1,2647 $1,2254 $9704 3 % 26 %
Real estate related depreciation, amortization and accretion 19152 1,516.9 1,3589 26 12

Losses from sale or disposal of real estate and real estate related

. . 479.7 244 .4 54.5 96 348
impairment charges (1)

Dividends on preferred stock 9.4 ) (87.4 ) (107.1 ) (@89 ) (18 )
Dividend to noncontrolling interest (13.8 ) (132 ) — 5 100
Adjustments for unconsolidated affiliates and noncontrolling @274 ) (1891 ) (882 ) 126 114
interests

Nareit FFO attributable to American Tower Corporation common $3.209.0 $2.697.0 $2.188.5 19 73
stockholders

Straight-line revenue (87.6 ) (1944 ) (131.7 ) (55 ) 48
Straight-line expense 57.9 62.3 67.8 7 ) 8 )
Stock-based compensation expense 137.5 108.5 89.9 27 21
Deferred portion of income tax (2) (274.0 ) (105.8 ) 59.2 159 279 )
Non-real estate related depreciation, amortization and accretion  195.6 199.0 166.7 2 ) 19
Amortization of deferred financing costs, capital%zed interest, debt 190 6.8 3.1 29 ) 16
discounts and premiums and long-term deferred interest charges

Other (income) expense (3) (23.8 ) (31.3 ) 47.7 24 ) (166 )
Loss (gain) on retirement of long-term obligations 33 70.2 (1.2 ) (95 ) (5,950)
Other operating expenses (4) 33.6 11.6 18.8 190 38 )
Capital improvement capital expenditures (149.5 ) (114.2 ) (110.2 ) 31 4
Corporate capital expenditures 9.2 ) (17.0 ) (164 ) @6 ) 4
Adjustments for unconsolidated affiliates and noncontrolling 427 4 189 1 282 126 114
interests

Consolidated AFFO $3,539.2 $2,901.8 $2,4904 22 % 17 %

Adjustments for unconsolidated affiliates and noncontrolling
interests (5)

AFFOQ attributable to American Tower Corporation common
stockholders

(348.7 ) (147.0 ) (90.2 ) 137 % 63 %

$3,190.5 $2,754.8 $2,4002 16 % 15 %

Included in these amounts are impairment charges of $394.0 million, $211.4 million and $28.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, amount includes a tax benefit primarily attributable to the tax effect of an
(2)increase in impairment charges and a one-time benefit for restructuring-related activity in foreign jurisdictions
offset by the nonrecurrence of prior-year benefit from a clarification in income tax law in Ghana.

Includes losses (gains) on foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations of $4.5 million, ($26.4 million) and $48.9
million, respectively.

Primarily includes acquisition-related costs and integration costs. For the year ended December 31, 2017, amount
also includes refunds for acquisition costs and a charitable contribution.

Includes adjustments for the impact on both Nareit FFO attributable to American Tower Corporation common
stockholders as well as the other line items included in the calculation of Consolidated AFFO.
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Year Ended December 31, 2018
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The increase in net income was primarily due to an increase in our operating profit, the change in the income tax
(benefit) provision and the nonrecurrence of a loss on retirement of long-term obligations of $70.2 million recorded in
the prior-year period, partially offset by an increase in other operating expenses, primarily related to an increase in
impairment charges of $182.6 million, and increases in depreciation, amortization and accretion expense and interest
expense.

The increase in Adjusted EBITDA was primarily attributable to the increase in our gross margin and was partially
offset by an increase in SG&A of $67.6 million, excluding the impact of stock-based compensation expense.
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The growth in Consolidated AFFO and AFFO attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders was
primarily attributable to the increase in our operating profit, a decrease in dividends on preferred stock and a decrease
in the adjustment for straight-line revenue, partially offset by increases in cash paid for interest, capital improvement
capital expenditures and corporate SG&A.

Year Ended December 31, 2017

The increase in net income was primarily due to an increase in our operating profit, decreases in our income tax
provision and foreign currency losses included in other expense, partially offset by an increase in depreciation,
amortization and accretion expense, and increases in other operating expenses, interest expense and a loss on
retirement of long-term obligations of $70.2 million.

The increase in Adjusted EBITDA was primarily attributable to the increase in our gross margin and was partially
offset by an increase in SG&A of $75.5 million, excluding the impact of stock-based compensation expense.

The growth in Consolidated AFFO and AFFO attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders was
primarily attributable to the increase in our operating profit and a decrease in dividends on preferred stock, partially
offset by increases in straight-line revenue, cash paid for interest and income taxes and corporate SG&A and capital
improvement expenditures.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we increased our financial flexibility and our ability to grow our business
while maintaining our long-term financial policies. Our significant 2018 financing transactions included:

A registered public offering of an aggregate of 500.0 million EUR ($589.0 million at the date of issuance) of 1.950%
senior unsecured notes due 2026 (the “1.950% Notes”).

Senior unsecured $1.5 billion term loan (the “2018 Term Loan”).

Securitization transactions, including the repayment of the $500.0 million aggregate principal amount outstanding
ynder the Secured Tower Revenue Securities, Series 2013-1A (the “Series 2013-1A Securities™) and the issuance of
$500.0 million aggregate principal amount of Secured Tower Revenue Securities, Series 2018-1, Subclass A (the
“Series 2018-1A Securities™).

Amendments to our multicurrency senior unsecured revolving credit facility entered into in June 2013, as amended
(the “2013 Credit Facility”), our senior unsecured revolving credit facility entered into in January 2012, as amended and
restated in September 2014, as further amended (the “2014 Credit Facility”) and our unsecured term loan entered into in
October 2013, as amended (the “2013 Term Loan”) to, among other things, extend each of the maturity dates by one
year, increase commitments under each of the 2013 Credit Facility and the 2014 Credit Facility by $100.0 million and
reduce the Applicable Margins under the 2014 Credit Facility and the 2013 Term Loan (as defined in each of the
applicable loan agreements) to conform to the 2013 Credit Facility.

As a holding company, our cash flows are derived primarily from the operations of, and distributions from, our
operating subsidiaries or funds raised through borrowings under our credit facilities and debt or equity offerings.

The following table summarizes our liquidity as of December 31, 2018 (in millions):

Available under the 2013 Credit Facility $975.0

Available under the 2014 Credit Facility 2,100.0

Letters of credit (10.0 )
Total available under credit facilities, net 3,065.0
Cash and cash equivalents 1,208.7
Total liquidity $4,273.7

Subsequent to December 31, 2018, we borrowed an additional $570.0 million under the 2013 Credit Facility and
$605.0 million under the 2014 Credit Facility, which were primarily used to repay indebtedness, including the 3.40%
notes due 2019, and for general corporate purposes.
Summary cash flow information is set forth below for the years ended December 31, (in millions):

2018 2017 2016
Net cash provided by (used for):

Operating activities $3,748.3 $2,925.6 $2,701.7
Investing activities (2,749.5 ) (2,800.9 ) (2,102.3)
Financing activities (607.7 ) (113.0 ) (99.3 )

Net effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash
equivalents, and restricted cash

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash $350.0 $184 $473.6
We use our cash flows to fund our operations and investments in our business, including tower maintenance and
improvements, communications site construction and managed network installations and tower and land acquisitions.
Additionally, we use our cash flows to make distributions, including distributions of our REIT taxable income to
maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT under the Code. We may also repay or repurchase our existing
indebtedness or equity from time to time. We typically fund our international expansion efforts primarily through a
combination of cash on hand, intercompany debt and equity contributions. In the fourth quarter of 2018, two of our
minority holders in India exercised their put options with respect to certain shares in our Indian subsidiary, ATC TIPL
in accordance with the provisions in the

41.1 ) 6.7 265 )
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shareholder agreement (see note 14 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report).
Accordingly, we expect to pay 29.4 billion INR (approximately $420.0 million) to redeem the put shares in the first
half of 2019.

As of December 31, 2018, we had total outstanding indebtedness of $21.3 billion, with a current portion of $2.8
billion. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we generated sufficient cash flow from operations to fund our
capital expenditures and debt service obligations, as well as our required distributions. We believe the cash generated
by operating activities during the year ending December 31, 2019, together with our borrowing capacity under our
credit facilities, will be sufficient to fund our required distributions, capital expenditures, debt service obligations
(interest and principal repayments) and signed acquisitions. As of December 31, 2018, we had $1.1 billion of cash and
cash equivalents held by our foreign subsidiaries, of which $711.6 million was held by our joint ventures. While
certain subsidiaries may pay us interest or principal on intercompany debt, it has not been our practice to repatriate
earnings from our foreign subsidiaries primarily due to our ongoing expansion efforts and related capital needs.
However, in the event that we do repatriate any funds, we may be required to accrue and pay certain taxes.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2018, cash provided by operating activities increased $822.7 million as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2017. The primary factors that impacted cash provided by operating activities as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2017, include:
An increase in our operating profit of $594.5 million;
An increase of approximately $77.6 million in cash paid for interest;

A decrease in cash required for working capital, primarily as a result of accounts receivable collection;

and
An increase of approximately $27.4 million in cash paid for taxes.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, cash provided by operating activities increased $223.9 million as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2016. The primary factors that impacted cash provided by operating activities as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, include:

An increase in our operating profit of $549.4 million;

An increase of approximately $67.0 million in cash paid for interest;

An increase of approximately $62.7 million in straight-line revenue; and

An increase of approximately $40.3 million in cash paid for taxes.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Our significant investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2018 are highlighted below:

We spent approximately $1.9 billion for acquisitions, primarily related to the funding of the Idea and Vodafone
acquisitions, as well as asset acquisitions in the United States, Kenya and Brazil.

We spent $937.1 million for capital expenditures, as follows (in millions):

Discretionary capital projects (1) $254.7
Ground lease purchases 162.7
Capital improvements and corporate expenditures (2) 158.7
Redevelopment 2324
Start-up capital projects 128.6
Total capital expenditures (3) $937.1

(1)Includes the construction of 2,441 communications sites globally.
Includes $32.0 million of capital lease payments included in Repayments of notes payable, credit facilities, senior
(2)notes, term loan and capital leases in the cash flow from financing activities in our consolidated statements of cash
flows.

3)
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Net of purchase credits of $8.1 million on certain assets, which are reported in operating activities in our
consolidated statements of cash flows.
Our significant investing transactions in 2017 included the following:
We spent approximately $2.0 billion for acquisitions, primarily related to the funding of the FPS Acquisition, as well
as tower acquisitions in the United States, and the acquisition of urban telecommunication assets in Mexico.
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We spent $824.2 million for capital expenditures, as follows (in millions):

Discretionary capital projects (1) $170.0
Ground lease purchases 131.2
Capital improvements and corporate expenditures (2) 131.2
Redevelopment 204.5
Start-up capital projects 187.3
Total capital expenditures $824.2

(1)Includes the construction of 1,960 communications sites globally.

Includes $31.8 million of capital lease payments included in Repayments of notes payable, credit facilities, term
(2)loan, senior notes, secured debt and capital leases in the cash flow from financing activities in our consolidated
statement of cash flows.

(3)Net of purchase credits of $11.2 million on certain assets, which are reported in operating activities in our
consolidated statements of cash flows.
We plan to continue to allocate our available capital, after satisfying our distribution requirements, among investment
alternatives that meet our return on investment criteria, while maintaining our commitment to our long-term financial
policies. Accordingly, we expect to continue to deploy capital through our annual capital expenditure program,
including land purchases and new site construction, and through acquisitions. We also regularly review our tower
portfolios as to capital expenditures required to upgrade our towers to our structural standards or address capacity,
structural or permitting issues. In 2018, we conducted a review as to whether any additional capital was required for
such upgrades and determined that our capital planning was appropriate.

We expect that our 2019 total capital expenditures will be between $900.0 million and $1.0 billion, as follows (in
millions):

Discretionary capital projects (1) $265t0$305
Ground lease purchases 150 to160
Capital improvements and corporate expenditures 160 to180
Redevelopment 255 to265
Start-up capital projects 70  to90
Total capital expenditures $900to$ 1,000

(1)Includes the construction of approximately 2,500 to 3,500 communications sites globally.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Our significant financing activities were as follows (in millions):

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Proceeds from issuance of senior notes, net $5849 $2,674.0 $3,236.4
(Repayments of) proceeds from credit facilities, net (695.9 ) 628.6 (1,277.1)
Distributions paid on common and preferred stock (1,342.4 (1,164.4 ) (993.2 )
Purchases of common stock (232.8) (766.3 ) —
Repayments of securitized debt (500.0 ) (302.5 ) (161.1 )
(Distributions to) contributions from noncontrolling interest holders, net (1) (14.4 ) 264.3 238.5
Repayment of senior notes — (1,300.0 ) —
Proceeds from (repayments of) term loan 1,500.0 — (1,000.0 )
Proceeds from issuance of securities in securitization transaction 5000 — —
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(1) 2017 contributions primarily relate to the funding of the FPS Acquisition.

Senior Notes

1.950% Senior Notes Offering. On May 22, 2018, we completed a registered public offering of 500.0 million EUR
($589.0 million at the date of issuance) aggregate principal amount of the 1.950% Notes. The net proceeds from this
offering were approximately 493.2 million EUR (approximately $581.0 million at the date of issuance), after
deducting commissions and estimated expenses. We used the net proceeds to repay existing indebtedness under the
2013 Credit Facility.

The 1.950% Notes will mature on May 22, 2026 and bear interest at a rate of 1.950% per annum. Accrued and unpaid
interest on the 1.950% Notes will be payable in EUR in arrears on May 22 of each year, beginning on May 22, 2019.
Interest on the 1.950% Notes will be computed on the basis of the actual number of days in the period for which
interest is being calculated and the actual number of days from and including the last date on which interest was paid
on the 1.950% Notes and commenced accruing on May 22, 2018.

We may redeem the 1.950% Notes at any time, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the notes plus a make-whole premium, together with accrued interest to the redemption date. If
we redeem the 1.950% Notes on or after February 22, 2026, we will not be required to pay a make-whole premium. In
addition, if we undergo a change of control and corresponding ratings decline, each as defined in the supplemental
indenture, we may be required to repurchase all of the notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount
of such notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional interest, if any), up to but not including the
repurchase date. The notes rank equally with all of our other senior unsecured debt and are structurally subordinated to
all existing and future indebtedness and other obligations of our subsidiaries.

The supplemental indenture contains certain covenants that restrict our ability to merge, consolidate or sell assets and
our (together with our subsidiaries’) ability to incur liens. These covenants are subject to a number of exceptions,
including that we and our subsidiaries may incur certain liens on assets, mortgages or other liens securing
indebtedness if the aggregate amount of such liens does not exceed 3.5x Adjusted EBITDA, as defined in the
supplemental indenture.

Securitizations

Repayment of Series 2013-1A Securities. On the March 2018 payment date, we repaid the $500.0 million aggregate
principal amount outstanding under the Series 2013-1A Securities, pursuant to the terms of the agreements governing
such securities. The repayment was funded with borrowings under the 2014 Credit Facility and cash on hand.

Secured Tower Revenue Securities, Series 2018-1, Subclass A and Series 2018-1, Subclass R. On March 29, 2018, we
completed the 2018 Securitization in which the American Tower Trust I (the “Trust”) issued $500.0 million aggregate
principal amount of the Series 2018-1A Securities. To satisfy the applicable risk retention requirements of Regulation
RR promulgated under the Exchange Act (such requirements, the “Risk Retention Rules”), the Trust issued, and one of
our affiliates purchased, $26.4 million aggregate principal amount of Secured Tower Revenue Securities, Series

2018-1, Subclass R (the “Series 2018-1R Securities” and, together with the Series 2018-1A Securities, the “2018
Securities”) to retain an “eligible horizontal residual interest” (as defined in the Risk Retention Rules) in an amount equal
to at least 5% of the fair value of the 2018 Securities.

The assets of the Trust consist of a nonrecourse loan (the “Loan”’) made by the Trust to American Tower Asset Sub,
LLC and American Tower Asset Sub II, LLC (together, the “AMT Asset Subs”). The AMT Asset Subs are jointly and
severally liable under the Loan, which is secured primarily by mortgages on the AMT Asset Subs’ interests in 5,116
broadcast and wireless communications towers and related assets (the “Trust Sites”).
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The 2018 Securities correspond to components of the Loan made to the AMT Asset Subs pursuant to the Second
Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement among the Trust and the AMT Asset Subs, dated as of

March 29, 2018 (the “Loan Agreement”) and were issued in two separate subclasses of the same series. The 2018
Securities represent a pass-through interest in the components of the Loan corresponding to the 2018 Securities. The
Series 2018-1A Securities have an interest rate of 3.652% and the Series 2018-1R Securities have an interest rate of
4.459%. The 2018 Securities have an expected life of approximately ten years with a final repayment date in March
2048.

The AMT Asset Subs may prepay the Loan in whole or in part at any time provided it is accompanied by applicable
prepayment consideration. If the prepayment occurs within 36 months of the anticipated repayment date for the
component of
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the Loan corresponding to the 2018 Securities, no prepayment consideration is due. The entire unpaid principal
balance of the components of the Loan corresponding to the 2018 Securities will be due in March 2048.

The Loan is secured by (1) mortgages, deeds of trust and deeds to secure debt on substantially all of the Trust Sites
and their operating cash flows, (2) a security interest in substantially all of the AMT Asset Subs’ personal property and
fixtures and (3) the AMT Asset Subs’ rights under that certain management agreement among the AMT Asset Subs
and SpectraSite Communications, LLC entered into in March 2013. American Tower Holding Sub, LLC (the
“Guarantor”), whose only material assets are its equity interests in each of the AMT Asset Subs, and American Tower
Guarantor Sub, LLC whose only material asset is its equity interests in the Guarantor, have each guaranteed
repayment of the Loan and pledged their equity interests in their respective subsidiary or subsidiaries as security for
such payment obligations.

The Secured Tower Revenue Securities, Series 2013-2A (the “Series 2013-2A Securities”) issued in the 2013
Securitization remain outstanding and are subject to the terms of the Second Amended and Restated Trust and
Servicing Agreement entered into in connection with the 2018 Securitization. The component of the Loan
corresponding to the Series 2013-2A Securities also remains outstanding and is subject to the terms of the Loan
Agreement.

For more information regarding the Trust Securitizations, see “—Factors Affecting Sources of Liquidity” below.

Bank Facilities

On November 28, 2018, we entered into amendment agreements with respect to the 2013 Credit Facility, the 2014
Credit Facility and the 2013 Term Loan, which, among other things, (i) extend the maturity dates by one year to June
28,2022, January 31, 2024 and January 31, 2024, respectively, (ii) increase the commitments under each of the 2013
Credit Facility and the 2014 Credit Facility by $100.0 million to $2.85 billion and $2.1 billion, respectively, (iii)
increase the maximum Revolving Loan Commitments, after giving effect to any Incremental Commitments (each as
defined in the applicable loan agreement) to $4.5 billion and $3.25 billion under the 2013 Credit Facility and the 2014
Credit Facility, respectively, (iv) amend the limitation on indebtedness of, and guaranteed by, our subsidiaries to the
greater of (x) $2.5 billion and (y) 50% of Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the applicable loan agreement) of us and
our subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, (v) increase the threshold for certain defaults with respect to judgments,
attachments or acceleration of indebtedness from $300.0 million to $400.0 million and (vi) add provisions regarding
the establishment of an alternative rate of interest in the event that LIBOR is no longer available. In addition, the
amendments to the 2014 Credit Facility and the 2013 Term Loan reduce the Applicable Margins (as defined in the
applicable loan agreement) to conform to the Applicable Margins in the 2013 Credit Facility (as defined therein).
2013 Credit Facility. We have the ability to borrow up to $2.85 billion under the 2013 Credit Facility, which includes
a $1.0 billion sublimit for multicurrency borrowings, a $200.0 million sublimit for letters of credit and a $50.0
million sublimit for swingline loans. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we borrowed an aggregate of $2.1
billion and repaid an aggregate of $2.3 billion of revolving indebtedness. We used the borrowings to fund
acquisitions, repay existing indebtedness and for general corporate purposes. We currently have $3.8 million of
undrawn letters of credit and maintain the ability to draw down and repay amounts under the 2013 Credit Facility in
the ordinary course.

2014 Credit Facility. We have the ability to borrow up to $2.1 billion under the 2014 Credit Facility, which includes a
$200.0 million sublimit for letters of credit and a $50.0 million sublimit for swingline loans. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, we borrowed an aggregate of $1.1 billion and repaid an aggregate of $1.5 billion of revolving
indebtedness. We used the borrowings to repay existing indebtedness, including the Series 2013-1A Securities, to
fund acquisitions and for general corporate purposes. We currently have $6.2 million of undrawn letters of credit and
maintain the ability to draw down and repay amounts under the 2014 Credit Facility in the ordinary course.

78



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A

2018 Term Loan. On March 29, 2018, we entered into the 2018 Term Loan, the net proceeds of which were used to
repay $1.1 billion of outstanding indebtedness under the 2013 Credit Facility and $445.0 million of outstanding
indebtedness under the 2014 Credit Facility. The 2018 Term Loan had a maturity date of March 29, 2019. On
February 14, 2019, we repaid all amounts outstanding under the 2018 Term Loan with proceeds from the 2019 Term
Loan (as defined below) and cash on hand.

As of December 31, 2018, the key terms under the 2013 Credit Facility, the 2014 Credit Facility, the 2013 Term Loan
and the 2018 Term Loan were as follows:
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Bank Ol.ltSt?ndmgMaturity LIBOR borrowing  Base rate borrowing  Current margin over LIBOR
o Principal . . .

Facility (1) Balance Date interest rate range (2) interest rate range (2) and the base rate, respectively

2013 Credit ¢y 0950 JUNC 28 (3)0875% - 1.750%  0.000%-0750%  1.125% and 0.125%

Facility 2022

2014 Credit ¢ Tanuary 31, 3)0.875% - 1.750%  0.000% -0.750%  1.125% and 0.125%

Facility 2024

2013Term gy hop.0 T3 3L 087501750 0.000% - 0.750%  1.125% and 0.125%

Loan 2024

20I8Term ¢y 5000 MAh 29 605% - 1500%  0.000% - 0.500%  0.875% and 0.000%

Loan 2019

(1) Currently borrowed at LIBOR.

(2)Represents interest rate above LIBOR for LIBOR based borrowings and the interest rate above the defined base
rate for base rate borrowings, in each case based on our debt ratings.

(3) Subject to two optional renewal periods.

The 2013 Credit Facility and the 2014 Credit Facility are subject to two optional renewal periods and we must pay a
quarterly commitment fee on the undrawn portion of each facility. The commitment fee for the 2013 Credit Facility
and the 2014 Credit Facility ranges from 0.100% to 0.350% per annum, based upon our debt ratings, and is currently
0.125%.

2019 Term Loan. On February 14, 2019, we entered into a $1.3 billion unsecured term loan (the “2019 Term Loan”),
the net proceeds of which were used to repay outstanding indebtedness under the 2018 Term Loan. The 2019 Term
Loan matures on February 13, 2020 and has an interest rate that ranges between 0.550% and 1.375% above LIBOR
for LIBOR based borrowings or up to 0.375% above the defined base rate for base rate borrowings, in each case based
upon our debt ratings. The current margin over LIBOR for the 2019 Term Loan is 0.800%. Any outstanding principal
and accrued but unpaid interest will be due and payable in full at maturity.

The 2013 Credit Facility, the 2014 Credit Facility, the 2013 Term Loan and the 2019 Term Loan do not require
amortization of principal and may be paid prior to maturity in whole or in part at our option without penalty or
premium. We have the option of choosing either a defined base rate or the LIBOR as the applicable base rate for
borrowings under these bank facilities.

The loan agreements for each of the 2013 Credit Facility, the 2014 Credit Facility, the 2013 Term Loan and the 2019
Term Loan contain certain reporting, information, financial and operating covenants and other restrictions (including
limitations on additional debt, guaranties, sales of assets and liens) with which we must comply. Failure to comply
with the financial and operating covenants of the loan agreements could not only prevent us from being able to borrow
additional funds under the revolving credit facilities, but may constitute a default, which could result in, among other
things, the amounts outstanding, including all accrued interest and unpaid fees, becoming immediately due and
payable.

India Indebtedness. Amounts outstanding and key terms of the India indebtedness consisted of the following as
of December 31, 2018 (in millions, except percentages):

Amount Amount

Outstanding Outstanding Interest Rate (Range) Maturity Date (Range)

(INR) (USD)
Term
looyEs1 $ 240.1 8.75% - 8.95% January 1, 2019 - November 30, 2024
ey

— $ — 8.40% - 8.75% March 18, 2019 - October 23, 2019
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Working
capital
facilities (2)

(1)In January 2019, we repaid approximately 5.0 billion INR ($72.0 million) of India indebtedness.

(2)5.7 billion INR ($81.8 million) of borrowing capacity as of December 31, 2018.

The India indebtedness includes several term loans, with maturities ranging from one to ten years, which are generally
secured by the borrower’s short-term and long-term assets. Each of the term loans bear interest at the applicable bank’s
Marginal Cost of Funds based Lending Rate (as defined in the applicable agreement), plus a spread. Interest rates on
the term loans are fixed until certain reset dates. Generally, the term loans can be repaid without penalty on the reset
dates; repayments at dates other than the reset dates are subject to prepayment penalties, typically of 1% to 2%.
Scheduled repayment terms include either ratable or staggered amortization with repayments typically commencing
between six and thirty-six months after the initial disbursement of funds.

The India indebtedness also includes several working capital facilities, most of which are subject to annual renewal,
and which are generally secured by the borrower’s short-term and long-term assets. The working capital facilities bear
interest at rates that consist of the applicable bank’s Marginal Cost of Funds based Lending Rate (as defined in the
applicable agreement), plus a spread. Generally, the working capital facilities are payable on demand prior to maturity.

43

81



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents

Stock Repurchase Programs. We have two stock repurchase programs, the 2011 Buyback and the 2017 Buyback.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, we repurchased 1,647,489 shares of our common stock under the 2011
Buyback for an aggregate of $232.8 million, including commissions and fees. We had no repurchases under the 2017
Buyback.

Under each program, we are authorized to purchase shares from time to time through open market purchases, in
privately negotiated transactions not to exceed market prices, and (with respect to such open market purchases)
pursuant to plans adopted in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act in accordance with securities laws
and other legal requirements, and subject to market conditions and other factors.

We expect to continue managing the pacing of the remaining $2.1 billion under the Buyback Programs in response to
general market conditions and other relevant factors. We expect to fund further repurchases of our common stock
through a combination of cash on hand, cash generated by operations and borrowings under our credit facilities.
Purchases under the Buyback Programs are subject to us having available cash to fund repurchases.

Sales of Equity Securities. We receive proceeds from sales of our equity securities pursuant to our employee stock
purchase plan (the “ESPP”) and upon exercise of stock options granted under our equity incentive plans. For the year
ended December 31, 2018, we received an aggregate of $98.9 million in proceeds upon exercises of stock options and
sales pursuant to the ESPP.

Distributions. As a REIT, we must annually distribute to our stockholders an amount equal to at least 90% of our
REIT taxable income (determined before the deduction for distributed earnings and excluding any net capital gain).
Generally, we have distributed, and expect to continue to distribute, all or substantially all of our REIT taxable income
after taking into consideration our utilization of NOLs. We have distributed an aggregate of approximately $5.7
billion to our common stockholders, including the dividend paid in January 2019, primarily classified as ordinary
income that may be treated as qualified REIT dividends under Section 199A of the Code for taxable years ending after
2017 and before 2026.

The amount, timing and frequency of future distributions will be at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors and
will depend on various factors, a number of which may be beyond our control, including our financial condition and
operating cash flows, the amount required to maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT and reduce any income
and excise taxes that we otherwise would be required to pay, limitations on distributions in our existing and future
debt and preferred equity instruments, our ability to utilize NOLSs to offset our distribution requirements, limitations
on our ability to fund distributions using cash generated through our TRSs and other factors that our Board of
Directors may deem relevant.

In March 2015, we issued 5.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series B (the “Series B Preferred Stock™) with
a dividend rate of 5.50%. Dividends were payable quarterly in arrears, subject to declaration by our Board of
Directors. On February 15, 2018, we paid the final dividend of $13.75 per share, or $18.9 million, to holders of the
Series B Preferred Stock of record at the close of business on February 1, 2018. On February 15, 2018, all outstanding
shares of the Series B Preferred Stock converted at a rate of 8.7420 per share of Series B Preferred Stock, or 0.8742
per depositary share, each representing a 1/10th interest in a share of Series B Preferred Stock, into shares of our
common stock pursuant to the provisions of the Certificate of Designations governing the Series B Preferred Stock.
As a result of the conversions of the Series B Preferred Stock in 2018, we issued an aggregate of 12,020,064 shares of
our common stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we paid $3.01 per share, or $1.3 billion, to common stockholders of
record. In addition, we declared a distribution of $0.84 per share, or $370.5 million, paid on January 14, 2019 to our
common stockholders of record at the close of business on December 27, 2018.

We accrue distributions on unvested restricted stock units, which are payable upon vesting. The amount accrued for
distributions payable related to unvested restricted stock units was $13.7 million and $10.1 million as of December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we paid $4.3 million of distributions upon
the vesting of restricted stock units.

For more details on the cash distributions paid to our common and preferred stockholders during the year ended
December 31, 2018, see note 15 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report.
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Contractual Obligations. The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2018 (in
millions):
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Contractual Obligations

Long-term debt, including current

portion:

American Tower Corporation

debt:
2018 Term Loan (1)
2013 Credit Facility
2013 Term Loan
2014 Credit Facility
3.40% senior notes (2)
2.800% senior notes
5.050% senior notes
3.300% senior notes
3.450% senior notes
5.900% senior notes
2.250% senior notes
4.70% senior notes
3.50% senior notes
3.000% senior notes
5.00% senior notes
1.375% senior notes
4.000% senior notes
4.400% senior notes
1.950% senior notes
3.375% senior notes
3.125% senior notes
3.55% senior notes
3.600% senior notes
Total American Tower
Corporation debt

American Tower subsidiary debt:
Series 2013-2A securities (3) —
Series 2018-1A securities (3) —

Series 2015-1 notes (4)
Series 2015-2 notes (5)
India indebtedness (6)
India preference shares (7)
Shareholder loan (8)
Other subsidiary debt (9)
Total American Tower
subsidiary debt
Long-term obligations,
excluding capital leases
Cash interest expense
Capital lease payments
(including interest)

Total debt service obligations 3,466.5
Operating lease payments (10) 926.0

2019 2020
$1,500.0 $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$1,000.0 $—
$— $750.0
$— $700.0
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
$— $—
2,500.0 1,450.0
— 350.0
101.9 30.2
23.9 —
59.9 —
38.1 332
223.8 4134
2,723.8 1,863.4
702.0  635.0
40.7 32.7

2,531.1

904.2
7.7 6.1

2021

64.7
94.9

1,994.9
560.0
27.8

2,582.7
879.8
7.0

2022 2023

$— $— $—
$1,875.0 $— $—
$— $— $1,000.0
$— $— $—
$— $— $—
$— $— $—
$— $— $—
$— $— $—
$— $— $—
$— $— $—
$600.0 $— $—
$700.0 $— $—
$— $1,000.0 $—
$— $700.0 $—
$— $— $1,000.0
$— $— $573.3
$— $— $750.0
$— $— $500.0
$— $— $573.3
$— $— $1,000.0
$— $— $400.0
$— $— $750.0
— — 700.0
3,175.0 1,700.0 7,246.6
— 1,300.0 —

— — 500.0
— — 525.0
30.2 30.2 17.4
17.3 — —
47.5 1,330.2 1,042.4
3,222.5 3,030.2 8,289.0
434.3 315.8 567.7
23.7 19.2 117.5
3,680.5 3,365.2 8,974.2
8342 7926  6,173.1
39.8 14.6 2,738.5

Thereafter Total

1,500.0
1,875.0
1,000.0
1,000.0
750.0
700.0
750.0
650.0
500.0
600.0
700.0
1,000.0
700.0
1,000.0
573.3
750.0
500.0
573.3
1,000.0
400.0
750.0
700.0

17,971.6

1,300.0
500.0
350.0
525.0
240.1
23.9
59.9
153.3

3,152.2

21,123.8
3,214.8
261.6

24,600.2
10,509.9
2,813.7
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Other non-current liabilities
(11)(12)
Total $4,400.2 $3,441.4 $3,469.5 $4,554.5 $4,172.4 $17,885.8 $37,923.8

(1)Repaid in full on February 14, 2019.

(2)Repaid in full on the maturity date in February 2019 with borrowings from the 2013 Credit Facility and the 2014
Credit Facility.

(3)Represents anticipated repayment date; final legal maturity is March 15, 2048.

(4)Represents anticipated repayment date; final legal maturity is June 15, 2045.

(5)Represents anticipated repayment date; final legal maturity is June 15, 2050.

©) Denominated in INR. Debt includes India working capital facilities, remaining debt assumed by us in

connection with the Viom Acquisition and debt that has been entered into by ATC TIPL.
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(7)Mandatorily redeemable preference shares (the “Preference Shares™) classified as debt. The Preference Shares have a
dividend rate of 10.25% per annum. Denominated in INR. We intend to redeem these shares on March 2, 2019.

(8)Reflects balances owed to our joint venture partner in Ghana. The Ghana loan is denominated in GHS.
Includes our South African credit facility, which is denominated in ZAR and amortizes through December 17,
2020, our Colombian credit facility, which is denominated in COP and amortizes through April 24, 2021, our
Brazil credit facility, which is denominated in BRL and matures on January 15, 2022, debt entered into by our
Kenyan subsidiary in connection with an acquisition of sites in Kenya (the “Kenya Debt”), which is required to be
paid either (i) in future installments subject to the satisfaction of specified conditions or (ii) three years from the
note origination date, and U.S. subsidiary debt related to a seller-financed acquisition.

Includes payments under non-cancellable initial terms, as well as payments for certain renewal periods at our
(10)option, which we expect to renew because failure to do so could result in a loss of the applicable communications

sites and related revenues from tenant leases.

Primarily represents our asset retirement obligations and excludes certain other non-current liabilities included in
(11)our consolidated balance sheet, primarily our straight-line rent liability for which cash payments are included in
operating lease payments and unearned revenue that is not payable in cash.

Excludes $85.8 million of liabilities for unrecognized tax positions and $19.1 million of accrued income tax
related interest and penalties included in our consolidated balance sheet as we are uncertain as to when and if the
amounts may be settled. Settlement of such amounts could require the use of cash flows generated from
operations. We expect the unrecognized tax benefits to change over the next 12 months if certain tax matters
ultimately settle with the applicable taxing jurisdiction during this timeframe. However, based on the status of
these items and the amount of uncertainty associated with the outcome and timing of audit settlements, we are
currently unable to estimate the impact of the amount of such changes, if any, to previously recorded uncertain tax
positions.

€))

12)

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. We have no material off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in
Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation S-K.
Factors Affecting Sources of Liquidity

Our liquidity depends on our ability to generate cash flow from operating activities, borrow funds under our credit
facilities and maintain compliance with the contractual agreements governing our indebtedness. We believe that the
debt agreements discussed below represent our material debt agreements that contain covenants, our compliance with
which would be material to an investor’s understanding of our financial results and the impact of those results on our
liquidity.

Internally Generated Funds. Because the majority of our tenant leases are multiyear contracts, a significant majority of
the revenues generated by our property operations as of the end of 2018 is recurring revenue that we should continue
to receive in future periods. Accordingly, a key factor affecting our ability to generate cash flow from operating
activities is to maintain this recurring revenue and to convert it into operating profit by minimizing operating costs and
fully achieving our operating efficiencies. In addition, our ability to increase cash flow from operating activities
depends upon the demand for our communications sites and our related services and our ability to increase the
utilization of our existing communications sites.

Restrictions Under Loan Agreements Relating to Our Credit Facilities. The loan agreements for the 2013 Credit
Facility, the 2014 Credit Facility, the 2013 Term Loan, the 2018 Term Loan and the 2019 Term Loan contain certain
financial and operating covenants and other restrictions applicable to us and our subsidiaries that are not designated as
unrestricted subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. These restrictions include limitations on additional debt, distributions
and dividends, guaranties, sales of assets and liens. The loan agreements also contain covenants that establish financial
tests with which we and our restricted subsidiaries must comply related to total leverage and senior secured leverage,
as set forth in the table below. In the event that our debt ratings fall below investment grade, we must also maintain an
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interest coverage ratio of Adjusted EBITDA to Interest Expense (each as defined in the applicable loan agreement) of
at least 2.50:1.00. As of December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with each of these covenants.

Compliance Tests For The 12 Months Ended
December 31, 2018

($ in billions)
Ratio (1) Additional Debt Capacity  Capacity for Adjusted EBITDA
Under Covenants (2) Decrease Under Covenants (3)
. Total Debt to Adjusted
E;’j:f;liagﬁzoml EBITDA ~$7.6 ~$1.3
g <6.00:1.00
. . Senior Secured Debt to
g:flfr";édizirsaef‘gaﬁo Adjusted EBITDA ~$11.2 (4) ~$3.7 (4)
g <3.00:1.00
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(1) Each component of the ratio as defined in the applicable loan agreement.

(2) Assumes no change to Adjusted EBITDA.

(3) Assumes no change to our debt levels.

(4) Effectively, however, additional Senior Secured Debt under this ratio would be limited to the capacity under the
Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio.

The loan agreements for our credit facilities also contain reporting and information covenants that require us to
provide financial and operating information to the lenders within certain time periods. If we are unable to provide the
required information on a timely basis, we would be in breach of these covenants.

Failure to comply with the financial maintenance tests and certain other covenants of the loan agreements for our
credit facilities could not only prevent us from being able to borrow additional funds under these credit facilities, but
may constitute a default under these credit facilities, which could result in, among other things, the amounts
outstanding, including all accrued interest and unpaid fees, becoming immediately due and payable. If this were to
occur, we may not have sufficient cash on hand to repay such indebtedness. The key factors affecting our ability to
comply with the debt covenants described above are our financial performance relative to the financial maintenance
tests defined in the loan agreements for these credit facilities and our ability to fund our debt service obligations.
Based upon our current expectations, we believe our operating results during the next 12 months will be sufficient to
comply with these covenants.

Restrictions Under Agreements Relating to the 2015 Securitization and the Trust Securitizations. The indenture and
related supplemental indentures governing the American Tower Secured Revenue Notes, Series 2015-1, Class A (the
“Series 2015-1 Notes”) and the American Tower Secured Revenue Notes, Series 2015-2, Class A (the “Series 2015-2
Notes,” and, together with the Series 2015-1 Notes, the “2015 Notes”) issued by GTP Acquisition Partners I, LLC (“GTP
Acquisition Partners”) in the 2015 Securitization and the loan agreement related to the Trust Securitizations include
certain financial ratios and operating covenants and other restrictions customary for transactions subject to rated
securitizations. Among other things, GTP Acquisition Partners and the AMT Asset Subs are prohibited from incurring
other indebtedness for borrowed money or further encumbering their assets, subject to customary carve-outs for
ordinary course trade payables and permitted encumbrances (as defined in the applicable agreement).

Under the agreements, amounts due will be paid from the cash flows generated by the assets securing the 2015 Notes
or the Loan, as applicable, which must be deposited into certain reserve accounts, and thereafter distributed solely
pursuant to the terms of the applicable agreement. On a monthly basis, after payment of all required amounts under
the applicable agreement, subject to the conditions described in the table below, the excess cash flows generated from
the operation of such assets are released to GTP Acquisition Partners or the AMT Asset Subs, as applicable, which
can then be distributed to, and used by, us. As of December 31, 2018, $80.1 million held in such reserve accounts was
classified as restricted cash.

Certain information with respect to the 2015 Securitization and the Trust Securitizations is set forth below. The debt
service coverage ratio (“DSCR”) is generally calculated as the ratio of the net cash flow (as defined in the applicable
agreement) to the amount of interest, servicing fees and trustee fees required to be paid over the succeeding 12 months
on the principal amount of the 2015 Notes or the Loan, as applicable, that will be outstanding on the payment date
following such date of determination.
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Conditions Limiting Capacity  Capacity
Distributions of Excess for for
Excess Cash . .
Cash .. Decrease in Decrease in
Distributed DSCR as
.. . Net Cash  Net Cash
Issuer or  Notes/Securities During Yearof
Flow Flow
Borrower  Issued Cash Tra AmortizationEnded DecemberBefore Before
P December 31,2018

DSCR  Period Triggering Triggering
Cash Trap Minimum
DSCR (1) DSCR (1)
(in (in

millions)  millions)

31,2018

(in millions)

American Tower

2015 GTP o Secured R@venue Tjs?:é
e Acquisition Notes, Series 3)@) $197.3 8.67x $196.9 $200.9
Securitization . Quarterly
Partners 2015-1 and Series 2)
2015-2
Secured Tower
Revenue
Securities, Series
2013-2A, Secured
Tower Revenue 1.30x,
Trust AMT Asset Securities, Series Tested
Securitizations Subs 2018-1, Subclass Quarterly 3)G) $612.9 10.65x  §558.4 $567.4

A and Secured (2)
Tower Revenue
Securities, Series
2018-1, Subclass

R

Based on the net cash flow of the applicable issuer or borrower as of December 31, 2018 and the expenses payable
over the next 12 months on the 2015 Notes or the Loan, as applicable.

Once triggered, a Cash Trap DSCR condition continues to exist until the DSCR exceeds the Cash Trap DSCR for
two consecutive calendar quarters. During a Cash Trap DSCR condition, all cash flow in excess of amounts
required to make debt service payments, fund required reserves, pay management fees and budgeted operating
expenses and make other payments required under the applicable transaction documents, referred to as excess cash
flow, will be deposited into a reserve account (the “Cash Trap Reserve Account”) instead of being released to the
applicable issuer or borrower.

An amortization period commences if the DSCR is equal to or below 1.15x (the “Minimum DSCR”) at the end of
(3)any calendar quarter and continues to exist until the DSCR exceeds the Minimum DSCR for two consecutive
calendar quarters.

No amortization period is triggered if the outstanding principal amount of a series has not been repaid in full on the
applicable anticipated repayment date. However, in such event, additional interest will accrue on the unpaid
principal balance of the applicable series, and such series will begin to amortize on a monthly basis from excess
cash flow.

An amortization period exists if the outstanding principal amount has not been paid in full on the applicable
anticipated repayment date and continues to exist until such principal has been repaid in full.

ey

2)

“)

&)

A failure to meet the noted DSCR tests could prevent GTP Acquisition Partners or the AMT Asset Subs from
distributing excess cash flow to us, which could affect our ability to fund our capital expenditures, including tower
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construction and acquisitions and meet REIT distribution requirements. During an “amortization period,” all excess cash
flow and any amounts in the applicable Cash Trap Reserve Account would be applied to pay principal of the 2015
Notes or the Loan, as applicable, on each monthly payment date, and so would not be available for distribution to us.
Further, additional interest will begin to accrue with respect to any series of the 2015 Notes or subclass of the Loan
from and after the anticipated repayment date at a per annum rate determined in accordance with the applicable
agreement. With respect to the 2015 Notes, upon the occurrence and during an event of default, the applicable trustee
may, in its discretion or at the direction of holders of more than 50% of the aggregate outstanding principal of any
series of the 2015 Notes, declare such series of 2015 Notes immediately due and payable, in which case any excess
cash flow would need to be used to pay holders of such notes. Furthermore, if GTP Acquisition Partners or the AMT
Asset Subs were to default on a series of the 2015 Notes or the Loan, the applicable trustee may seek to foreclose
upon or otherwise convert the ownership of all or any portion of the 3,556 communications sites that secure the 2015
Notes or the 5,116 broadcast and wireless communications towers and related assets that secure the Loan,
respectively, in which case we could lose such sites and the revenue associated with those assets.

As discussed above, we use our available liquidity and seek new sources of liquidity to fund capital expenditures,
future growth and expansion initiatives, satisfy our distribution requirements and repay or repurchase our debt. If we
determine that it is desirable or necessary to raise additional capital, we may be unable to do so, or such additional
financing may be prohibitively expensive or restricted by the terms of our outstanding indebtedness. If we are unable
to raise capital when our needs arise, we may not be able to fund capital expenditures, future growth and expansion
initiatives, satisfy our REIT distribution requirements and debt service obligations or refinance our existing
indebtedness.
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In addition, our liquidity depends on our ability to generate cash flow from operating activities. As set forth under

Item 1A of this Annual Report under the caption “Risk Factors,” we derive a substantial portion of our revenues from a
small number of tenants and, consequently, a failure by a significant tenant to perform its contractual obligations to us
could adversely affect our cash flow and liquidity.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, as well as related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We evaluate our policies and
estimates on an ongoing basis. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We have reviewed our policies and estimates to determine our critical accounting policies for the year ended
December 31, 2018. We have identified the following policies as critical to an understanding of our results of
operations and financial condition. This is not a comprehensive list of our accounting policies. See note 1 to our
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report for a summary of our significant accounting policies.
In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP, with no need for
management’s judgment in its application. There are also areas in which management’s judgment in selecting any
available alternative would not produce a materially different result.

Impairment of Assets—Assets Subject to Depreciation and Amortization: We review long-lived assets for impairment at
{east annually or whenever events, changes in circumstances or other indicators or evidence indicate that the carrying
amount of our assets may not be recoverable.

We review our tower portfolio and network location intangible assets for indicators of impairment at the lowest level
of identifiable cash flows, typically at an individual tower basis. Possible indicators include a tower not having current
tenant leases or having expenses in excess of revenues. A cash flow modeling approach is utilized to assess
recoverability and incorporates, among other items, the tower location, the tower location demographics, the timing of
additions of new tenants, lease rates and estimated length of tenancy and ongoing cash requirements.

We review our tenant-related intangible assets on a tenant by tenant basis for indicators of impairment, such as high
levels of turnover or attrition, non-renewal of a significant number of contracts or the cancellation or termination of a
relationship. We assess recoverability by determining whether the carrying amount of the tenant-related intangible
assets will be recovered primarily through projected undiscounted future cash flows.

If the sum of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows of our long-lived assets is less than the carrying amount of
the assets, an impairment loss may be recognized. An impairment loss would be based on the fair value of the asset,
which is based on an estimate of discounted future cash flows to be provided from the asset. We record any related
impairment charge in the period in which we identify such impairment.

On February 28, 2018, one of our tenants in Asia, Aircel, filed for bankruptcy protection. We performed an
impairment test based on current expectations of the impact of the bankruptcy on projected cash flows for assets
related to Aircel. These assets consisted primarily of towers, network location intangibles and tenant-related
intangibles. As a result, an impairment of $40.1 million was taken on the tower and network intangible assets. We also
fully impaired the tenant-related intangible asset for Aircel, which resulted in an impairment of $107.3 million during
the year ended December 31, 2018.

In October 2017, one of our tenants in Asia, Tata Teleservices, informed the Department of Telecommunications in
India of its intent to exit the wireless telecommunications business and announced plans to transfer its business to
another telecommunications provider. On October 23, 2018, we entered into agreements with Tata for a settlement
and release of certain contractual lease obligations effective November 1, 2018. As part of the arrangement, we
received an upfront one-time INR-denominated cash payment equal to approximately $345.5 million for the
termination of lease obligations with Tata Teleservices in India. In addition, we entered into new leasing arrangements
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with a number of Tata-affiliated entities. As a result of the settlement and new leasing agreements, we expect an
approximately 80% reduction in revenues from Tata as compared to what had previously been generated from the
terminated leases. In connection with the acceleration of the contractual arrangements, we also accelerated the
amortization of our tenant-
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related intangible asset with Tata Teleservices, which resulted in an additional amortization expense of $327.5 million
in 2018. We also recorded an impairment of $164.2 million for tower and network location intangible assets as a result
of the settlement.

Impairment of Assets—Goodwill: We review goodwill for impairment at least annually (as of December 31) or
whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

Goodwill is recorded in the applicable segment and assessed for impairment at the reporting unit level. We utilize the
two step impairment test and employ a discounted cash flow analysis when testing goodwill for impairment. The key
assumptions utilized in the discounted cash flow analysis include current operating performance, terminal sales
growth rate, management’s expectations of future operating results and cash requirements, the current weighted
average cost of capital and an expected tax rate. Under the first step of this test, we compare the fair value of the
reporting unit, as calculated under an income approach using future discounted cash flows, to the carrying amount of
the applicable reporting unit. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, we conduct the second step of this test, in
which the implied fair value of the applicable reporting unit’s goodwill is compared to the carrying amount of that
goodwill. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment loss would be recognized
for the amount of the excess.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, no potential impairment was identified as the fair value of each of our
reporting units was in excess of its carrying amount. The fair value of our India reporting unit, which is based on the
present value of forecasted future value cash flows (the income approach) exceeded the carrying value by
approximately $311.1 million, or 8%. Key assumptions include future revenue growth rates and operating margins,
capital expenditures, terminal period growth rate and the weighted-average cost of capital, which were determined
considering historical data and current assumptions related to the impacts of the carrier consolidation.

For this reporting unit, we performed a sensitivity analysis on our significant assumptions and determined that a (i)
6% reduction of projected revenues, (ii) 58 basis point increase in the weighted-average cost of capital or (iii) 28%
reduction in terminal sales growth rate, individually, each of which we determined to be reasonable, would impact our
conclusion that the fair value of the India reporting unit exceeds its carrying value. Events that could negatively affect
our India reporting unit’s financial results include increased customer attrition exceeding our forecast resulting from
the ongoing carrier consolidation, carrier tenant bankruptcies and other factors set forth in Item 1A of this Annual
Report under the caption “Risk Factors.”

The carrying value of goodwill in the India reporting unit was $1,045.5 million as of December 31, 2018, which
represents 19% of our consolidated balance of $5,501.9 million.

Asset Retirement Obligations: When required, we recognize the fair value of obligations to remove our tower assets
and remediate the leased land upon which certain of our tower assets are located. Generally, the associated retirement
costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related tower assets and depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and the liability is accreted through the obligation’s estimated settlement date.

We updated our assumptions used in estimating our aggregate asset retirement obligation, which resulted in a net
decrease in the estimated obligation of $14.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2018. The change in 2018
primarily resulted from changes in timing of certain settlement date and cost assumptions. Fair value estimates of
liabilities for asset retirement obligations generally involve discounting of estimated future cash flows. Periodic
accretion of such liabilities due to the passage of time is included in Depreciation, amortization and accretion expense
in the consolidated statements of operations. The significant assumptions used in estimating our aggregate asset
retirement obligation are: timing of tower removals; cost of tower removals; timing and number of land lease
renewals; expected inflation rates; and credit-adjusted risk-free interest rates that approximate our incremental
borrowing rate. While we feel the assumptions are appropriate, there can be no assurances that actual costs and the
probability of incurring obligations will not differ from these estimates. We will continue to review these assumptions
periodically and we may need to adjust them as necessary.

Acquisitions: We evaluate each of our acquisitions under the accounting guidance framework to determine whether to

treat an acquisition as an asset acquisition or a business combination. For those transactions treated as asset
acquisitions, the purchase price is allocated to the assets acquired, with no recognition of goodwill. For those
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acquisitions that meet the definition of a business combination, we apply the acquisition method of accounting where
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at fair value at the date of each acquisition, and the results of
operations are included with our results from the dates of the respective acquisitions. Any excess of the purchase price
paid over the amounts recognized for assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. We continue to
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evaluate acquisitions accounted for as business combinations for a period not to exceed one year after the applicable
acquisition date of each transaction to determine whether any additional adjustments are needed to the allocation of
the purchase price paid for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed is typically determined by using either estimates of replacement costs or discounted cash flow
valuation methods. When determining the fair value of tangible assets acquired, we must estimate the cost to replace
the asset with a new asset taking into consideration such factors as age, condition and the economic useful life of the
asset. When determining the fair value of intangible assets acquired, we must estimate the applicable discount rate and
the timing and amount of future tenant cash flows, including rate and terms of renewal and attrition.

Revenue Recognition: Our revenue from leasing arrangements, including fixed escalation clauses present in
non-cancellable lease arrangements, is reported on a straight-line basis over the term of the respective leases when
collectibility is probable. Escalation clauses tied to the Consumer Price Index or other inflation-based indices, and
other incentives present in lease agreements with our tenants are excluded from the straight-line calculation. Total
property straight-line revenues for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $87.6 million, $194.4
million and $131.7 million, respectively. Amounts billed upfront in connection with the execution of lease agreements
are initially deferred and reflected in Unearned revenue in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and
recognized as revenue over the terms of the applicable lease arrangements. Amounts billed or received for services
prior to being earned are deferred and reflected in Unearned revenue in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
until the criteria for recognition have been met.

We derive the largest portion of our revenues, corresponding trade receivables and the related deferred rent asset from
a small number of tenants in the telecommunications industry, with 51% of our revenues derived from four tenants. In
addition, we have concentrations of credit risk in certain geographic areas. We mitigate the concentrations of credit
risk with respect to notes and trade receivables by actively monitoring the creditworthiness of our borrowers and
tenants. In recognizing tenant revenue we assess the collectibility of both the amounts billed and the portion
recognized on a straight-line basis. This assessment takes tenant credit risk and business and industry conditions into
consideration to ultimately determine the collectibility of the amounts billed. To the extent the amounts, based on
management’s estimates, may not be collectible, recognition is deferred until such point as the uncertainty is resolved.
Any amounts that were previously recognized as revenue and subsequently determined to be uncollectible are charged
to bad debt expense. Accounts receivable are reported net of allowances for doubtful accounts related to estimated
losses resulting from a tenant’s inability to make required payments and allowances for amounts invoiced whose
collectibility is not reasonably assured.

Rent Expense: Many of the leases underlying our tower sites have fixed rent escalations, which provide for periodic
increases in the amount of ground rent payable over time. In addition, certain of our tenant leases require us to
exercise available renewal options pursuant to the underlying ground lease if the tenant exercises its renewal option.
We calculate straight-line ground rent expense for these leases based on the fixed non-cancellable term of the
underlying ground lease plus all periods, if any, for which failure to renew the lease imposes an economic penalty to
us such that renewal appears to be reasonably assured.

Effective January 1, 2019, we will adopt the new lease accounting guidance, which requires us to recognize a Right of
Use (“ROU”) lease asset and lease liability for operating and finance leases. The ROU asset will be measured as the sum
of the lease liability, prepaid or accrued lease payments, any initial direct costs incurred and any other applicable
amounts.

The calculation of the lease liability requires us to make certain assumptions for each lease, including lease term and
discount rate implicit in each lease, which could significantly impact the gross lease obligation, the duration and the
present value of the lease liability. When calculating the lease term, we will consider the renewal, cancellation and
termination rights available to us and the lessor. We will determine the discount rate by calculating the incremental
borrowing rate on a collateralized basis at the commencement of a lease or upon a change in the lease term.

dncome Taxes: Accounting for income taxes requires us to estimate the timing and impact of amounts recorded in our
financial statements that may be recognized differently for tax purposes. To the extent that the timing of amounts
recognized for financial reporting purposes differs from the timing of recognition for tax reporting purposes, deferred
tax assets or liabilities are required to be recorded. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the rate at
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which we expect these items to be reflected in our tax returns, which may differ from the current rate. We do not

expect to pay federal income taxes on our REIT taxable income.
We periodically review our deferred tax assets, and we record a valuation allowance if, based on the available

evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Management
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assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated
to use the existing deferred tax assets. Valuation allowances would be reversed as a reduction to the provision for
income taxes, if related deferred tax assets are deemed realizable based on changes in facts and circumstances relevant
to the assets’ recoverability.

We recognize the benefit of uncertain tax positions when, in management’s judgment, it is more likely than not that
positions we have taken in our tax returns will be sustained upon examination, which are measured at the largest
amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. We adjust our tax liabilities when our
judgment changes as a result of the evaluation of new information or information not previously available. Due to the
complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is materially different
from our current estimate of the tax liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income
tax expense in the period in which additional information is available or the position is ultimately settled under audit.
The December 2017 legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”) significantly
changed how the U.S. taxes corporations. The Tax Act contains several key provisions including, among other things,
a one-time mandatory deemed repatriation of all post-1986 untaxed foreign earnings and profits, a reduction in the
corporate income rate from 35% to 21% for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 and the introduction of a
new U.S. tax on certain off-shore earnings.

The SEC staff issued guidance to address the application of GAAP in situations when a registrant does not have the
necessary information available, prepared or analyzed in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain
income tax effects of the Tax Act and allows the registrant to record provisional amounts during a measurement
period not to extend beyond one year from the enactment date. We recognized the provisional impacts of the Tax Act
in our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 and finalized these amounts in 2018
with no significant changes to preliminary amounts.

Accounting Standards Update
For a discussion of recent accounting standards updates, see note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included

in this Annual Report.
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ITEM 7A.QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2018 about our market risk exposure associated with
changing interest rates. For long-term debt obligations, the table presents principal cash flows by maturity date and
average interest rates related to outstanding obligations. For interest rate swaps, the table presents notional principal
amounts and weighted-average interest rates (in millions, except percentages). For more information, see Item 7 of

this Annual Report under the caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” and note 8 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual
Report.

Long-Term Debt 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter Total Fair Value
F;;‘edRateDebt $1217.5 $1.851.8 $2.001.9 $1347.1 $3.043.1 $7367.7 $16.829.1 $16.604.0

Weighted-Average
Interest Rate (a)
Variable Rate
Debt (b)
Weighted-Average
Interest Rate (b)(c)

5.01 % 3.85 % 4.24 % 3.74 % 3.27 % 3.58 %
$1,537.5 $32.6 $12.3 $1,891.7 $— $1,000.0 $4,474.1 $4,466.6

3.54 % 8.74 % 8.14 % 3.66 P — % 3.66 %

Interest Rate

Swaps

Hedged

Variable-Rate $4.6 $6.2 $6.1 $— $— $— $16.9 $0.3 @)
Notional Amount

Fixed Rate Debt

Rate (e)

Hedged

Fixed-Rate $— $— $— $600.0 $500.0 $— $1,100.0 $33.5 ®
Notional Amount

Variable Rate

Debt Rate (g)

9.74 %o

3.54 Yo

Fixed rate debt consisted of: Securities issued in the Trust Securitizations; the 3.40% senior notes due 2019;
Securities issued in the 2015 Securitization; the 2.800% senior notes due 2020; the 5.050% senior notes due 2020;
the 3.300% senior notes due 2021; the 3.450% senior notes due 2021; the 5.900% senior notes due 2021; the
2.250% senior notes due 2022 (the “2.250% Notes™); the 4.70% senior notes due 2022; the 3.50% senior notes due

(a)2023; the 3.000% Notes; the 5.00% senior notes due 2024; the 1.375% Notes; the 4.000% senior notes due 2025;
the 4.400% senior notes due 2026; the 1.950% Notes; the 3.375% senior notes due 2026; the 3.125% senior notes
due 2027; the 3.55% Notes; the 3.600% Notes; the Ghana loan which matures December 31, 2019; the India
indebtedness, with maturity dates ranging from January 1, 2019 to November 30, 2024; the Kenya Debt; U.S.
subsidiary debt related to a seller-financed acquisition; and other debt including capital leases.

Variable rate debt consisted of: the 2018 Term Loan, which matures on March 29, 2019; the 2013 Term Loan,
which matures on January 31, 2024; the 2013 Credit Facility, which matures on June 28, 2022; the 2014 Credit
(b)Facility, which matures on January 31, 2024; the South African credit facility, which amortizes through December
17, 2020; the Colombian credit facility, which amortizes through April 24, 2021; and the Brazil credit facility,

which matures on January 15, 2022.

(c)Based on rates effective as of December 31, 2018.

) As of December 31, 2018, the interest rate swap agreement in Colombia was included in Other non-current
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
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Represents the fixed rate of interest based on contractual notional amount as a percentage of the total notional
(e)amount. The interest rate consists of fixed interest of 5.74%, per the interest rate agreement, and a fixed margin of
4.00%, per the loan agreement for the Colombian credit facility.

As of December 31, 2018, the interest rate swap agreements in the U.S. were included in Other non-current
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Represents the weighted average variable rate of interest based on contractual notional amount as a percentage of
@ total notional amounts.

®

Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2018, we have one interest rate swap agreement related to debt in Colombia. This swap has been
designated as a cash flow hedge, has a notional amount of $16.9 million and has an interest rate of 5.74% and expires
in April 2021. We have three interest rate swap agreements related to the 2.250% Notes. These swaps have been
designated as fair value hedges, have an aggregate notional amount of $600.0 million and an interest rate of
one-month LIBOR plus applicable spreads and expire in January 2022. In addition, we have three interest rate swap
agreements related to a portion of the 3.000% Notes. These swaps have been designated as fair value hedges, have an
aggregate notional amount of $500.0 million and have an interest rate of one-month LIBOR plus applicable spreads
and expire in June 2023.

Changes in interest rates can cause interest charges to fluctuate on our variable rate debt. Variable rate debt as of
December 31, 2018 consisted of $1.9 billion under the 2013 Credit Facility, $1.0 billion under the 2013 Term Loan,
$1.5 billion under the 2018 Term Loan, $600.0 million under the interest rate swap agreements related to the 2.250%
Notes, $500.0 million under the interest rate swap agreements related to the 3.000% Notes, $40.6 million under the
South African credit facility, $16.9 million under the Colombian credit facility after giving effect to our interest rate
swap agreements and $24.7 million under the Brazil credit facility. A 10% increase in current interest rates would
result in an additional $20.2 million of interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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Foreign Currency Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates primarily in connection with our
foreign subsidiaries and joint ventures internationally. Any transaction denominated in a currency other than the

U.S. Dollar is reported in U.S. Dollars at the applicable exchange rate. All assets and liabilities are translated into
U.S. Dollars at exchange rates in effect at the end of the applicable fiscal reporting period and all revenues and
expenses are translated at average rates for the period. The cumulative translation effect is included in equity as a
component of Accumulated other comprehensive loss. We may enter into additional foreign currency financial
instruments in anticipation of future transactions to minimize the impact of foreign currency fluctuations. For the year
ended December 31, 2018, 47% of our revenues and 57% of our total operating expenses were denominated in foreign
currencies.

As of December 31, 2018, we have incurred intercompany debt that is not considered to be permanently reinvested,
and similar unaffiliated balances that were denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
subsidiary in which it is recorded. As this debt had not been designated as being a long-term investment in nature, any
changes in the foreign currency exchange rates will result in unrealized gains or losses, which will be included in our
determination of net income. An adverse change of 10% in the underlying exchange rates of our unsettled
intercompany debt and similar unaffiliated balances would result in $110.9 million of unrealized losses that would be
included in Other expense in our consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
See Item 15 (a).

ITEM 9 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
"FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A.CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that material information relating to us,
including our consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the officers who certify our financial reports and to other
members of senior management and the Board of Directors.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report. Based on this
evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that these disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2018 and designed to ensure that the information required to be
disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the requisite time periods specified in the applicable rules and forms, and that it is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in

Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable
assurance to our management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published
financial statements.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018.
In making its assessment of internal control over financial reporting, our management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
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(2013). Based on this assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, our internal control over
financial reporting is effective.
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Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm that audited our financial statements
included in this Annual Report, has issued an attestation report on management’s internal control over financial
reporting, which is included in this Item 9A under the caption “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm.”

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of American Tower Corporation
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of American Tower Corporation and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, of the
Company and our report dated February 27, 2019, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.

Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
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deteriorate.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 27, 2019
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PART III
ITEM 10.DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Our executive officers and their respective ages and positions as of February 20, 2019 are set forth below:

James D. Taiclet, Jr. 58 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Thomas A. Bartlett 60 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Edmund DiSanto 66 Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer, General Counsel and Secretary
William H. Hess 55 Executive Vice President and Chairman, Latin America and EMEA

Robert J. Meyer, Jr. 55 Senior Vice President, Finance and Corporate Controller

Olivier Puech 51 Executive Vice President and President, Latin America and EMEA

Amit Sharma 68 Executive Vice President and President, Asia

Steven O. Vondran 48 Executive Vice President and President, U.S. Tower Division

James D. Taiclet, Jr. is our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Taiclet was appointed President and
Chief Operating Officer in September 2001, was named Chief Executive Officer in October 2003 and was selected as
Chairman of the Board in February 2004. Prior to joining us, Mr. Taiclet served as President of Honeywell Aerospace
Services, a unit of Honeywell International, and prior to that as Vice President, Engine Services at Pratt & Whitney, a
unit of United Technologies Corporation. He was also previously a consultant at McKinsey & Company, specializing
in telecommunications and aerospace strategy and operations. Mr. Taiclet began his career as a United States Air
Force officer and pilot and served in the Gulf War. He holds a Master in Public Affairs degree from Princeton
University, where he was awarded a Fellowship at the Woodrow Wilson School, and is a Distinguished Graduate of
the United States Air Force Academy with majors in Engineering and International Relations. Mr. Taiclet is a member
of the Council on Foreign Relations, the Business Roundtable, the Business Council and the Commercial Club of
Boston. He is also a member of the Digital Communications Governors Community of the World Economic Forum
(Davos). He also serves as a member of the Executive Board of The National Association of Real Estate Investment
Trusts (Nareit), the Board of Trustees of Brigham and Women’s Health Care, Inc., the Advisory Council for the
Princeton University Woodrow Wilson School of Public and International Affairs, Lockheed Martin’s Board of
Directors, the US India Business Council Board and the U.S.-India Strategic Partnership Forum Board. In August
2015, Mr. Taiclet was appointed to the U.S.-India CEO Forum, and, in October 2018, he was appointed Co-Chair of
the U.S.-India CEO Forum by the U.S. Department of Commerce.

Thomas A. Bartlett is our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Bartlett also served as our
Treasurer from February 2012 to December 2013, and again from July 2017 to August 2018. Prior to joining us in
April 2009, Mr. Bartlett served as Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller with Verizon Communications, Inc.
from November 2005 to March 2009. In this role, he was responsible for corporate-wide accounting, tax planning and
compliance, SEC financial reporting, budget reporting and analysis and capital expenditures planning functions. Mr.
Bartlett previously held the roles of Senior Vice President and Treasurer, as well as Senior Vice President Investor
Relations. During his twenty-five year career with Verizon Communications and its predecessor companies and
affiliates, he served in numerous operations and business development roles, including as the President and Chief
Executive Officer of Bell Atlantic International Wireless from 1995 through 2000, where he was responsible for
wireless activities in North America, Latin America, Europe and Asia, and was also an area President in Verizon’s U.S.
wireless business responsible for all operational aspects in both the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic states. Mr. Bartlett
began his career at Deloitte, Haskins & Sells. Mr. Bartlett currently serves on the board of directors of Equinix, Inc.
Mr. Bartlett earned an M.B.A. from Rutgers University, a Bachelor of Science in Engineering from Lehigh University
and became a Certified Public Accountant.

Edmund DiSanto is our Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer, General Counsel and Secretary. Prior
to joining us in April 2007, Mr. DiSanto was with Pratt & Whitney, a unit of United Technologies Corporation. Mr.

105



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A

DiSanto started with United Technologies in 1989, where he first served as Assistant General Counsel of its Carrier
subsidiary, then corporate Executive Assistant to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of United Technologies.
From 1997, he held various legal and business roles at its Pratt & Whitney unit, including Deputy General Counsel
and most recently, Vice President, Global Service Partners, Business Development. Prior to joining United
Technologies, Mr. DiSanto served in a number of legal and related positions at United Dominion Industries and New
England Electric Systems. Mr. DiSanto earned a J.D. from Boston College Law School and a Bachelor of Science
from Northeastern University. In 2013, Mr. DiSanto became a member of the board of directors of the Business
Council for International Understanding.
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William H. Hess is our Executive Vice President and Chairman, Latin America and EMEA. Mr. Hess served as our
Executive Vice President, International Operations and President, Latin America and EMEA from March 2009 until
October 2018, at which time he was appointed to his current position. Mr. Hess joined us in March 2001 as Chief
Financial Officer of American Tower International and was appointed Executive Vice President in June 2001. Mr.
Hess was appointed Executive Vice President, General Counsel in September 2002, and in February 2007, Mr. Hess
was appointed Executive Vice President, International Operations. Mr. Hess relinquished the position of General
Counsel in April 2007 when he was named President of our Latin American operations. In March 2009, Mr. Hess also
became responsible for the Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) territory. Prior to joining us, Mr. Hess had been a
partner in the corporate and finance practice group of the law firm of King & Spalding LLP, which he joined in 1990.
Prior to attending law school, Mr. Hess practiced as a Certified Public Accountant with Arthur Young & Co. Mr. Hess
received a J.D. from Vanderbilt University School of Law and is a graduate of Harding University. Mr. Hess is on the
Board of Trustees of the U.S.-Africa Business Center for the U.S. Chamber of Commerce and a participant of the
World Economic Forum.

Robert J. Meyer, Jr. is our Senior Vice President, Finance and Corporate Controller. Mr. Meyer joined us in August
2008. Prior to joining us, Mr. Meyer was with Bright Horizons Family Solutions since 1998, a provider of child care,
early education and work/life consulting services, where he most recently served as Chief Accounting Officer. Mr.
Meyer also served as Corporate Controller and Vice President of Finance while at Bright Horizons. Prior to that, from
1997 to 1998, Mr. Meyer served as Director of Financial Planning and Analysis at First Security Services Corp. Mr.
Meyer earned a Masters in Finance from Bentley University and a Bachelor of Science in Accounting from Marquette
University, and is also a Certified Public Accountant.

Olivier Puech is our Executive Vice President and President, Latin America and EMEA. Mr. Puech joined us in 2013
as our Senior Vice President and CEO of Latin America and served in that role until October 2018 when he was
appointed to his current position. Prior to joining us, Mr. Puech spent 25 years as a senior executive in the telecom and
internet sectors of international organizations. Most recently, he was with Nokia where he held various leadership
roles including Senior Vice President Americas, Senior Vice President Asia Pacific and Vice President Latin America.
Before Nokia, Mr. Puech spent 12 years at Gemalto, where he last held the position of Vice President, Sales and
Marketing with responsibility for South Europe, Eastern Europe and Latin America. Mr. Puech holds a bachelor’s
degree in International Business Administration from Ecole Supérieure De Commerce in Marseille, in France. He is
fluent in English, French, Spanish, Italian and Portuguese.

Amit Sharma is our Executive Vice President and President, Asia. Mr. Sharma joined us in September 2007. Prior to
joining us, since 1992, Mr. Sharma worked at Motorola, where he led country teams in India and Southeast Asia,
including as Country President, India and as Head of Strategy, Asia-Pacific. Mr. Sharma also served on Motorola’s
Asia-Pacific Board and was a member of its senior leadership team. Mr. Sharma also worked at GE Capital, serving as
Vice President, Strategy and Business Development, and prior to that, with McKinsey, New York, serving as a core
member of the firm's Electronics and Marketing Practices. Mr. Sharma earned an M.B.A. in International Business
from the Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, where he was on the Dean’s List and the Director’s Honors List.
Mr. Sharma also holds a Master of Science in Computer Science from the Moore School, University of Pennsylvania,
and a Bachelor of Technology in Mechanical Engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology.

Steven O. Vondran is our Executive Vice President and President, U.S. Tower Division. Mr. Vondran joined us in
2000 as a member of our legal team and served in a variety of positions until August 2004 when he was appointed
Senior Vice President of our U.S. Leasing Operations, where he oversaw project management, operational finance and
national sales teams. Mr. Vondran served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel for our U.S. Tower Division
from July 2010 to August 2018, at which time he was appointed to his current position. Prior to joining American
Tower, Mr. Vondran had been an associate at the law firm of Lewellen & Frazier LLP, served as telecommunications
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consultant with the firm of Young & Associates, LLC and as a Law Clerk to the Honorable John Stroud on the
Arkansas Court of Appeals. In September 2018, Mr. Vondran was appointed director of CTIA - the Wireless
Association, and in October 2018, he was appointed chairperson of WIA - The Wireless Infrastructure Association,
formerly known as PCIA. He received his J.D. with high honors from the University of Arkansas at Little Rock
School of Law and is a graduate of Hendrix College.

The information under “Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” from the
Definitive Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. Information required by this item pursuant to

Item 407(c)(3) of SEC Regulation S-K relating to our procedures by which security holders may recommend
nominees to our Board of Directors, and pursuant to Item 407(d)(4) and 407(d)(5) of SEC Regulation S-K relating to
our audit committee financial experts and identification of the audit committee of our Board of Directors, is contained
in the Definitive Proxy Statement under “Corporate Governance” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Information regarding our Code of Conduct applicable to our principal executive officer, our principal financial
officer, our controller and other senior financial officers appears in Item 1 of this Annual Report under the caption
“Business—Auvailable Information.”

ITEM 11.EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information under “Compensation and Other Information Concerning Directors and Officers” from the Definitive
Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information under “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Securities Authorized

for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans” from the Definitive Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by

reference.

ITEM 13.CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information required by this item pursuant to Item 404 of SEC Regulation S-K relating to approval of related party
transactions is contained in the Definitive Proxy Statement under “Corporate Governance” and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Information required by this item pursuant to Item 407(a) of SEC Regulation S-K relating to director independence is
contained in the Definitive Proxy Statement under “Corporate Governance” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14.PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The information under “Independent Auditor Fees and Other Matters” from the Definitive Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

1. Financial Statements. See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, which appears on page F-1 hereof. The
financial statements listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements are filed herewith in
response to this Item.

2. Financial Statement Schedules. American Tower Corporation and Subsidiaries Schedule III — Schedule of Real
Estate and Accumulated Depreciation is filed herewith in response to this Item.

3. Exhibits. See Index to Exhibits.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC, the Company has filed certain agreements as exhibits to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. These agreements may contain representations and warranties by the parties. These
representations and warranties have been made solely for the benefit of the other party or parties to such agreements
and (i) may have been qualified by disclosures made to such other party or parties, (ii) were made only as of the date
of such agreements or such other date(s) as may be specified in such agreements and are subject to more recent
developments, which may not be fully reflected in the Company’s public disclosure, (iii) may reflect the allocation of
risk among the parties to such agreements and (iv) may apply materiality standards different from what may be
viewed as material to investors. Accordingly, these representations and warranties may not describe the Company’s
actual state of affairs at the date hereof and should not be relied upon.

The exhibits below are included, either by being filed herewith or by incorporation by reference, as part of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Exhibits are identified according to the number assigned to them in Item 601 of SEC
Regulation S-K. Documents that are incorporated by reference are identified by their Exhibit number as set forth in
the filing from which they are incorporated by reference. The filings of the Registrant from which various exhibits are
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report are indicated by parenthetical numbering which corresponds to the
following key:

(1 ) Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on April 2, 2001;

(2 ) Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on March 15, 2006;

(3 ) Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO (File No. 005-55211) filed on November 29, 2006;
(4 ) Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (File No. 001-14195) filed on March 22, 2007;
(5 ) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-14195) filed on August 6, 2008;

(6 ) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on March 5, 2009;

(7 ) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-14195) filed on May 8, 2009;

(8 ) Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on March 1, 2010;

(9 ) Registration Statement on Form S-3ASR (File No. 333-166805) filed on May 13, 2010;
(10) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-14195) filed on November 5, 2010;

(11) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on August 25, 2011;

(12) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on October 6, 2011;
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(13) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on January 3, 2012;
(14) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on March 12, 2012;
(15) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on January 8, 2013;
(16) Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on February 27, 2013;

(17) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-14195) filed on May 1, 2013;
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(18) Registration Statement on Form S-3ASR (File No. 333-188812) filed on May 23, 2013;
(19) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-14195) filed on July 31, 2013;
(20) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on August 19, 2013;
(21) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-14195) filed on October 30, 2013;
(22) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on May 12, 2014;

(23) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on August 7, 2014;

(24) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-14195) filed on October 30, 2014;
(25) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on February 23, 2015;
(26) Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on February 24, 2015;
(27) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on March 3, 2015;

(28) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-14195) filed on April 30, 2015;
(29) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on May 7, 2015;

(30) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-14195) filed on July 29, 2015;
(31) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on January 12, 2016;
(32) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on February 16, 2016;
(33) Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on February 26, 2016;
(34) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on March 9, 2016;

(35) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on May 13, 2016;

(36) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on September 30, 2016;
(37) Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on February 27, 2017,
(38) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on March 14, 2017;
(39) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on April 6, 2017;

(40) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on June 30, 2017;

(41) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on December 8, 2017;

(42) Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on February 27, 2018;
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(43) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-14195) filed on May 2, 2018;
(44) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on May 22, 2018; and
(45) Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-14195) filed on July 31, 2018.
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Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between American Tower Corporation and
American Tower REIT. Inc.. dated as of August 24. 2011

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company as filed with the Secretary of
State of the State of Delaware. effective as of December 31, 2011

Certificate of Merger. effective as of December 31, 2011
Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company. effective as of February 12. 2016

Indenture dated as of May 13. 2010. by and between the Company and The Bank of
New York Mellon Trust Company N.A.. as Trustee

Indenture dated as of May 23. 2013, by and between the Company and U.S. Bank
National Association, as Trustee

Supplemental Indenture No. 1. dated as of August 16. 2010. to Indenture dated as of
May 13. 2010. by and between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company N.A.. as Trustee. for the 5.050% Senior Notes due 2020

Supplemental Indenture No. 3. dated as of October 6. 2011. to Indenture dated as of
May 13. 2010. by and between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company N.A.. as Trustee. for the 5.900% Senior Notes due 2021

Supplemental Indenture No. 4. dated as of December 30. 2011. to Indenture dated as of
May 13. 2010. by and among. the Predecessor Registrant. the Company and The Bank
of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A.. as Trustee

Supplemental Indenture No. 5. dated as of March 12, 2012. to Indenture dated as of
May 13. 2010. by and between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company N.A.. as Trustee. for the 4.70% Senior Notes due 2022

Supplemental Indenture No. 6. dated as of January 8. 2013. to Indenture dated as of
May 13. 2010. by and between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company N.A.. as Trustee. for the 3.50% Senior Notes due 2023

Supplemental Indenture No. 1. dated as of August 19. 2013. to Indenture dated as of

May 23. 2013. by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association. as
Trustee, for the 3.40% Senior Notes due 2019 and the 5.00% Senior Notes due 2024

Supplemental Indenture No. 2. dated as of August 7. 2014. to Indenture dated as of

May 23. 2013. by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association. as
Trustee, for the 3.450% Senior Notes due 2021

Supplemental Indenture No. 3. dated as of May 7. 2015. to Indenture dated as of May

23. 2013. by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association. as
trustee, for the 2.800% Senior Notes due 2020 and the 4.000% Senior Notes due 2025
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Supplemental Indenture No. 4. dated as of January 12. 2016. to Indenture dated as of

May 23. 2013. by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association. as 4.1 (31)
trustee. for the 3.300% Senior Notes due 2021 and the 4.400% Senior Notes due 2026

Supplemental Indenture No. 5. dated as of May 13. 2016. to Indenture dated as of May

23. 2013. by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association. as 4.1 (35)
trustee. for the 3.375% Senior Notes due 2026

Supplemental Indenture No. 6. dated as of September 30. 2016. to Indenture dated as
of May 23. 2013. by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association.
as trustee. for the 2.250% Senior Notes due 2022 and the 3.125% Senior Notes due
2027
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4.15

4.16
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4.20

4.21

4.22
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10.1

Supplemental Indenture No. 7. dated as of April 6. 2017. to Indenture dated as of May
23. 2013. by and between the Company. U.S. Bank National Association. as trustee.

and Elavon Financial Services DAC. UK Branch. as paying agent. for the 1.375%
Senior Notes due 2025

Supplemental Indenture No. 8. dated as of June 30. 2017. to Indenture dated as of May

23. 2013. by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee, for the 3.55% Senior Notes due 2027

Supplemental Indenture No. 9. dated as of December 8. 2017. to Indenture dated as of

May 23. 2013. by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association. as
trustee, for the 3.000% Senior Notes due 2023 and the 3.600% Senior Notes due 2028

Supplemental Indenture No. 10, dated as of May 22. 2018, to Indenture dated as of
May 23. 2013. by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association. as

trustee. and Elavon Financial Services DAC. UK Branch. as paying agent. for the
1.950% Senior Notes due 2026

Certificate of Designations of the 5.25% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock.
Series A. of the Company as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.
effective as of May 12. 2014

Certificate of Designations of 5.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock. Series B.

of the Company as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, effective
as of March 3. 2015

Deposit Agreement, dated March 3. 2015. among the Company. Computershare Trust
Company. N.A.. Computershare Inc. and the holders from time to time of the

depositary receipts evidencing the depositary shares. for the 5.50% Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock. Series B

Third Amended and Restated Indenture. dated May 29. 2015, by and between GTP
Acquisition Partners I. LLC, ACC Tower Sub. LI.C. DCS Tower Sub. LLC. GTP

South Acquisitions II. LL.C. GTP Acquisition Partners II. LI.C. GTP Acguisition
Partners. I11. I.T.C. GTP Infrastructure I. I.I.C., GTP Infrastructure II. I.I.C. GTP

Infrastructure 111, ILT.C. GTP Towers VIII. IL.I.C. GTP Towers I. L.I.C. GTP Towers I1
LLC. GTP Towers IV. LLLC. GTP Towers V. IL.I.C. GTP Towers VII. LL.C. GTP

Towers IX. LI.C. PCS Structures Towers, LLC and GTP TRS I LLC. as obligors. and
The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee

Series 2015-1 Supplement, dated May 29. 2015. to the Third Amended and Restated
Indenture dated May 29. 2015

Series 2015-2 Supplement, dated May 29. 2015. to the Third Amended and Restated
Indenture dated May 29. 2015

American Tower Systems Corporation 1997 Stock Option Plan. as amended
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American Tower Corporation 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. as amended and
restated

American Tower Corporation 2007 Equity Incentive Plan
Amendment to American Tower Corporation 2007 Equity Incentive Plan

Form of Notice of Grant of Nonqualified Stock Option and Option Agreement (U.S.
Employee) Pursuant to the American Tower Corporation 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.

as amended

Form of Notice of Grant of Nonqualified Stock Option and Option Agreement
(Non-U.S. Employvee) Pursuant to the American Tower Corporation 2007 Equity

Incentive Plan. as amended

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (U.S. Employee/ Non-U.S. Employee
Director) (For grants made through March 9. 2016) Pursuant to the American Tower
Corporation 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. as amended

10.5 (8)

Annex A (4)*

10.1 (38)

10.6 (16)*

10.31 (16)*

10.8 (16)*
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Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Non-U.S. Employee) (For grants made
10.8 through February 28. 2019) Pursuant to the American Tower Corporation 2007
Equity Incentive Plan. as amended

Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units and RSU Agreement (U.S.
10.9 Employee / Time) (Non-Employee Director) (For grants made March 10, 2016 -
) February 28. 2019) Pursuant to the American Tower Corporation 2007 Equity

Incentive Plan. as amended

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (U.S. Employee/ Non-Employee Director)
10.10 (For grants made beginning March 1. 2019) Pursuant to the American Tower
Corporation 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. as amended

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Non-U.S. Employee) (For grants made
10.11 beginning March 1. 2019) Pursuant to the American Tower Corporation 2007 Equity

Incentive Plan. as amended

Notice of Grant of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units and PSU Agreement
10.12 (U.S. Employee) (CEO) Pursuant to the American Tower Corporation 2007 Equity

Incentive Plan. as amended

Form of Notice of Grant of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units Agreement
10.13 (U.S. Employee) (For grants made before 2019) Pursuant to the American Tower
Corporation 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. as amended

Form of Notice of Grant of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units Agreement
10.14 (U.S. Employee) (For grants made beginning 2019) Pursuant to the American Tower
Corporation 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. as amended

10.15 Noncompetition and Confidentiality Agreement dated as of January 1. 2004 between
) American Tower Corporation and William H. Hess

Amendment. dated August 6. 2008. to Noncompetition and Confidentiality

10.16 Agreement dated as of January 1. 2004 between American Tower Corporation and
William H. Hess

Second Amended and Restated L.oan and Security Agreement. dated as of March 29,

10.17 2018. by and between American Tower Asset Sub. LL.C and American Tower Assets
) Sub II. II.C. as Borrowers. and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee for

American Tower Trust 1. as I .ender

First Amended and Restated Management Agreement. dated as of March 15. 2013.
10.18 by and between American Tower Asset Sub. LL.C and American Tower Asset Sub
IL. LLC. as Owners. and SpectraSite Communications. LL.C. as Manager

10.19 Second Amended and Restated Trust and Servicing Agreement. dated as of March
29. 2018. by and among American Tower Depositor Sub. LLC. as Depositor.,
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Exhibit 10.11*
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Midland Ioan Services. a Division of PNC Bank. National Association, as Servicer
and U.S. Bank National Association. as Trustee

Second Amended and Restated Cash Management Agreement. dated as of March 29,

2018. by and among American Tower Asset Sub. LL.C and American Tower Asset
Sub II. ILI.C. as Borrowers. and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee for

American Tower Trust I Secured Tower Revenue Securities. as Lender. Midland 10.4 (43)
Loan Services. a Division of PNC Bank, National Association. as Servicer, U.S.

Bank National Association. as Agent. and SpectraSite Communications. LL.C. as
Manager

Lease and Sublease by and among ALLTEL Communications. Inc. and the other

entities named therein and American Towers. Inc. and American Tower Corporation. 2.1 (1)
dated 2001

Agreement to Sublease by and among ALLTEL. Communications. Inc. the ALLTEL

entities and American Towers. Inc. and American Tower Corporation. dated 2.2(1)
December 19. 2000
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Lease and Sublease. dated as of December 14. 2000. by and among SBC Tower
Holdings LL.C. Southern Towers. Inc.. SBC Wireless. LL.C and SpectraSite
Holdings. Inc. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the SpectraSite
Holdings. Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-27217) filed on

May 11. 2001)

Amendment to I.ease and Sublease. dated September 30. 2008. by and between
SpectraSite, LLC. American Tower Asset Sub II. LLC. SBC Wireless. LI.C and SBC
Tower Holdings LL.C

Summary Compensation Information for Current Named Executive Officers
(incorporated by reference from Item 5.02(e) of Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 001-14195) filed on March 5. 2018)

Form of Waiver and Termination Agreement

American Tower Corporation Severance Plan. as amended

American Tower Corporation Severance Plan. Program for Executive Vice
Presidents and Chief Executive Officer. as amended

Amended and Restated Letter Agreement. dated February 27. 2017, by and between
the Company and William H. Hess

Amended and Restated Letter Agreement, dated April 12, 2018. by and between the
Company and William H. Hess

Assignment Letter Agreement. dated February 1. 2018. by and between the Company
and Amit Sharma

Employment [ etter Agreement. dated February 1. 2018. by and between the
Company and Amit Sharma

Letter Agreement. dated as of March 7. 2017. by and between the Company and
Steven C. Marshall

Loan Agreement. dated as of June 28. 2013. among the Company. as Borrower.
Toronto Dominion (Texas) LI.C. as Administrative Agent and Swingline Lender.
Barclays Bank PLC. Citibank. N.A. and Bank of America, N.A.. as Syndication
Agents. JPMorgan Chase Bank. N.A.. as Documentation Agent. TD Securities
(USA) LLC. Barclays Bank PI.C. Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Merrill Lynch.
Pierce. Fenner & Smith. Incorporated. as Co-I.ead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners.
and the several other lenders that are parties thereto

First Amendment to [.oan Agreement. dated as of September 20. 2013, among the
Company. as borrower. Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent. and
a majority of the lenders under the Company’s L.oan Agreement entered into on June
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Term Loan Agreement. dated as of October 29. 2013. among the Company. as

borrower. The Royal Bank of Scotland plc. as Administrative Agent. Royal Bank of

Canada and TD Securities (USA) LLC, as co-syndication agents. JPMorgan Chase

Bank. N.A.. Barclays Bank PLC. Citibank. N.A. Morgan Stanley MUFG Loan 10.8 21
Partners. LI.C and CoBank. ACB as co-documentation agents. RBS Securities Inc.. )

RBC Capital Markets. L.I.C. TD Securities (USA) LI.C. J.P. Morgan Securities LL.C

and Barclays Bank PL.C. as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners. and the

several other lenders that are parties thereto

Amended and Restated [.oan Agreement. dated as of September 19, 2014, among the

Company. as borrower, Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as Administrative Agent.

and Swingline Lender, TD Securities (USA) LL.C. Citigroup Global Markets Inc..

J.P. Morgan Securities LL.C. Morgan Stanley MUFG I.oan Partners, LL.C and RBS 10.1 (24)
Securities Inc.. as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners. Citibank, N.A.. )
JPMorgan Chase Bank. N.A.. Morgan Stanley MUFG Loan Partners. LL.C and The

Royal Bank of Scotland plc. as co-syndication agents. and the other lenders that are

parties thereto
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Second Amendment to L.oan Agreement. dated as of September 19. 2014, among the
Company. as borrower. Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent. and
all of the lenders under the Company’s L.oan Agreement entered into on June 28. 2013

First Amendment to Term Loan Agreement. dated as of September 19, 2014. among
the Company. as borrower, The Royal Bank of Scotland plc. as administrative agent.

and a majority of the lenders under the Company’s Term L.oan Agreement entered into
on October 29, 2013

First Amendment to L.oan Agreement. dated as of February 5. 2015. among the
Company. as borrower. Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent. and a
majority of the lenders under the Company’s Amended and Restated L.oan Agreement
entered into on September 19. 2014

Second Amendment to Term Loan Agreement. dated as of February 5. 2015. among
the Company. as borrower, The Royal Bank of Scotland plc. as administrative agent.

and a majority of the lenders under the Company’s Term L.oan Agreement entered into
on October 29, 2013

Third Amendment to L.oan Agreement. dated as of February 5. 2015. among the
Company. as borrower. Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent, and a

majority of the lenders under the Company’s L.oan Agreement entered into on June 28,
2013

Second Amendment to Loan Agreement. dated as of February 20, 2015. among the
Company. as borrower. Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent, and a
majority of the lenders under the Company’s Amended and Restated L.oan Agreement
entered into on September 19. 2014

Third Amendment to Term Loan Agreement. dated as of February 20, 2015. among the
Company. as borrower, The Royal Bank of Scotland plc. as administrative agent. and a

majority of the lenders under the Company’s Term L.oan Agreement entered into on
October 29, 2013

Fourth Amendment to [.oan Agreement, dated as of February 20. 2015. among the
Company. as borrower. Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent, and a

majority of the lenders under the Company’s L.oan Agreement entered into on June 28,
2013

Third Amendment to L.oan Agreement. dated as of October 28, 2015. among the
Company. as borrower. Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent, and a
majority of the lenders under the Company’s Amended and Restated L.oan Agreement
entered into on September 19. 2014

Fourth Amendment to Term Loan Agreement. dated as of October 28. 2015. among
the Company. as borrower, Mizuho Bank. Ltd. (successor to The Royal Bank of
Scotland plc). as administrative agent. and a majority of the lenders under the
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Company’s Term Loan Agreement entered into on October 29. 2013

Fifth Amendment to L.oan Agreement. dated as of October 28. 2015. among the
Company. as borrower. Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent. and a 10.45 (33)

majority of the lenders under the Company’s L.oan Agreement entered into on June 28,
2013

Fourth Amendment to [.oan Agreement. dated as of November 30. 2016. among the

Company. as borrower. Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent, and a 10.44 (37)
majority of the lenders under the Company’s Amended and Restated L.oan Agreement ’
entered into on September 19. 2014

Fifth Amendment to Term Loan Agreement. dated as of November 30. 2016. among

the Company. as borrower, Mizuho Bank. Ltd. (successor to The Royal Bank of 10.45 (37)
Scotland plc). as administrative agent. and a majority of the lenders under the ’
Company’s Term Loan Agreement entered into on October 29. 2013

Sixth Amendment to Loan Agreement. dated as of November 30. 2016. among the
Company. as borrower. Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent. and a 10.46 (37)

majority of the lenders under the Company’s L.oan Agreement entered into on June 28,
2013
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Fifth Amendment to [.oan Agreement. dated as of December 15. 2017, among the
Company. as borrower, Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent.
and a majority of the lenders under the Company’s Amended and Restated L.oan
Agreement entered into on September 19. 2014

Sixth Amendment to Term L.oan Agreement. dated as of December 15. 2017.
among the Company. as borrower. Mizuho Bank, Ltd. (successor to The Royal
Bank of Scotland plc). as administrative agent. and a majority of the lenders under
the Company’s Term Loan Agreement entered into on October 29, 2013

Seventh Amendment to L.oan Agreement. dated as of December 15. 2017. among
the Company. as borrower. Toronto Dominion (Texas) LI.C. as administrative

agent. and a majority of the lenders under the Company’s [.oan Agreement entered
into on June 28. 2013

Term Loan Agreement. dated March 29. 2018. among the Company. as borrower.
Mizuho Bank. L.td.. as administrative agent. joint lead arranger and joint
bookrunner. Royal Bank of Canada and TD Securities (USA) LLC. as
co-syndication agents. and RBC Capital Markets and TD Securities (USA) LL.C as
joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners

Sixth Amendment to Loan Agreement. dated as of November 28. 2018. among the
Company. as borrower, Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent.
and a majority of the lenders under the Company’s Amended and Restated L.oan
Agreement entered into on September 19. 2014

Seventh Amendment to Term Loan Agreement. dated as of November 28. 2018.
among the Company. as borrower, Mizuho Bank, Ltd. (successor to The Royal
Bank of Scotland plc). as administrative agent. and a majority of the lenders under
the Company’s Term Loan Agreement entered into on October 29, 2013

Eighth Amendment to [.oan Agreement. dated as of November 28. 2018. among the
Company. as borrower, Toronto Dominion (Texas) LL.C. as administrative agent.

and a majority of the lenders under the Company’s Loan Agreement entered into on
June 28. 2013

Term Loan Agreement. dated February 14. 2019, among the Company. as borrower.
Mizuho Bank. I.td.. as administrative agent. joint lead arranger and joint
bookrunner. The Bank of Nova Scotia and TD Securities (USA) LLC. as
co-syndication agents. joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners

Master Agreement. dated as of February 5. 2015. among the Company and Verizon
Communications. Inc.

Master Prepaid Lease. dated as of March 27, 2015. among certain subsidiaries of
the Company and Verizon Communications Inc.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1053507/000105350718000006/exhibit1048q42017.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1053507/000105350718000006/exhibit1048q42017.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1053507/000105350718000006/exhibit1048q42017.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1053507/000105350718000026/d577971dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1053507/000105350718000026/d577971dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1053507/000105350718000026/d577971dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1053507/000105350718000026/d577971dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1053507/000105350718000026/d577971dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1053507/000119312515059026/d846752dex1045.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1053507/000119312515059026/d846752dex1045.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1053507/000119312515162716/d912783dex108.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1053507/000119312515162716/d912783dex108.htm

10.62

10.63

10.64

10.65

10.66
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Sale Site Master [.ease Agreement, dated as of March 27. 2015, among certain

subsidiaries of the Company. Verizon Communications Inc. and certain of its
subsidiaries

MPL Site Master [.ease Agreement. dated as of March 27. 2015. among Verizon
Communications Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries and ATC Sequoia LL.C

Management Agreement. dated as of March 27. 2015, among Verizon
Communications Inc.. and certain of its subsidiaries and ATC Sequoia LL.C

Share Purchase Agreement. dated as of October 21. 2015. amongst ATC Asia
Pacific Pte. I.td.. American Tower International. Inc.. Viom Networks Limited. and

certain of its existing shareholders

Shareholders Agreement. dated as of October 21. 2015. by and amongst Viom
Networks Limited. Tata Sons Limited, Tata Teleservices Limited. IDFC Private

Equity Fund ITI. Macquarie SBI Infrastructure Investments Pte Limited, SBI
Macquarie Infrastructure Trust and ATC Asia Pacific Pte. L.td.

Subsidiaries of the Company

10.9 (28)

10.10 (28)

10.11 (28)

10.52 (33)

10.53 (33)

Filed herewith as

Exhibit 21
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Exhibit No. Description of Document Exhibit File No.
Filed herewith
23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm—Deloitte & Touche LI.LP as
Exhibit 23
311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the l:;led herewith

) s
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Exhibit 31.1

319 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley l:;led herewith
Avio e Exhibit 31.2
Filed herewith
32 Certifications filed pursuant to 18. U.S.C. Section 1350 as
Exhibit 32

The following materials from American Tower Corporation’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business
Reporting Language):

101.INS—XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH—XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document . .
101 Filed herewith

101.CAL—XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document as Exhibit 101

101.LAB—XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE—XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
101.DEF—XTRL Taxonomy Extension Definition

« Management contracts and compensatory plans and arrangements required to be filed as exhibits to this Form 10-K

pursuant to Item 15(a)(3).
. L e exhibit has been filed separately with the Commission pursuant to an application for confidential
treatment. The confidential portions of the exhibit have been omitted and are marked by an asterisk.
ITEM 16.FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on the 27th day of
February, 2019.

AMERICAN TOWER CORPORATION

By: /S/ JAMES D. TAICLET, JR.
James D. Taiclet, Jr.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been duly signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
ﬁ{/ JAMES D. TAICLET, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal February 27,
James D. Taiclet, Jr. Executive Officer) 2019
/S THOMAS A. Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal February 27,
BARTLETT . : .

Financial Officer) 2019

Thomas A. Bartlett

/S/ ROBERT J. MEYER, JR  Senior Vice President, Finance and Corporate Controller (Principal February 27,
Robert J. Meyer, Jr. Accounting Officer) 2019

/S/ RAYMOND P.

DOLAN Director Iz:gliguary 27,
Raymond P. Dolan

/S/ ROBERT D.

HORMATS Director ig?gmy 27,
Robert D. Hormats

/S/ GUSTAVO LARA February 27
CANTU Director 2019 y el
Gustavo Lara Cantu

/S/ GRACE D. LIEBLEIN Director February 27,
Grace D. Lieblein 2019

/S/ CRAIG MACNAB Director February 27,
Craig Macnab 2019

/S/ JOANN A. REED Director February 27,
JoAnn A. Reed 2019

/S/ PAMELA D. A. REEVE Director February 27,
Pamela D. A. Reeve 2019
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/S/ DAVIDE. N
SHARBUTT Director 2019 Yy 2/,
David E. Sharbutt

/S/ SAMME L.

THOMPSON Director ig?guary 217,

Samme L. Thompson
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of American Tower Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of American Tower Corporation and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income, equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related
notes and the schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our
opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 27, 2019, expressed an unqualified opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 27, 2019

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1997.

F-2
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AMERICAN TOWER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in millions, except share count and per share data)

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Short-term investments

Accounts receivable, net

Prepaid and other current assets

Total current assets

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net
GOODWILL

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, net
DEFERRED TAX ASSET

DEFERRED RENT ASSET

NOTES RECEIVABLE AND OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Distributions payable

Accrued interest

Current portion of long-term obligations
Unearned revenue

Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Total liabilities

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
EQUITY (shares in thousands):

Preferred stock: $.01 par value; 20,000 shares authorized;

5.50%, Series B, 1,375 shares issued, 0 and 1,375 shares outstanding; aggregate liquidation

value of $0.0 and $1.4, respectively

Common stock: $.01 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; 451,617 and 437,729 shares

issued; and 441,060 and 428,820 shares outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital

Distributions in excess of earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Treasury stock (10,557 and 8,909 shares at cost, respectively)
Total American Tower Corporation equity

Noncontrolling interests

December
31,2018

$1,208.7
96.2
459.0
621.2
2,385.1
11,247.1
5,501.9
11,174.3
157.7
1,581.7
962.6
$33,010.4

$130.8
948.3
3774
174.5
2,754.8
304.1
4,689.9
18,405.1
1,210.0
5359
1,265.1
26,106.0

1,004.8

4.5
10,380.8

December
31,2017

$802.1
152.8
1.0
513.6
568.6
2,038.1
11,101.0
5,638.4
11,783.3
204.4
1,499.0
950.1
$33,214.3

$142.9
854.3
304.4
166.9
774.8
268.8
2,512.1
19,430.3
1,175.3
898.1
1,244.2
25,260.0

1,126.2

0.0

4.4
10,247.5

(1,199.5 ) (1,058.1 )
(2,6429 ) (1,978.3 )
(1,206.8 ) (974.0 )

5,336.1
563.5

6,241.5
586.6
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Total equity 5,899.6 6,828.1
TOTAL $33,010.4 $33,214.3
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN TOWER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in millions, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
REVENUES:
Property $7,314.7 $6,565.9 $5,713.1
Services 125.4 98.0 72.6
Total operating revenues 7,440.1 6,663.9 5,785.7
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Costs of operations (exclusive of items shown separately below):

Property (including stock-based compensation expense of $2.4, $2.1 and $1.7, 21287 2.0220 17627

respectively)

Serv1c§s (including stock-based compensation expense of $0.9, $0.8 and $0.7, 49 1 34.6 277
respectively)

Depreciation, amortization and accretion 2,110.8 1,7159 1,525.6

Selling, general, administrative and development expense (including stock-based

compensation expense of $134.2, $105.6, and $87.5, respectively) 733.2 637.0 434

Other operating expenses 513.3 256.0 73.3
Total operating expenses 5,535.1 4,665.5 3,932.7
OPERATING INCOME 1,905.0 11,9984 1,853.0
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):

Interest (expense) income, TV Azteca, each net of interest expense of $1.2 (0.1 ) 10.8 10.9
Interest income 54.7 354 25.6
Interest expense (8255 ) (749.6 ) (717.1 )
(Loss) gain on retirement of long-term obligations (3.3 ) (70.2 ) 1.2

Other income (expepse) (including foreign currency (losses) gains of ($4.5), $26.4, 738 313 @717 )
and ($48.9), respectively)

Total other expense (7504 ) (7423 ) (727.1 )
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES 1,154.6  1,256.1 11,1259
Income tax benefit (provision) 110.1 (30.7 ) (1555 )
NET INCOME 1,264.7 1,2254 970.4

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (28.3 ) 13.5 (14.0 )
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO AMERICAN TOWER CORPORATION

STOCKHOLDERS 1,236.4 1,2389 956.4
Dividends on preferred stock 9.4 ) (874 ) (107.1 )
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO AMERICAN TOWER CORPORATION

COMMON STOCKHOLDERS $1,227.0 $1,151.5 $849.3
NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE AMOUNTS:

Basic net income attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders $2.79 $2.69 $2.00
Diluted net income attributable to American Tower Corporation common $2.77 $2.67 $1.98
stockholders

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING (in thousands):

BASIC 439,606 428,181 425,143
DILUTED 442960 431,688 429,283

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN TOWER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in millions)

Net income

Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges, each net of tax expense of $0
Reclassification of unrealized losses on cash flow hedges to net income, each net of
tax expense of $0

Adjustment to redeemable noncontrolling interest

Purchase of noncontrolling interest

Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax (benefit) expense of ($2.6), $1.0,
and $3.8, respectively

Other comprehensive (loss) income

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive loss (income) attributable to non-controlling interest
Comprehensive income attributable to American Tower Corporation stockholders

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-5

Year Ended December 31,

2018

2017 2016

$1,264.7 $1,2254 $9704

0.1
0.3

78.8
0.5

(869.3

(789.8
474.9
96.9
$571.8

) (04 ) (04 )
0.1 ) (03 )

) 1444 (202.9)

) 1439 (203.6 )
1,369.3  766.8
(1094 ) 182
$1,259.9 $785.0
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AMERICAN TOWER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(in millions, share counts in thousands)

Preferred Preferred Y
. Common .. AccumulateBistributions
Stock - Series Stock - Treasury Stock Additional .
. Stock . Other in Excess Noncont
A Series B Paid-in Comprehensitve Interest
Issued Issued Issued Capital p

ou Amount AmotfSitares  Amount Loss Earnings
lghares U§]hares &

Shares
BALANCE,
JANUARY 1, 6,000 $0.1 1,375 $0.0 426,695 $4.3 (2,810 ) $(207.7 ) $9,690.6 $(1,837.0) $(998.5 ) $61.0
2016
Stock-based
compensation — — — — 1,959 00 — — 155.1 — — —
related activity
Issuance of
common
stock—stock
purchase plan
Issuance of
common stock
Changes in fair
value of cash
flow hedges,
net of tax
Reclassification
of unrealized
gains on cash
flow hedges to
net income, net
of tax
Foreign
currency
translation — —_ — — — — — — — (170.7 ) — 8.7 )
adjustment, net
of tax
Contributions
from
noncontrolling
interest
Distributions to
noncontrolling — —_ — — — — — — — — — (1.0 )
interest
Common stock
distributions = — —_ — — — — — — — — 927.8 ) —
declared
Preferred stock
dividends — —_ — — — — — — — — (107.1 ) —
declared
Net income — — — — — — — — — — 956.4 0.1

— - — 171 00 — — 120.8 — — —

e — — 04 ) — —

- - - = = = — — 03 ) — —

[ - — — — — 69.5 9.1 — 160.9

136



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A

BALANCE,

DECEMBER 6,000 $0.1 1,375 $0.0 429,913 $4.3 (2,810 ) $(207.7 ) $10,043.5 $(1,999.3) $(1,077.0) $212.3
31, 2016

Stock-based

compensation — — — — 2,121 0.0 — — 195.0 — — —
related activity

Issuance of

common stock-

stock purchase - — 93 0.0 — — 9.0 — — —
plan
Conversion of "¢ 490y 0.1)0 00 5602 01 —  — 0.0 _ _ B

preferred stock
Treasury stock
activity o
Changes in fair
value of cash

flow hedges,

net of tax
Reclassification
of unrealized
gains on cash
flow hedges to
net income, net

of tax

Foreign

currency
translation — — — — — — — — — 21.5 — 54.6
adjustment, net

of tax
Contributions
from
noncontrolling
interest
Distributions to
noncontrolling — —_ — — — — — — — — — (143 )
interest

Common stock

distributions = — —_ — — — — — — — — (1,128.6 ) —
declared

Preferred stock

dividends — —_ — — — — — — — — 91.4 ) —
declared

Net income — — — — — — — — — — 1,238.9 19.9
BALANCE,

DECEMBER — $— 1,375 $0.0 437,729 $4.4 (8,909 ) $(974.0 ) $10,247.5 $(1,978.3) $(1,058.1) $586.6
31,2017

Stock-based

compensation — — — — 1,782 0.0 — — 190.4 — — —
related activity

Issuance of — — — — 86 00 — — 10.2 — — —
common

— — — — — (6,099 ) (7663 ) — — — —

e — — 04 ) — —

- - = = = = = — o1 ) — —

- - = — — — — — — — 314.1
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stock—stock
purchase plan
Conversion of
preferred stock
Treasury stock
activity o
Changes in fair
value of cash

flow hedges,

net of tax
Reclassification
of unrealized
gains on cash
flow hedges to
net income, net

of tax

Foreign

currency
translation — —_ — — — — — — — (7441 ) — (33.1 )
adjustment, net

of tax

Adjustment to
redeemable
noncontrolling
interest
Distributions to
noncontrolling — —_ — — — — — — — — — (15.0 )
interest

Purchase of

noncontrolling — — (16.5 ) 0.5 45 )
interest

Impact of

revenue

recognition — —  — — — — — — — — 38.4 —
standard

adoption

Common stock

distributions = — —_ — — — — — — — — (1,397.3 ) —
declared

Preferred stock

dividends — —_ — — — — — — — — (18.9 ) —
declared

Net income — — — — — — — — — — 1,236.4 29.5
BALANCE,

DECEMBER — $— — $— 451,617 $4.5 (10,557) $(1,206.8) $10,380.8 $(2,642.9) $(1,199.5) $563.5
31,2018

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

—  (1,375) 0.0 12,020 0.1 — — 0.1 ) — — —

- - = — (1,648 ) (2328 ) — — — —

- - = = S — (50.7 ) 788 — —
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AMERICAN TOWER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, amortization and accretion

Stock-based compensation expense

Loss (gain) on investments, unrealized foreign currency loss and other non-cash
expense

Impairments, net loss on sale of long-lived assets, non-cash restructuring and merger
related expenses

Loss (gain) on early retirement of long-term obligations

Amortization of deferred financing costs, debt discounts and premiums and other
non-cash interest

Deferred income taxes

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable

Prepaid and other assets

Deferred rent asset

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Accrued interest

Unearned revenue

Deferred rent liability

Other non-current liabilities

Cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for purchase of property and equipment and construction activities
Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired

Payment for Verizon transaction

Proceeds from sales of short-term investments and other non-current assets
Payments for short-term investments

Deposits and other

Cash used for investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowings under credit facilities

Proceeds from issuance of senior notes, net

Proceeds from term loan

Proceeds from issuance of securities in securitization transaction
Repayments of notes payable, credit facilities, term loan, senior notes, secured debt
and capital leases

(Distributions to) contributions from noncontrolling interest holders, net
Purchases of common stock

Proceeds from stock options and stock purchase plan

Distributions paid on common stock

Distributions paid on preferred stock

Payment for early retirement of long-term obligations

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

$1,264.7 $1,2254 $9704

2,110.8 1,7159 1,525.6
1375 1085 899
473 (18.0 ) 1274
479.6 2424 507
33 70.2 12 )
22.1 20.0 17.7
(303.0 ) (86.6 ) 27.0
(32.1 ) (191.1 ) 114
(101.7 ) (179.9 ) (80.0 )
(87.6 ) (1944 ) (131.7)
69.3 95.8 429 )
8.4 9.2 34.4
85.8 59.3 16.6
57.9 62.3 67.8
(140 ) (134 ) 186
3,7483  2,925.6 2,701.7
(913.2 ) (803.6 ) (682.5)
(1,881.4 ) (2,007.0 ) (1,411.3
— — a7 )
12522 147 13.1
(1,1543 ) — 08 )
(528 ) (5.0 ) 161 )
(2,749.5 ) (2,800.9 ) (2,102.3
32633 53594 24468
5849 26740 32364
1,500.0 — —
5000  — —
(4,884.8 ) (6,484.4 ) (5,093.7
(144 ) 2643 2385
(232.8 ) (7663 ) —

98.9 1197 925
(1,323.5) (1,073.0 ) (886.1)
(189 ) (914 ) (107.1)
33 ) (753 ) (0.1 )
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Deferred financing costs and other financing activities (56.6 ) 40.0 ) (265 )
Purchase of noncontrolling interest 205 ) — —
Cash used for financing activities (607.7 ) (113.0 ) (99.3 )

Net effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents,
and restricted cash

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED
CASH

SC{gil; AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH, BEGINNING OF 954.9 936.5 462.9
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH, END OF YEAR $1,304.9 $9549  $936.5
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

411 ) 6.7 (26.5 )

350.0 18.4 473.6
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1. BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business—American Tower Corporation (together with its subsidiaries, “ATC” or the “Company”) is one of the largest
global real estate investment trusts and a leading independent owner, operator and developer of multitenant
communications real estate. The Company’s primary business is the leasing of space on communications sites to
wireless service providers, radio and television broadcast companies, wireless data providers, government agencies

and municipalities and tenants in a number of other industries. The Company refers to this business as its property
operations. Additionally, the Company offers tower-related services in the United States, which the Company refers to
as its services operations. These services include site acquisition, zoning and permitting (“AZP”) and structural analysis,
which primarily support the Company’s site leasing business, including the addition of new tenants and equipment on
its sites.

The Company’s portfolio primarily consists of towers that it owns and towers that it operates pursuant to long-term
lease arrangements, as well as distributed antenna system (“DAS”) networks, which provide seamless coverage
solutions in certain in-building and certain outdoor wireless environments. In addition to the communications sites in
its portfolio, the Company manages rooftop and tower sites for property owners under various contractual
arrangements. The Company also holds other telecommunications infrastructure, fiber and property interests that it
leases primarily to communications service providers and third-party tower operators.

American Tower Corporation is a holding company that conducts its operations through its directly and indirectly
owned subsidiaries and joint ventures. ATC’s principal domestic operating subsidiaries are American Towers LLC and
SpectraSite Communications, LLC. ATC conducts its international operations primarily through its subsidiary,
American Tower International, Inc., which in turn conducts operations through its various international holding and
operating subsidiaries and joint ventures.

The Company operates as a real estate investment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes (“REIT”). Accordingly, the
Company generally is not required to pay U.S. federal income taxes on income generated by its REIT operations,
including the income derived from leasing space on its towers, as it receives a dividends paid deduction for
distributions to stockholders that generally offsets its REIT income and gains. However, the Company remains
obligated to pay U.S. federal income taxes on earnings from its domestic taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRSs”). In
addition, the Company’s international assets and operations, regardless of their classification for U.S. tax purposes,
continue to be subject to taxation in the jurisdictions where those assets are held or those operations are conducted.

The use of TRSs enables the Company to continue to engage in certain businesses while complying with REIT
qualification requirements. The Company may, from time to time, change the election of previously designated TRSs
to be included as part of the REIT. As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s REIT-qualified businesses included its
U.S. tower leasing business, its operations in Nigeria, most of its operations in Costa Rica and Mexico, a majority of
its operations in Germany and a majority of its indoor DAS networks business and services segment. In January 2019,
a majority of the Company’s operations in France became part of the REIT.

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation—The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of the Company and those entities in which it has a controlling interest. Investments in entities that the
Company does not control are accounted for using the equity or cost method, depending upon the Company’s ability to
exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies. All intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated. As of December 31, 2018, the Company holds (i) a 51% controlling interest, and MTN Group

Limited holds a 49% noncontrolling interest, in each of two joint ventures, one in Ghana and one in Uganda, (ii) a
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51% controlling interest, and PGGM holds a 49% noncontrolling interest, in a joint venture that primarily consists of
the Company’s operations in Germany and France, (iii) an approximate 81% controlling interest, and South African
investors hold an approximate 19% noncontrolling interest, in a subsidiary of the Company in South Africa and (iv) a
63% controlling interest in ATC Telecom Infrastructure Private Limited (“ATC TIPL”), formerly Viom Networks
Limited (“Viom™), in India.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company purchased approximately 6% of the interest in a subsidiary
of the Company in South Africa from one of its local partners for $20.5 million, which resulted in an increase in the
Company’s controlling interest from approximately 75% to approximately 81%. The purchase is reflected in the
consolidated statements of equity as a reduction of Additional paid-in capital of $16.5 million, a decrease in
Accumulated other comprehensive loss of $0.5 million and a reduction in Noncontrolling interest of $4.5 million.
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Significant Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual
results may differ from those estimates, and such differences could be material to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements. The significant estimates in the accompanying consolidated financial statements include
impairment of long-lived assets (including goodwill), asset retirement obligations, revenue recognition, rent expense,
income taxes and accounting for business combinations and acquisitions of assets. The Company considers events or
transactions that occur after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are issued as additional evidence
for certain estimates or to identify matters that require additional disclosure.

Accounts Receivable and Deferred Rent Asset—The Company derives the largest portion of its revenues, corresponding
accounts receivable and the related deferred rent asset from a relatively small number of tenants in the
telecommunications industry, and 51% of its current-year revenues are derived from four tenants.

The Company’s deferred rent asset is associated with non-cancellable tenant leases that contain fixed escalation clauses
over the terms of the applicable lease in which revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company mitigates its concentrations of credit risk with respect to notes and trade receivables and the related
deferred rent assets by actively monitoring the creditworthiness of its borrowers and tenants. In recognizing tenant
revenue, the Company assesses the collectibility of both the amounts billed and the portion recognized in advance of
billing on a straight-line basis. This assessment takes tenant credit risk and business and industry conditions into
consideration to ultimately determine the collectibility of the amounts billed. To the extent the amounts, based on
management’s estimates, may not be collectible, recognition is deferred until such point as collectibility is determined
to be reasonably assured. Any amounts that were previously recognized as revenue and subsequently determined to be
uncollectible are charged to bad debt expense included in Selling, general, administrative and development expense in
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Accounts receivable is reported net of allowances for doubtful accounts related to estimated losses resulting from a
tenant’s inability to make required payments and allowances for amounts invoiced whose collectibility is not
reasonably assured. These allowances are generally estimated based on payment patterns, days past due and collection
history, and incorporate changes in economic conditions that may not be reflected in historical trends, such as tenants
in bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization. Receivables are written-off against the allowances when they are
determined to be uncollectible. Such determination includes analysis and consideration of the particular conditions of
the account. Changes in the allowances were as follows:

Year Ended December

31,

2018 2017 2016
Balance as of January 1, $131.0 $459 $23.1
Current year increases 157.8 87.2 50.0
Write-offs, recoveries and other (1) (6.4 ) (2.1 ) (27.2)
Balance as of December 31, $282.4 $131.0 $459

(1)Recoveries includes recognition of revenue resulting from collections of previously reserved amounts.
Functional Currency—The functional currency of each of the Company’s foreign operating subsidiaries is normally the
respective local currency, except for Costa Rica, where the functional currency is the U.S. Dollar. All foreign currency
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assets and liabilities held by the subsidiaries are translated into U.S. Dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the end of
the applicable fiscal reporting period and all foreign currency revenues and expenses are translated at the average
monthly exchange rates. Translation adjustments are reflected in equity as a component of Accumulated other
comprehensive loss (“AOCL”) in the consolidated balance sheets and included as a component of Comprehensive
income in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Gains and losses on foreign currency transactions are reflected in Other expense in the consolidated statements of
operations. However, the effect from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on intercompany debt for which
repayment is not anticipated in the foreseeable future is reflected in AOCL in the consolidated balance sheets and
included as a component of comprehensive income.
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The Company recorded the following net foreign currency losses:

Year Ended December

31,

2018 2017 2016
Foreign currency losses recorded in AOCL $385.8 $51.6 $105.0
Foreign currency losses (gains) recorded in Other expense 4.5 (26.4) 48.9
Net foreign currency losses $390.3 $25.2 $153.9

Adoption of Highly Inflationary Accounting in Argentina—The Argentinean economy was deemed to be highly
inflationary as of the second quarter of 2018 and, as a result, the Company adopted highly inflationary accounting as
of July 1, 2018 for its subsidiary in Argentina. Under highly inflationary accounting, the functional currency of its
subsidiary in Argentina is considered to be the U.S. Dollar. All monetary and non-monetary assets and liabilities were
remeasured at the U.S. Dollar to Argentinean Peso exchange rate of 1 to 29.4 as of June 30, 2018. These amounts
became the new basis for those assets and liabilities as of July 1, 2018. Non-monetary assets and liabilities, as well as
the corresponding income statement activities such as depreciation, amortization and equity, will continue to be
measured at the June 30, 2018 exchange rate. This change did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial
statements as Argentina’s assets and revenue are less than 1% of consolidated assets and revenue, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term
investments with original maturities of three months or less. The Company maintains its deposits at high quality
financial institutions and monitors the credit ratings of those institutions.

Restricted Cash—Restricted cash includes cash pledged as collateral to secure obligations and all cash whose use is
otherwise limited by contractual provisions.

The reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the applicable balance sheet that
sum to the total of the same such amounts shown in the statement of cash flows is as follows:

Year Ended December

31,

2018 2017 2016
Cash and cash equivalents $1,208.7 $802.1 $787.2
Restricted cash 96.2 152.8 149.3

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $1,304.9 $954.9 $936.5

Short-Term Investments—Short-term investments consists of highly liquid investments with original maturities in
excess of three months.

Property and Equipment—Property and equipment is recorded at cost or, in the case of acquired properties, at estimated
fair value on the date acquired. Cost for self-constructed towers includes direct materials and labor, capitalized interest
and certain indirect costs associated with construction of the tower, such as transportation costs, employee benefits
and payroll taxes. The Company begins the capitalization of costs during the pre-construction period, which is the
period during which costs are incurred to evaluate the site, and continues to capitalize costs until the tower is
substantially completed and ready for occupancy by a tenant. Labor and related costs capitalized for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $55.0 million, $50.9 million and $47.7 million, respectively. Capitalized
interest costs were not material for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Augmentation and improvements that extend an
asset’s useful life or enhance capacity are capitalized.

Depreciation expense is recorded using the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated useful lives. Towers and
related assets on leased land are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the
corresponding ground lease, taking into consideration lease renewal options and residual value.
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Towers or assets acquired through capital leases are recorded net at the present value of future minimum lease
payments or the fair value of the leased asset at the inception of the lease. Property and equipment and assets held
under capital leases are
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amortized over the shorter of the applicable lease term or the estimated useful life of the respective assets for periods
generally not exceeding twenty years.

The Company reviews its tower portfolio for indicators of impairment on an individual tower basis. Impairments
primarily result from a tower not having current tenant leases or from having expenses in excess of revenues. The
Company reviews other long-lived assets for impairment whenever events, changes in circumstances or other
evidence indicate that the carrying amount of the Company’s assets may not be recoverable. The Company records
impairment charges in Other operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations in the period in which
the Company identifies such impairment.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets—The Company reviews goodwill for impairment at least annually (as of
December 31) or whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable.
Goodwill is recorded in the applicable segment and assessed for impairment at the reporting unit level. The Company
utilizes the two-step impairment test and employs a discounted cash flow analysis when testing goodwill for
impairment. The key assumptions utilized in the discounted cash flow analysis include current operating performance,
terminal sales growth rate, management’s expectations of future operating results and cash requirements, the current
weighted average cost of capital and an expected tax rate. Under the first step of the test, the Company compares the
fair value of the reporting unit, as calculated under an income approach using future discounted cash flows, to the
carrying amount of the applicable reporting unit. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, the Company conducts
the second step of this test, in which the implied fair value of the applicable reporting unit’s goodwill is compared to
the carrying amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment
loss would be recognized for the amount of the excess.

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, no potential impairment was identified under the first
step of the test, as the fair value of each of the reporting units was in excess of its carrying amount.

Intangible assets that are separable from goodwill and are deemed to have a definite life are amortized over their
useful lives, generally ranging from three to twenty years and are evaluated separately for impairment at least annually
or whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

The Company reviews its network location intangible assets for indicators of impairment on an individual tower basis.
Impairments primarily result from a tower not having current tenant leases or from having expenses in excess of
revenues. The Company monitors its tenant-related intangible assets on a tenant by tenant basis for indicators of
impairment, such as high levels of turnover or attrition, non-renewal of a significant number of contracts or the
cancellation or termination of a relationship. The Company assesses recoverability by determining whether the
carrying amount of the related assets will be recovered primarily through projected undiscounted future cash flows. If
the Company determines that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable, the Company measures any
impairment loss based on the projected future discounted cash flows to be provided from the asset or available market
information relative to the asset’s fair value, as compared to the asset’s carrying amount. The Company records
impairment charges, which are discussed in note 16, in Other operating expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations in the period in which the Company identifies such impairment.

Derivative Financial Instruments—Derivatives are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. If a
derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portions of changes in the fair value of the derivative are
recorded in AOCL, as well as a component of comprehensive income, and are recognized in the results of operations
when the hedged item affects earnings. Changes in fair value of the ineffective portions of cash flow hedges are
recognized in the results of operations. For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges,
changes in value of the derivatives are recorded in Other expense in the consolidated statements of operations in the
current period, along with the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk. For derivative
instruments not designated as hedging instruments, changes in fair value are recognized in the results of operations in
the period that the change occurs.

147



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A

The primary risks managed through the use of derivative instruments is interest rate risk, exposure to changes in the
fair value of debt attributable to interest rate risk and currency risk. From time to time, the Company enters into
interest rate swap agreements or foreign currency contracts to manage exposure to these risks. Under these
agreements, the Company is exposed to counterparty credit risk to the extent that a counterparty fails to meet the
terms of a contract. The Company’s exposure is limited to the current value of the contract at the time the counterparty
fails to perform. The Company assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, whether the
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows or fair values
of hedged items. The Company does not hold derivatives for trading purposes.
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Fair Value Measurements—The Company determines the fair value of its financial instruments based on the fair value
hierarchy, which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable
inputs when measuring fair value.

Asset Retirement Obligations—When required, the Company recognizes the fair value of obligations to remove its tower
assets and remediate the leased land upon which certain of its tower assets are located. Generally, the associated
retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related tower assets and depreciated over their
estimated useful lives and the liability is accreted through the obligation’s estimated settlement date. Fair value
estimates of asset retirement obligations generally involve discounting of estimated future cash flows associated with
takedown costs. Periodic accretion of such liabilities due to the passage of time is included in Depreciation,
amortization and accretion expense in the consolidated statements of operations. Adjustments are also made to the
asset retirement obligation liability to reflect changes in the estimates of timing and amount of expected cash flows,
with an offsetting adjustment made to the related long-lived tangible asset. The significant assumptions used in
estimating the Company’s aggregate asset retirement obligation are: timing of tower removals; cost of tower removals;
timing and number of land lease renewals; expected inflation rates; and credit-adjusted, risk-free interest rates that
approximate the Company’s incremental borrowing rate.

Income Taxes—As a REIT, the Company generally is not subject to U.S. federal income taxes on income generated by
its REIT operations as it receives a dividends paid deduction for distributions to stockholders that generally offsets its
REIT income and gains. However, the Company remains obligated to pay U.S. federal income taxes on certain
earnings and continues to be subject to taxation in its foreign jurisdictions. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements reflect provisions for federal, state, local and foreign income taxes. The Company recognizes deferred tax
assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis, as well as operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. The Company measures deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences and carryforwards are expected to be recovered or
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities as a result of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in
the period that includes the enactment date.

The Company periodically reviews its deferred tax assets, and provides valuation allowances if, based on the available
evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Management
assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated
to use the existing deferred tax assets. Valuation allowances would be reversed as a reduction to the provision for
income taxes if related deferred tax assets are deemed realizable based on changes in facts and circumstances relevant
to the assets’ recoverability.

The Company classifies uncertain tax positions as non-current income tax liabilities in Other non-current liabilities in
the consolidated balance sheet, unless expected to be paid within one year. The Company reports penalties and
tax-related interest expense as a component of the income tax provision and interest income from tax refunds as a
component of Other expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)—Other comprehensive income (loss) refers to items excluded from net income
that are recorded as an adjustment to equity, net of tax. The Company’s other comprehensive income (loss) primarily
consisted of changes in fair value of effective derivative cash flow hedges, foreign currency translation adjustments
and reclassification of unrealized losses on effective derivative cash flow hedges. The AOCL balance included
accumulated foreign currency translation losses of $2.6 billion, $2.0 billion and $2.0 billion for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Distributions—As a REIT, the Company must annually distribute to its stockholders an amount equal to at least 90% of
its REIT taxable income (determined before the deduction for distributed earnings and excluding any net capital gain).
Generally, the Company has distributed, and expects to continue to distribute, all or substantially all of its REIT
taxable income after taking into consideration its utilization of net operating losses (“NOLs”).
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The amount, timing and frequency of future distributions will be at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors and
will depend upon various factors, a number of which may be beyond the Company’s control, including the Company’s
financial condition and operating cash flows, the amount required to maintain its qualification for taxation as a REIT
and reduce any income and excise taxes that the Company otherwise would be required to pay, limitations on
distributions in the Company’s existing and future debt and preferred equity instruments, the Company’s ability to
utilize NOLs to offset the Company’s distribution requirements, limitations on its ability to fund distributions using
cash generated through its TRSs and other factors that the Board of Directors may deem relevant.
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Acquisitions—For acquisitions that meet the definition of a business combination, the Company applies the acquisition
method of accounting where assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at fair value at the date of each
acquisition, and the results of operations are included with those of the Company from the dates of the respective
acquisitions. Any excess of the purchase price paid by the Company over the amounts recognized for assets acquired
and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. The Company continues to evaluate acquisitions for a period not to
exceed one year after the applicable acquisition date of each transaction to determine whether any additional
adjustments are needed to the allocation of the purchase price paid for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. All
other acquisitions are accounted for as asset acquisitions and the purchase price is allocated to the net assets acquired
with no recognition of goodwill. The purchase price is not subsequently adjusted.

The fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is typically determined by using either estimates of
replacement costs or discounted cash flow valuation methods. When determining the fair value of tangible assets
acquired, the Company must estimate the cost to replace the asset with a new asset taking into consideration such
factors as age, condition and the economic useful life of the asset. When determining the fair value of intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, the Company must estimate the applicable discount rate and the timing and amount
of future cash flows, including rate and terms of renewal and attrition.

Revenue—The Company’s revenue from leasing arrangements, including fixed escalation clauses present in
non-cancellable lease arrangements, is reported on a straight-line basis over the term of the respective leases when
collectibility is probable. Escalation clauses tied to the Consumer Price Index or other inflation-based indices, and
other incentives present in lease agreements with the Company’s tenants are excluded from the straight-line
calculation. Total property straight-line revenues for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $87.6
million, $194.4 million and $131.7 million, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2018 the Company
entered into agreements with one of its tenants in India, Tata Teleservices Limited (‘“Tata Teleservices”) and related
entities (collectively, “Tata”), for a settlement and release of certain contractual lease obligations of Tata Teleservices
for which the Company received a cash settlement payment of $345.5 million.

The new revenue recognition accounting standard, which applies to revenue not recorded under the lease standard,
requires entities to recognize revenue when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the new revenue recognition standard using the modified
retrospective method applied to contracts that were not completed as of January 1, 2018. Results for reporting periods
beginning January 1, 2018 are presented under the new standard, while prior-period amounts are not adjusted and
continue to be reported in accordance with accounting under the previously applicable guidance.

The Company recorded a net reduction to opening Distributions in excess of earnings in its consolidated balance sheet
of $38.4 million as of January 1, 2018 due to the cumulative impact of adopting the new revenue recognition standard.
The impact is primarily related to the Company’s site inspection revenue, which is now recognized at the point in time
when the inspection service is completed. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the impact of applying the new
standard was an increase to revenue of $4.9 million.

The adoption of the new revenue recognition accounting standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s
revenue recognition patterns. Most of the Company’s revenue is derived from leasing arrangements and is accounted
for as lease revenue. A small portion of the Company’s revenue is either derived from non-lease performance
obligations within the lease arrangements or from other agreements with its tenants. This revenue, designated
non-lease revenue, is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the tenants in an
amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.
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Since most of the Company’s contracts are leases, costs to enter into lease arrangements are capitalized under the
applicable lease accounting guidance. Costs incurred to obtain non-lease contracts that are capitalized primarily relate
to DAS networks and are not material to the consolidated financial statements. The Company has excluded sales tax,
value-added tax and similar taxes from non-lease revenue.

Non-lease revenue is disaggregated by geography in a manner consistent with the Company’s business segments,
which are discussed further in note 20. A summary of non-lease revenue disaggregated by source and geography is as
follows:
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Latin

Year Ended December 31, 2018 U.S. Asia EMEA America Total
Power and fuel pass-through revenue $— $450.0 $140.3 $16.8  $607.1
Other non-lease revenue 273.2 7.0 1.3 102.1 383.6
Total non-lease property revenue $273.2 $457.0 $141.6 $118.9 $990.7
Services revenue 125.4 — — — 125.4
Total non-lease revenue $398.6 $457.0 $141.6 $1189 $1.,116.1
Property lease revenue 3,5489 1,083.5 5457 11,1459 6,324.0
Total revenue $3,947.5 $1,540.5 $687.3 $1,264.8 $7,440.1

Power and fuel pass-through revenue—Most of the Company’s leasing arrangements outside of the U.S. require that the
Company provide power to the communications site through an electrical grid connection, diesel fuel generators or
other sources and permit the Company to pass through the costs of, or otherwise charge for, these services. The
Company recognizes revenue received in connection with such services as power and fuel pass-through revenue.
Many arrangements require that the communications site has power for a specified percentage of time. In most such
cases, if delivery of power falls below the specified service level, a corresponding reduction in revenue is recorded.
The Company has determined that this performance obligation is satisfied over time for the duration of the
arrangement.

Other significant judgments related to this revenue stream are the (i) determination that the Company is a principal in
these transactions and revenue is therefore recorded on a gross basis and (ii) service level related adjustments to
revenue.

Other non-lease revenue—Other non-lease revenue consists primarily of revenue generated from DAS networks, fiber
and other property related revenue. DAS networks and fiber arrangements require that the Company provide the
tenant the right to use the applicable communications infrastructure. Performance obligations are satisfied over time
for the duration of the arrangements. Other property related revenue streams, which include site inspections, are not
material on either an individual or consolidated basis.

Services revenue—The Company offers tower-related services in the United States. These services include AZP and
structural analysis. There is a single performance obligation related to AZP, and revenue is recognized over time
based on milestones achieved, which are determined based on costs expected to be incurred. Structural analysis
services may have more than one performance obligation, contingent upon the number of contracted services.
Revenue is recognized at the point in time the services are completed.

Some of the Company’s contracts with tenants contain multiple performance obligations. For these arrangements, the
Company allocates revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price, which is
typically based on the price charged to tenants.

Information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with tenants is as follows:

January December
1,2018 31, 2018

Accounts receivable $222.2 $ 260.7
Prepaids and other current assets 79.7 103.2
Notes receivable and other non-current assets 24.2 22.2
Unearned revenue 26.6 37.6
Other non-current liabilities 68.5 54.9
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The Company records unearned revenue when payments are received from tenants in advance of the completion of the
Company’s performance obligations. Long-term unearned revenue is included in Other non-current liabilities. The
increase in the Unearned revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 is due to payments received, offset by $79.5
million of revenue recognized during the year ended December 31, 2018, that was included in the Unearned revenue
balance as of January 1, 2018. There was $0.5 million of revenue recognized from Other non-current liabilities during
the year ended December 31, 2018.
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The Company records unbilled receivables, which are included in Prepaids and other current assets, when it has
completed a performance obligation prior to its ability to bill under the customer arrangement. Other contract assets
are included in Notes receivable and other non-current assets. The decrease in unbilled receivables attributable to
revenue recognized during the year ended December 31, 2018 was $1.0 million. The change in contract assets
attributable to revenue recognized during the year ended December 31, 2018 was $0.4 million.

The Company does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for agreements (i) with an original
expected length of one year or less or (ii) for which it recognizes revenue at the amount to which it has the right to
invoice for services performed.

Rent Expense—Many of the leases underlying the Company’s tower sites have fixed rent escalations, which provide for
periodic increases in the amount of ground rent payable by the Company over time. In addition, certain of the
Company’s tenant leases require the Company to exercise available renewal options pursuant to the underlying ground
lease if the tenant exercises its renewal option. The Company calculates straight-line ground rent expense for these
leases based on the fixed non-cancellable term of the underlying ground lease plus all periods, if any, for which failure
to renew the lease imposes an economic penalty to the Company such that renewal appears to be reasonably assured.
Total property straight-line ground rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $57.9
million, $62.3 million and $67.8 million, respectively. The Company records a liability for straight-line ground rent
expense in Other non-current liabilities. The Company records prepaid ground rent in Prepaid and other current assets
and Notes receivable and other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets according to the
anticipated period of benefit.

Selling, General, Administrative and Development Expense—Selling, general and administrative expense consists of
overhead expenses related to the Company’s property and services operations and corporate overhead costs not
specifically allocable to any of the Company’s individual business operations. Development expense consists of costs
related to the Company’s acquisition efforts, costs associated with new business initiatives and project cancellation
costs.

Stock-Based Compensation—Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the accounting measurement date based
on the fair value of the award and is generally recognized as an expense over the service period, which typically
represents the vesting period. The Company provides for accelerated vesting and extended exercise periods of stock
options and restricted stock units upon an employee’s death or permanent disability, or upon an employee’s qualified
retirement, provided certain eligibility criteria are met. Accordingly, the Company recognizes compensation expense
for stock options and time-based restricted stock units (“RSUs”) over the shorter of (i) the four-year vesting period or
(ii) the period from the date of grant to the date the employee becomes eligible for such retirement benefits, which
may occur upon grant. The expense recognized includes the impact of forfeitures as they occur.

The Company grants performance-based restricted stock units (“PSUs”) to its executive officers. Threshold, target and
maximum parameters are established for a three-year performance period at the time of grant. The metrics are used to
calculate the number of shares that will be issuable when the awards vest, which may range from zero to 200% of the
target amounts. The Company recognizes compensation expense for PSUs over the three-year vesting period, subject
to adjustment based on the date the employee becomes eligible for retirement benefits as well as performance relative
to grant parameters.

The fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the fair value of RSUs
and PSUs is based on the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The Company recognizes all
stock-based compensation expense in either Selling, general, administrative and development expense, costs of
operations or as part of the costs associated with the construction of the tower assets.

In connection with the vesting of restricted stock units, the Company withholds from issuance a number of shares of
common stock to satisfy certain employee tax withholding obligations arising from such vesting. The shares withheld

155



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A

are considered constructively retired. The Company recognizes the fair value of the shares withheld in Additional
paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2018, the Company has withheld from
issuance an aggregate of 1.7 million shares, including 0.3 million shares related to the vesting of restricted stock units
during the year ended December 31, 2018.

Litigation Costs—The Company periodically becomes involved in various claims and lawsuits that are incidental to its
business. The Company regularly monitors the status of pending legal actions to evaluate both the magnitude and
likelihood of any potential loss. The Company accrues for these potential losses when it is probable that a liability has
been incurred and the amount of loss, or possible range of loss, can be reasonably estimated. Should the ultimate
losses on contingencies or litigation vary from estimates, adjustments to those liabilities may be required. The
Company also incurs legal costs in connection with
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these matters and records estimates of these expenses, which are reflected in Selling, general, administrative and
development expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Earnings Per Common Share—Basic and Diluted—Basic net income per common share represents net income attributable
to American Tower Corporation common stockholders divided by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per common share represents net income attributable to American
Tower Corporation common stockholders divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period and any dilutive common share equivalents, including (A) shares issuable upon (i) the vesting of
RSUgs, (ii) exercise of stock options, and (iii) conversion of the Company’s mandatory convertible preferred stock and
(B) shares expected to be earned upon the achievement of the parameters established for PSUs, each to the extent not
anti-dilutive. Dilutive common share equivalents also include the dilutive impact of the shares issuable in the Alltel
transaction, which is described in note 18. The Company uses the treasury stock method to calculate the effect of its
outstanding RSUs, PSUs and stock options and uses the if-converted method to calculate the effect of its outstanding
mandatory convertible preferred stock.

Retirement Plan—The Company has a 401(k) plan covering substantially all employees who meet certain age and
employment requirements. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company matched 100% of the first
5% of a participant's contributions. For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company matched 75% of the first 6%
of a participant’s contributions. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company contributed
$11.2 million, $11.0 million and $9.1 million to the plan, respectively.

Accounting Standards Updates

Lease Accounting—In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued guidance on the
accounting for leases. The guidance amends the existing accounting standards for lease accounting, including the
requirement that lessees recognize right of use assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms greater than twelve
months in the statement of financial position. Under the new guidance, lessor accounting is largely unchanged.

In January 2018, the FASB issued guidance on the treatment of land easements. The guidance provides a practical
expedient to not evaluate existing or expired land easements under the new lease accounting standards if those
easements were not previously accounted for as leases under the existing lease guidance. The Company does not
expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on its financial statements or its adoption of the lease
accounting guidance.

In July 2018, the FASB issued additional guidance on the accounting for leases. The guidance provides companies
with another transition method by allowing entities to recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance
of retained earnings as of the date of adoption. Under this method, previously presented years’ financial positions and
results would not be adjusted. The new guidance also provides lessors with a practical expedient, by class of
underlying asset, to not separate non-lease components from the associated lease component if the non-lease
components would otherwise be accounted for under the new revenue recognition standard and both the timing and
pattern of transfer are the same for the non-lease components and associated lease component and, if accounted for
separately, the lease component would be classified as an operating lease.

In December 2018, the FASB issued additional guidance with narrow-scope improvements for lessors. The guidance

permits lessors, as an accounting policy election, to exclude sales and related taxes from the evaluation of lessor costs,
requires lessors to exclude from revenue and expense lessor costs paid directly to a third party by lessees and clarifies
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the lessors’ accounting for variable payments related to both lease and non-lease components.

The lease accounting guidance is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning
after December 15, 2018.

The Company plans to adopt the standard using the modified retrospective method applied to lease arrangements that
were in place on the transition date. Results for reporting periods beginning January 1, 2019 will be presented under
the new standard, while prior-period amounts will not be adjusted and will continue to be reported in accordance with
accounting under the previously applicable guidance.

The Company will elect certain available practical expedients that permit the adopter to not reassess certain items
upon adoption, including: (i) whether any existing contracts are or contain leases, (ii) the classification of existing
leases and (iii) initial directs costs for existing leases. As a result, the vast majority of the Company’s ground leases
will continue to be accounted for as operating leases under the standard and have recognition patterns similar to those
under prior guidance. The
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Company will also elect the practical expedient related to land easements, which permits carryforward accounting
treatment of capitalizing long-term easements that have a specified term. The Company will elect to not separate
non-lease components from the related lease components and will account for the components together as a single
lease component on the transition date.

The Company estimates adoption of the standard will result in recognition of operating lease right of use assets and
operating lease liabilities of approximately $7.1 billion and $6.8 billion, respectively, as of January 1, 2019. The right
of use assets recorded include, among other items, amounts previously classified as prepaid rent, deferred lease
acquisition costs and long-term deferred rent obligations. The Company also expects to record approximately $24.7
million as an adjustment to retained earnings related to right of use assets assets recorded on previously impaired sites.
The Company’s capital lease assets, which are disclosed in note 3, and liabilities, which are disclosed in note 8, remain
largely unchanged under the lease accounting standard. Although adoption of the standard will require the Company
to provide additional disclosures in the financial statements and notes, the Company does not expect the standard will
have a material impact on its results of operations or liquidity. The Company does not expect the guidance to have a
material impact on its debt covenant compliance.

Other Updates—In January 2017, the FASB issued guidance on accounting for goodwill impairments. The guidance
eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test and requires, among other things, recognition of an impairment
loss when the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value. The loss recognized is limited to the total
amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The guidance is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual
goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The Company does not expect the
adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In August 2017, the FASB issued guidance on hedge and derivative accounting. The guidance simplifies accounting
rules around hedge accounting and the disclosures of hedging arrangements. Among other things, the guidance
eliminates the need to separately measure and report hedge ineffectiveness and generally requires the entire change in
fair value of a hedging instrument to be presented in the same income statement line as the hedged item. The guidance
is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018, with
early adoption permitted. The Company early adopted this guidance during the fourth quarter of 2018. The adoption
of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In February 2018, the FASB issued new guidance on the treatment of tax effects that are presented in other
comprehensive income. The guidance allows a reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to
retained earnings for stranded tax effects as a result of the December 2017 legislation commonly referred to as the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”). The guidance is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption
of this guidance to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance on fair value measurements. The guidance modifies the disclosure
requirements on fair value measurements and is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company early adopted this guidance during
the fourth quarter of 2018. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial
statements.

Other Disclosure Requirement Updates

159



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A

In August 2018, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued a final rule that amends certain of its disclosure
requirements. Among other amendments, the final rule extends to interim periods the annual disclosure requirement of
presenting changes in stockholders’ equity and the amount of dividends per share for each class of shares and deletes
the provisions of the rules that require the presentation of dividends per share on the face of the income statement for
interim periods, moving the required disclosure to the analysis of changes in stockholders’ equity. The final rule was
effective as of November 5, 2018. The adoption of these disclosure requirements did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial statements.
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2. PREPAID AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepaid and other current assets consisted of the following as of December 31,:

2018 2017
Prepaid operating ground leases $165.0 $148.6
Unbilled receivables 126.1 107.9
Prepaid income tax 125.1 136.5
Value added tax and other consumption tax receivables 86.3  64.2
Prepaid assets 40.5 39.6
Other miscellaneous current assets 782 718
Prepaids and other current assets $621.2 $568.6

3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment (including assets held under capital leases) consisted of the following as of December 31,:
Estimated

Useful Lives (years) (1) 2018 2017
Towers Up to 20 $12,777.9 $12,500.5
Equipment (2) 2-20 1,667.3 1,423.0
Buildings and improvements 3 - 32 628.5 631.4
Land and improvements (3)  Up to 20 2,285.4 2,112.9
Construction-in-progress 358.1 282.1
Total 17,7172 16,949.9
Less accumulated depreciation (6,470.1 ) (5,848.9 )
Property and equipment, net $11,247.1 $11,101.0

(I)Assets on leased land are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the
corresponding ground lease taking into consideration lease renewal options and residual value.

(2)Includes fiber and DAS assets.

(3)Estimated useful lives apply to improvements only.

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $883.1 million, $835.5 million and
$758.9 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2018, property and equipment included $4,369.5 million and $1,016.2 million of capital lease
assets with related equipment and improvements and accumulated depreciation, respectively. As of December 31,
2017, property and equipment included $4,944.2 million and $1,370.4 million of capital lease assets with related
equipment and improvements and accumulated depreciation, respectively. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, capital
lease assets were primarily classified as towers and land and improvements.

4. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The changes in the carrying value of goodwill for the Company’s business segments were as follows:

Property
US. Asia EMEA Latin‘ Services Total
America

Balance as of January 1, 2017 $3,379.2 $1,029.3 $150.5 $509.7 $ 2.0 $5,070.7
Additions (1) — 0.4 2209 264.8 — 486.1
Effect of foreign currency translation — 65.3 33.5 (172 ) — 81.6
Balance as of January 1, 2018 $3,379.2 $1,095.0 $404.9 $7573 $ 2.0 $5,6384
Additions (2) 33 44.5 — 0.4 — 48.2
Effect of foreign currency translation — 94.0 ) (3.6 ) (671 ) — (184.7 )

Balance as of December 31, 2018 $3,382.5 $1,045.5 $381.3 $690.6 $ 2.0 $5,501.9
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Additions consist of $485.1 million resulting from 2017 acquisitions and $1.0 million from revisions to prior-year
acquisitions due to measurement period adjustments.

Additions consist of $47.8 million resulting from 2018 acquisitions and $0.4 million from revisions to prior-year
acquisitions due to measurement period adjustments.
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The Company’s other intangible assets subject to amortization consisted of the following:

As of December 31, 2018 As of December 31, 2017
. ross Gross
Estimated Usef rrvin Accumulated Net Book Carrvin Accumulated Net Book
Lives ymng Amortization Value ymeg Amortization Value
Value Value
(years)

Acquired network location
intangibles (1)
Acquired tenant-related

Up to 20 $4,780.3 $(1,704.9 ) $3,075.4 $4,858.8 $(1,525.3 ) $3,333.5

. ) 15-20 11,156.5 (3,147.2 ) 8,009.3 11,150.9 (2,754.7 ) 8,396.2
intangibles

Acquired licenses and other 5 ) 1041 (145 ) 89.6 58.8 (8.1 ) 50.7
intangibles

Ezc)onomlc Rights, TV Azteca 70 . o _ 14.5 (11.6 ) 2.9

Total other intangible assets $16,040.9 $(4,866.6 ) $11,174.3 $16,083.0 $(4,299.7 ) $11,783.3

Acquired network location intangibles are amortized over the shorter of the term of the corresponding ground lease
(1)taking into consideration lease renewal options and residual value or up to 20 years, as the Company considers
these intangibles to be directly related to the tower assets.

As discussed in note 5, in conjunction with the extinguishment of a note from TV Azteca (as defined in note 5), the
Company restructured the Economic Rights Agreement (as defined in note 5) and wrote off the corresponding
asset. The intangible asset related to the Commercialization Rights (as defined in note 5) agreement with TV
Azteca is included in Acquired licenses and other intangibles.

The acquired network location intangibles represent the value to the Company of the incremental revenue growth that
could potentially be obtained from leasing the excess capacity on acquired communications sites. The acquired
tenant-related intangibles typically represent the value to the Company of tenant contracts and relationships in place at
the time of an acquisition or similar transaction, including assumptions regarding estimated renewals.

The Company amortizes its acquired network location intangibles and tenant-related intangibles on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives. As of December 31, 2018, the remaining weighted average amortization period
of the Company’s intangible assets was 15 years. Amortization of intangible assets for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016 was $1,144.1 million, $785.9 million and $699.8 million, respectively. Amortization expense
increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 because the Company entered into agreements with Tata for a
settlement and release of certain contractual lease obligations of Tata Teleservices. As a result, the Company recorded
$327.5 million of accelerated amortization related to the Tata tenant relationship, which was subsequently retired.
Based on current exchange rates, the Company expects to record amortization expense as follows over the next five
years:

2)

Year Ending December 31,

2019 $786.0
2020 765.8
2021 749.6
2022 745.1
2023 740.6
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5. NOTES RECEIVABLE AND OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Notes receivable and other non-current assets consisted of the following as of December 31,:

2018 2017
Long-term prepaid ground rent $607.5 $552.8
Notes receivable 1.0 83.7
Other miscellaneous assets 354.1 313.6

Notes receivable and other non-current assets $962.6 $950.1
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TV Azteca Note Receivable—In 2000, the Company loaned TV Azteca, S.A. de C.V. (“TV Azteca”), the owner of a major
national television network in Mexico, $119.8 million. The loan had an interest rate of 13.11%, payable quarterly,

which at the time of issuance was determined to be below market and therefore a corresponding discount was

recorded. The term of the loan was 70 years. The Company amortized the discount on the loan to Interest income, TV
Azteca, net of interest expense on its consolidated statements of operations using the effective interest method over

the term of the loan. As of December 31, 2017, the outstanding balance on the loan was $91.8 million, or $82.9

million, net of discount. On September 25, 2018, TV Azteca paid $59.5 million to extinguish this loan and

simultaneously restructured its Economic Rights agreement, which the Company estimated had a fair value of $24.8
million.

TV Azteca Economic Rights and Commercialization Rights—Simultaneous with the signing of the loan agreement in
2000, the Company also entered into a 70-year Economic Rights Agreement with TV Azteca regarding space not used
by TV Azteca on approximately 190 of its broadcast towers. In exchange for the issuance of the below market interest
rate loan described above and the annual payment of $1.5 million to TV Azteca (under the Economic Rights
Agreement), the Company had the right to market and lease the unused tower space on the broadcast towers (the
“Economic Rights”). TV Azteca retained title to these towers and was responsible for their operation and maintenance.
The Company was entitled to 100% of the revenues generated from leases with tenants on the unused space and was
responsible for any incremental operating expenses associated with those tenants.

The Company accounted for the annual payment of $1.5 million as a capital lease by initially recording an asset and a
corresponding liability of $18.6 million. The capital lease asset also included the original discount on the note. The
capital lease asset and original discount on the note aggregated $30.2 million at the time of the transaction and
represented the cost to acquire the Economic Rights. The Economic Rights asset was recorded as an intangible asset
and was being amortized over the 70-year life of the Economic Rights Agreement.

In conjunction with the note extinguishment described above, the Company restructured the Economic Rights
Agreement into a Commercialization Rights agreement. Under this agreement, the Company has the exclusive right to
commercialize available space on approximately 190 TV Azteca broadcast towers for the installation, licensing and
operation of equipment for wireless telecommunications service, radio and television broadcasting on the towers (the
“Commercialization Rights”) until September 2038, during which time the Company is entitled to all revenues derived
from the Commercialization Rights. Subsequent to 2038, the Company is required to pay quarterly to TV Azteca a
market rate of 25% of the gross revenues associated with the Commercialization Rights, and annually, TV Azteca has
the right to repurchase the Commercialization Rights for the then-market price.

As a result of entering into the Commercialization Rights agreement, the obligations under the capital lease were
cancelled and the remaining capital lease liability of $14.1 million, the deferred financing costs of $1.5 million, and
the net carrying value of the original Economic Rights asset of $3.0 million were written off, which resulted in a gain
of $9.7 million that was recorded in Other income (expense).

6. ACQUISITIONS

The Company evaluates each of its acquisitions under the accounting guidance framework to determine whether to
treat an acquisition as an asset acquisition or a business combination. For those transactions treated as asset
acquisitions, the purchase price is allocated to the assets or rights acquired and liabilities assumed, with no recognition
of goodwill. For those transactions treated as business combinations, the estimates of the fair value of the assets or
rights acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of the applicable acquisition are subject to adjustment during the

165



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A

measurement period (up to one year from the particular acquisition date). The primary areas of the accounting for the
acquisitions that are not yet finalized relate to the fair value of certain tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, which may include contingent consideration, residual goodwill and any related tax impact.

F-20

166



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents

AMERICAN TOWER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amounts in millions, unless otherwise disclosed)

The fair value of these net assets acquired are based on management’s estimates and assumptions, as well as other
information compiled by management, including valuations that utilize customary valuation procedures and
techniques. While the Company believes that such preliminary estimates provide a reasonable basis for estimating the
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, it evaluates any necessary information prior to finalization of the
fair value. During the measurement period for those acquisitions accounted for as business combinations, the
Company will adjust assets or liabilities if new information is obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as
of the acquisition date that, if known, would have resulted in the revised estimated values of those assets or liabilities
as of that date.

Impact of current year acquisitions—The Company typically acquires communications sites from wireless carriers or
other tower operators and subsequently integrates those sites into its existing portfolio of communications sites. The
financial results of the Company’s acquisitions have been included in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2018 from the date of the respective acquisition. The date of acquisition,
and by extension the point at which the Company begins to recognize the results of an acquisition, may depend on,
among other things, the receipt of contractual consents, the commencement and extent of leasing arrangements and
the timing of the transfer of title or rights to the assets, which may be accomplished in phases. Sites acquired from
communications service providers may never have been operated as a business and may instead have been utilized
solely by the seller as a component of its network infrastructure. An acquisition may or may not involve the transfer of
business operations or employees.

For those acquisitions accounted for as business combinations, the Company recognizes acquisition and merger
related expenses in the period in which they are incurred and services are received; for transactions accounted for as
asset acquisitions, these costs are capitalized as part of the purchase price. Acquisition and merger related costs may
include finder’s fees, advisory, legal, accounting, valuation and other professional or consulting fees and general
administrative costs directly related to the transaction. Integration costs include incremental and non-recurring costs
necessary to convert data, retain employees and otherwise enable the Company to operate acquired businesses or
assets efficiently. The Company records acquisition and merger related expenses for business combinations, as well as
integration costs for all acquisitions, in Other operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company recorded the following acquisition and
merger related expenses for business combinations and integration costs:

Year Ended

December 31,

2018 2017 2016

Acquisition and merger related expenses $14.1 $16.3 $15.9
Integration costs $16.1 $11.5 $9.9

The Company also recorded aggregate purchase price refunds of $22.2 million during the year ended December 31,
2017. The refunds primarily related to an acquisition in Brazil in 2014 for which the measurement period has closed.

2018 Transactions

The estimated aggregate impact of the 2018 acquisitions on the Company’s revenues and gross margin for the year
ended December 31, 2018 was approximately $232.2 million and $83.0 million, respectively. The revenues and gross
margin amounts also reflect incremental revenues from the addition of new tenants to such sites subsequent to the
transaction date.
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Idea Acquisition—On May 31, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Idea Cellular
Infrastructure Services Limited (“Idea”), a telecommunications company that owns and operates approximately 9,700
communications sites in India, for total consideration of approximately 42.8 billion Indian Rupees (“INR”) ($635.5
million at the date of acquisition). This acquisition was accounted for as a business combination and is subject to
post-closing adjustments. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the purchase price was reduced to approximately
42.2 billion INR ($625.9 million at the date of acquisition).

Vodafone Acquisition—On March 31, 2018, the Company acquired approximately 10,200 communications sites from
Vodafone India Limited and Vodafone Mobile Services Limited (together, “Vodafone”) for an aggregate total purchase
price of 38.3 billion INR ($587.9 million at the date of acquisition). Of the aggregate purchase price, $1.1 million is
reflected in Accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2018. This acquisition was
accounted for as an asset acquisition.
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Kenya Acquisition— On October 1, 2018, the Company acquired over 700 sites in Kenya from Telkom Kenya Limited
for total consideration of $174.1 million, including value added tax. The Company issued a note for $51.8 million of
the purchase price, which will be paid either in future installments subject to the satisfaction of specified conditions,

or three years from the purchase date. This acquisition was accounted for as an asset acquisition.

Other Acquisitions—During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company acquired a total of 1,335 communications
sites in the United States, Colombia, Mexico, Paraguay and Peru for an aggregate purchase price of $414.5 million. Of
the aggregate purchase price, $11.8 million is reflected as a payable in the consolidated balance sheet as of December
31, 2018. The majority of these acquisitions were accounted for as asset acquisitions.

On November 1, 2018, the Company acquired a portfolio of fiber assets and the right to use certain
telecommunications poles in Brazil from Cia Energetica de Minas Gerais SA for total consideration of
approximately 576.9 million Brazilian Reais (“BRL”) ($155.8 million at the date of acquisition). This acquisition is
included in “Other” in the table below and was accounted for as an asset acquisition.

The following table summarizes the allocations of the purchase prices for the fiscal year 2018 acquisitions based upon
their estimated fair value at the date of acquisition:

Asia EMEA
Idea Vodafone Kenya Other
(1) (2) (3)

Preliminddpdated

AllocatioAllocation
Current assets $100.7 $82.9 $15.1 $0.1 $3.6
Non-current assets 2.6 11.6 5.8 24.7 5.1
Property and equipment 161.2 161.2 194.6 51.2 271.5

Intangible assets (4):
Tenant-related intangible assets 321.2 3234 309.5 106.2  191.5

Network location intangible assets 82.9 83.5 88.5 25.6 91.5
Other intangible assets — — — — 28.7
Current liabilities (525 ) 474 ) (13.1 ) — 36 )

Deferred tax liability 20.7 ) (17.7 ) — 322 ) —
Other non-current liabilities (10.5 ) (16.1 ) (125 ) (1.5 ) (213 )
Net assets acquired 5849 5814 587.9 174.1  567.0
Goodwill (5) 50.6 44.5 — — 33

Fair value of net assets acquired 6355 6259 587.9 174.1  570.3
Debt assumed — — — — —
Purchase price $635.5 $6259  $587.9 $174.1 $570.3

(1)Includes $1.3 million in acquisition and merger related expenses that were capitalized as part of the purchase price.

(2)Includes $1.7 million in acquisition and merger related expenses that were capitalized as part of the purchase price.

(3)Other includes 145 sites in Peru held pursuant to long-term capital leases.

( 4)Tenant—related intangible assets, network location intangible assets and other intangible assets are amortized on a
straight-line basis over periods of up to 20 years.

(5) The Company expects the majority of goodwill to be deductible for tax purposes.
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2017 Transactions
During the year ended December 31, 2018, post-closing adjustments impacted the following acquisition completed in
2017:

Mexico Acquisition—On November 17, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of entities holding
urban telecommunications assets in Mexico, including more than 50,000 concrete poles and approximately 2,100

route miles of fiber, for total initial consideration of $505.8 million, including value-added tax. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, the purchase price was reduced to $499.7 million due to post-closing adjustments.
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The following table summarizes the preliminary and final allocation of the purchase price paid and the amounts of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the acquisition based upon its estimated fair value at the date of acquisition.
Balances are reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2018.

Latin America

Mexico
Prelimindrinal
AllocatioAllocation
(D ()
Current assets $444 $42.5
Non-current assets — —
Property and equipment 94.0 102.2

Intangible assets:
Tenant-related intangible assets 153.3  138.0
Network location intangible assets — —

Other intangible assets 22.0 20.3
Current liabilities 28.8 ) (27.2 )
Deferred tax liability (38.8 ) (36.2 )
Other non-current liabilities @45 ) @“s )
Net assets acquired 241.6  235.1
Goodwill (3) 264.2  264.6
Fair value of net assets acquired 505.8 499.7
Debt assumed — —
Purchase price $505.8 $ 499.7

(1) As reported for the year ended December 31, 2017.
(2)The allocation of the purchase price for the Mexico acquisition was finalized during the year ended December 31,
2018.

(3)Primarily results from purchase accounting adjustments, which are not deductible for tax purposes.

Pro Forma Consolidated Results (Unaudited)
The following table presents the unaudited pro forma financial results as if the 2018 acquisitions had occurred on
January 1, 2017 and the 2017 acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2016. The pro forma results do not include any
anticipated cost synergies, costs or other integration impacts. Accordingly, such pro forma amounts are not necessarily
indicative of the results that actually would have occurred had the transactions been completed on the dates indicated,
nor are they indicative of the future operating results of the Company.

Year Ended

December 31,

2018 2017
Pro forma revenues $7,610.6 $7,161.0
Pro forma net income attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders ~ $1,218.2 $1,127.6
Pro forma net income per common share amounts:
Basic net income attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders $2.77  $2.63
Diluted net income attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders $2.75  $2.61
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Acquisition-Related Contingent Consideration

The Company may be required to pay additional consideration under certain agreements for the acquisition of
communications sites if specific conditions are met or events occur. In Ghana, the Company may be required to pay
additional consideration upon the conversion of certain barter agreements with other wireless carriers to cash-paying
lease agreements. In the United States, the Company may be required to pay additional consideration if certain
pre-designated tenant leases commence during a specified period of time.
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A summary of the value of the Company’s acquisition-related contingent consideration obligations are as follows:

Year Ended December
31,2018
Maximum Estimated Change
potential value at Adsktitarments in Fair
value (1) December Value
31,2018
Ghana 0.6 0.6 _— 0.0
South Africa — — —(8.6 ) (0.5 )
United States 0.3 0.3 —(0.1 ) —
Total $ 09 $ 09 $-$ 87 ) $(0.5)

ey

Z€ro.

For more information regarding acquisition-related contingent consideration, see note 11.

7. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consisted of the following as of December 31,:

Accrued property and real estate taxes
Amounts payable to tenants

Payroll and related withholdings
Accrued pass-through costs

Accrued rent

Accrued income tax payable

Accrued construction costs

Accrued pass-through taxes

Other accrued expenses

Accrued expenses

F-24

The maximum potential value is based on exchange rates at December 31, 2018. The minimum value could be

2018 2017
$169.7 $154.4
93,5 60.8
904 822
712 59.7
614 54.0
579 153
415 319
22 25.3
360.5 370.7

$948.3 $854.3
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8. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
Outstanding amounts under the Company’s long-term obligations, reflecting discounts, premiums, debt issuance costs
and fair value adjustments due to interest rate swaps consisted of the following as of December 31,:

Contractual .

2018 2017 Interest Rate (1) Maturity Date (1)
2018 Term Loan (2)(3) $1,499.8 $— 3.405 % March 29, 2019
2013 Credit Facility (2) 1,875.0 2,075.6 3.616 % June 28, 2022
2013 Term Loan (2) 994.8 994.5 3.655 % January 31, 2024
2014 Credit Facility (2) — 495.0 3.655 % January 31, 2024
3.40% senior notes (4) 1,000.0 999.8 3.400 % February 15,2019
2.800% senior notes 747.8 746.3 2.800 % June 1, 2020
5.050% senior notes 698.7 698.0 5.050 % September 1, 2020
3.300% senior notes 747.2 746.0 3.300 % February 15, 2021
3.450% senior notes 646.3 645.1 3.450 % September 15, 2021
5.900% senior notes 498.4 497.8 5.900 % November 1, 2021
2.250% senior notes 572.7 572.4 2.250 % January 15, 2022
4.70% senior notes 697.4 696.7 4.700 % March 15, 2022
3.50% senior notes 992.6 990.9 3.500 % January 31, 2023
3.000% senior notes 687.5 692.5 3.000 % June 15, 2023
5.00% senior notes 1,002.1 1,002.4 5.000 % February 15, 2024
1.375% senior notes 564.0 589.1 1.375 % April 4, 2025
4.000% senior notes 742.1 741.0 4.000 % June 1, 2025
4.400% senior notes 496.1 495.6 4.400 % February 15, 2026
1.950% senior notes 566.0 — 1.950 % May 22, 2026
3.375% senior notes 986.3 984.8 3.375 % October 15, 2026
3.125% senior notes 397.3 397.1 3.125 % January 15, 2027
3.55% senior notes 743.5 742.8 3.550 % July 15,2027
3.600% senior notes 691.9 691.1 3.600 % January 15, 2028
Total American Tower Corporation debt 17,847.5 16,494.5
Series 2013-1A Securities (5) — 499.8 N/A N/A
Series 2013-2A Securities (6) 1,293.4 1,291.8 3.070 % March 15, 2023
Series 2018-1A Securities (6) 493.5 — 3.652 % March 15, 2028
Series 2015-1 Notes (7) 348.8 348.0 2.350 % June 15, 2020
Series 2015-2 Notes (8) 520.8 520.1 3.482 % June 16, 2025
India indebtedness (9) 240.1 512.6 8.40% - 8.95%  Various
India preference shares (10) 23.9 26.1 10.250 % March 2, 2020
Shareholder loans (11) 59.9 100.6 Various Various
Other subsidiary debt (12) 152.5 246.1 Various Various
Total American Tower subsidiary debt 3,132.9 3,545.1
Other debt, including capital lease obligations 179.5 165.5
Total 21,159.9  20,205.1
Less current portion long-term obligations (2,754.8 ) (7748 )
Long-term obligations $18,405.1 $19,430.3
(D
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Represents the interest rate or maturity date as of December 31, 2018; interest rate does not reflect the impact of
interest rate swap agreements.
(2) Accrues interest at a variable rate. Interest rates on outstanding balances are calculated using a weighted average.
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(3)Repaid in full subsequent to December 31, 2018. For more information see note 23.
( 4)Repaid in full on the maturity date in February 2019 with borrowings from the 2013 Credit Facility and the 2014
Credit Facility (each defined below).

(5)Repaid in full on the March 2018 payment date.

(6)Maturity date reflects the anticipated repayment date; final legal maturity is March 15, 2048.

(7)Maturity date reflects the anticipated repayment date; final legal maturity is June 15, 2045.

(8)Maturity date reflects the anticipated repayment date; final legal maturity is June 15, 2050.

(9)Denominated in INR. Includes India working capital facilities, remaining debt assumed by the Company in

connection with the Viom Acquisition (as defined in note 14) and debt that has been entered into by ATC TIPL.

Mandatorily redeemable preference shares (the “Preference Shares”) denominated in INR and classified as debt.

The Company intends to redeem these shares on March 2, 2019.

Reflects balances owed to the Company’s joint venture partners in Ghana and Uganda. The Ghana loan is

denominated in Ghanaian Cedi (“GHS”) and the Uganda loan is denominated in Ugandan Shillings (“UGX”). On

(11) August 30, 2018, the Company repaid the remaining 127.2 billion UGX ($33.8 million) under the Uganda loan,
including principal and accrued unpaid interest. As a result, no amounts were outstanding under the Uganda loan
as of December 31, 2018.
Includes the BR Towers Debentures (as defined below) and the Brazil Credit Facility (as defined below), which
are denominated in BRL and have an original amortization through October 15, 2023 and January 15, 2022,
respectively, the South African Credit Facility (as defined below), which is denominated in South African Rand
(“ZAR”) and amortizes through December 17, 2020, the Colombian Credit Facility (as defined below), which is

(12)denominated in Colombian Pesos (“COP”) and amortizes through April 24, 2021, the Kenya Debt (as defined
below), which is denominated in U.S. Dollars (“USD”) and is payable either (i) in future installments subject to the
satisfaction of specified conditions or (ii) three years from the note origination date, and U.S. subsidiary debt
related to a seller-financed acquisition. In October 2018, the Company repaid the BR Towers Debentures in full,
including any accrued and unpaid interest.

(10)

Current portion of long-term obligations—The Company’s current portion of long-term obligations primarily includes (i)
$1.5 billion under its secured term loan entered into on March 29, 2018 (the “2018 Term Loan”), (ii) $1.0 billion under
the 3.40% senior unsecured notes due 2019, (iii) 7.1 billion INR ($101.9 million) of India indebtedness, (iv) 294.4
million GHS ($59.9 million) of the shareholder loan owed to the Company’s joint venture partner in Ghana and (v)

1.67 billion INR ($23.9 million) of the Preference Shares classified as debt.

American Tower Corporation Debt

Bank Facilities—In November 2018, the Company entered into amendment agreements with respect to (A)

its multicurrency senior unsecured revolving credit facility entered into in June 2013, as amended (the “2013 Credit
Facility”), (B) its senior unsecured revolving credit facility entered into in January 2012, as amended and restated in
September 2014, as further amended (the “2014 Credit Facility”’) and (C) its unsecured term loan entered into in October
2013, as amended (the “2013 Term Loan”), to, among other things, (i) extend the maturity dates by one year, (ii)
increase the commitments under each of the 2013 Credit Facility and the 2014 Credit Facility by $100.0 million to
$2.85 billion and $2.1 billion, respectively, (iii) increase the maximum Revolving Loan Commitments, after giving
effect to any Incremental Commitments (each as defined in the applicable loan agreement) to $4.5 billion and $3.25
billion under the 2013 Credit Facility and the 2014 Credit Facility, respectively, (iv) amend the limitation on
indebtedness of, and guaranteed by, the Company’s subsidiaries to the greater of (x) $2.5 billion and (y) 50% of
Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the applicable loan agreement) of the Company and its subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis, (v) increase the threshold for certain defaults with respect to judgments, attachments or
acceleration of indebtedness from $300.0 million to $400.0 million and (vi) add provisions regarding the
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establishment of an alternative rate of interest in the event that the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) is no
longer available. In addition, the amendments to the 2014 Credit Facility and the 2013 Term Loan reduce the
Applicable Margins (as defined in the applicable loan agreement) to conform to the Applicable Margins in the 2013
Credit Facility (as defined therein).

2013 Credit Facility—The Company has the ability to borrow up to $2.85 billion under the 2013 Credit Facility, which
includes a $1.0 billion sublimit for multicurrency borrowings, a $200.0 million sublimit for letters of credit and

a $50.0 million sublimit for swingline loans. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company borrowed an
aggregate of $2.1 billion and repaid an aggregate of $2.3 billion of revolving indebtedness under the 2013 Credit
Facility. The Company primarily used the borrowings to fund acquisitions, repay existing indebtedness and for

general corporate purposes.

2014 Credit Facility—The Company has the ability to borrow up to $2.1 billion under the 2014 Credit Facility, which
includes a $200.0 million sublimit for letters of credit and a $50.0 million sublimit for swingline loans. During the
year ended December 31, 2018, the Company borrowed an aggregate of $1.1 billion and repaid an aggregate of $1.5
billion of revolving indebtedness under the 2014 Credit Facility. The Company used the borrowings to repay existing
indebtedness, including the Secured Tower Revenue Securities, Series 2013-1A (the “Series 2013-1A Securities”), to
fund acquisitions and for general corporate purposes.

2018 Term Loan—On March 29, 2018, the Company entered into the 2018 Term Loan, the net proceeds of which were
used to repay $1.1 billion of outstanding indebtedness under the 2013 Credit Facility and $445.0 million of
outstanding indebtedness under the 2014 Credit Facility.
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The 2018 Term Loan matures on March 29, 2019. Any outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest will be
due and payable in full at maturity.

The 2013 Credit Facility, the 2014 Credit Facility, the 2013 Term Loan and the 2018 Term Loan do not require
amortization of principal and may be paid prior to maturity in whole or in part at the Company’s option without
penalty or premium. The Company has the option of choosing either a defined base rate or LIBOR as the applicable
base rate for borrowings under the 2013 Credit Facility, the 2014 Credit Facility, the 2013 Term Loan and the 2018
Term Loan. The interest rates on the 2013 Credit Facility, 2014 Credit Facility and 2013 Term Loan range between
0.875% to 1.750% above LIBOR for LIBOR based borrowings or up to 0.750% above the defined base rate for base
rate borrowings, in each case based upon the Company’s debt ratings. The interest rate on the 2018 Term Loan ranges
between 0.625% to 1.500% above LIBOR for LIBOR based borrowings or up to 0.500% above the defined base rate
for base rate borrowings, in each case based upon the Company’s debt ratings.

As of December 31, 2018, the key terms under the 2013 Credit Facility, the 2014 Credit Facility, the 2013 Term Loan
and 2018 Term loan were as follows:

. Current
Outstanding  Undrawn . Current
. . margin .
Principal letters of Maturity Date commitment
. over
Balance credit

LiBOR ¢ ()
2013 Credit Facility $ 1,875.0 (2)$ 3.8 June 28,2022 (3)1.125%0.125 %
2014 Credit Facility $ — $ 6.2 January 31, 2024 (3)1.125 %0.125 %
2013 Term Loan $ 1,000.0 (2)N/A January 31, 2024  1.125%N/A

2018 Term Loan $1,500.0 (2)N/A March 29, 2019 0.875 % N/A

(1) Fee on undrawn portion of each credit facility.

(2) Borrowed at LIBOR.

(3) Subject to two optional renewal periods.

The agreements for the 2013 Credit Facility, the 2014 Credit Facility, the 2013 Term Loan and the 2018 Term Loan
contain certain reporting, information, financial and operating covenants and other restrictions (including limitations
on additional debt, guaranties, sales of assets and liens) with which the Company must comply. Any failure to comply
with the financial and operating covenants of the loan agreements may constitute a default, which could result in,
among other things, the amounts outstanding under the applicable agreement, including all accrued interest and unpaid
fees, becoming immediately due and payable.

Senior Notes

1.950% Senior Notes Offering—On May 22, 2018, the Company completed a registered public offering of 500.0 million
Euros (“EUR”) ($589.0 million at the date of issuance) aggregate principal amount of 1.950% senior unsecured notes
due 2026 (the “1.950% Notes”). The net proceeds from this offering were approximately 493.2 million EUR
(approximately $581.0 million at the date of issuance), after deducting commissions and estimated expenses. The
Company used the net proceeds to repay existing indebtedness under the 2013 Credit Facility.

The 1.950% Notes will mature on May 22, 2026 and bear interest at a rate of 1.950% per annum. Accrued and unpaid
interest on the 1.950% Notes will be payable in EUR in arrears on May 22 of each year, beginning on May 22, 2019.
Interest on the 1.950% Notes will be computed on the basis of the actual number of days in the period for which
interest is being calculated and the actual number of days from and including the last date on which interest was paid
on the 1.950% Notes and commenced accruing on May 22, 2018.
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The following table outlines key terms related to the Company’s outstanding senior notes as of December 31, 2018:
Adjustments to

Principal
Amount (1)

Aggregate

Principal 2018 2017 II;teIrs:lts due (2) Issue Date PDiS?;

Amount pay
3.40% Notes (4) 1,000.0 — (0.2 ) February 15 and August 15  August 19, 2013 N/A
2.800% Notes 750.0 2.2 ) (3.7 ) June 1 and December 1 May 7, 2015 1;/([)2;}(7)1,
5.050% Notes 700.0 (1.3 ) (2.0 ) March 1 and September 1 August 16, 2010 N/A
3.300% Notes  750.0 (2.8 ) (4.0 ) February 15 and August 15  January 12, 2016 ;%‘;ary 15,
3.450% Notes 650.0 (3.7 ) (49 ) March 15 and September 15  August 7, 2014 N/A
5.900% Notes 500.0 (1.6 ) (2.2 ) May 1 and November 1 October 6, 2011 N/A
2.250% Notes (5) 600.0 (27.3) (27.6) January 15 and July 15 September 30, 2016 N/A
4.70% Notes 700.0 (2.6 ) (3.3 ) March 15 and September 15 March 12, 2012 N/A
3.50% Notes 1,000.0 (7.4 ) (9.1 ) January 31 and July 31 January 8§, 2013 N/A
3.000% Notes (6) 700.0 (12.5) (7.5 ) June 15 and December 15 December 8,2017 N/A
5.00% Notes (4) 1,000.0 2.1 2.4 February 15 and August 15  August 19, 2013 N/A
1.375% Notes (7) 573.3 93 ) (11.1) April4 April 6, 2017 ;%‘;‘;ary 4
4.000% Notes  750.0 (7.9 ) (9.0 ) June 1 and December 1 May 7, 2015 g/(l)";rgh L
4.400% Notes  500.0 (39 ) (44 ) February 15 and August 15 January 12, 2016 T;V;(gger

February
1.950% Notes (7) 573.3 73 ) — May 22 May 22, 2018 22,2026
3.375% Notes 1,000.0 (13.7) (15.2) April 15 and October 15 May 13,2016 ;(1)12}]615’
3.125% Notes  400.0 2.7 ) (2.9 ) January 15 and July 15 September 30, 2016 Socézber 15,
April 15,

3.55% Notes 750.0 (6.5 ) (7.2 ) January 15 and July 15 June 30, 2017 2007
3.600% Notes  700.0 (8.1 ) (8.9 ) January 15 and July 15 December 8, 2017 S()C;‘;ber 15,

Includes unamortized discounts, premiums and debt issuance costs and fair value adjustments due to interest rate
swaps.
@) Interest payments are due semi-annually for each series of senior notes, except for the 1.375% Notes and the
1.950% Notes, for which interest payments are due annually.
(3) The Company will not be required to pay a make-whole premium if redeemed on or after the par call date.
The original issue date for the 3.40% Notes and the 5.00% Notes was August 19, 2013. The issue date for the
(4)reopened 3.40% Notes and the reopened 5.00% Notes was January 10, 2014. The 3.40% Notes were repaid on
February 15, 2019.

&)
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Includes $24.3 million and $23.7 million fair value adjustment due to interest rate swaps in 2018 and 2017,

respectively.

( 6)Includes $7.0 million and $0.8 million fair value adjustment due to interest rate swaps in 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

(7)Notes are denominated in EUR.

The Company may redeem each series of senior notes at any time, subject to the terms of the applicable supplemental
indenture, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus a
make-whole premium, together with accrued interest to the redemption date. In addition, if the Company undergoes a
change of control and corresponding ratings decline, each as defined in the applicable supplemental indenture, it may
be required to repurchase all of the applicable notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount of such
notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional interest, if any), up to but not including the repurchase
date. The notes rank equally with all of the Company’s other senior unsecured debt and are structurally subordinated to
all existing and future indebtedness and other obligations of its subsidiaries.

Each applicable supplemental indenture for the notes contains certain covenants that restrict the Company’s ability to
merge, consolidate or sell assets and its (together with its subsidiaries’) ability to incur liens. These covenants are
subject to a number of exceptions, including that the Company and its subsidiaries may incur certain liens on assets,
mortgages or other liens securing indebtedness if the aggregate amount of such liens does not exceed 3.5x Adjusted
EBITDA, as defined in the applicable supplemental indenture.
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American Tower Subsidiary Debt

The Company has several securitizations in place. Cash flows generated by the sites that secure the securitized debt
are only available for payment of such debt and are not available to pay the Company’s other obligations or the claims
of its creditors. However, subject to certain restrictions, the Company holds the right to the excess cash flows not
needed to pay the securitized debt and other obligations arising out of the securitizations. The securitized debt is the
obligation of the issuers thereof or borrowers thereunder, as applicable, and their subsidiaries, and not of the Company
or its other subsidiaries.

Repayment of Series 2013-1A Securities. On the March 2018 payment date, the Company repaid the $500.0 million
aggregate principal amount outstanding under the Series 2013-1A Securities pursuant to the terms of the agreements
governing such securities. The repayment was funded with borrowings under the 2014 Credit Facility and cash on
hand.

American Tower Secured Revenue Notes, Series 2015-1, Class A and Series 2015-2, Class A—In May 2015, GTP
Acquisition Partners I, LLC (“GTP Acquisition Partners”), one of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries, refinanced
existing debt with cash on hand and proceeds from a private issuance (the “2015 Securitization”) of $350.0 million of
American Tower Secured Revenue Notes, Series 2015-1, Class A (the “Series 2015-1 Notes”) and $525.0 million of
American Tower Secured Revenue Notes, Series 2015-2, Class A (the “Series 2015-2 Notes,” and together with the
Series 2015-1 Notes, the “2015 Notes™).

The 2015 Notes are secured by (i) mortgages, deeds of trust and deeds to secure debt on substantially all of the 3,556
communications sites (the “2015 Secured Sites”) owned by GTP Acquisition Partners and its subsidiaries (the “GTP
Entities”) and their operating cash flows, (ii) a security interest in substantially all of the personal property and fixtures
of the GTP Entities, including GTP Acquisition Partners’ equity interests in its subsidiaries and (iii) the rights of the
GTP Entities under a management agreement. American Tower Holding Sub II, LLC, whose only material assets are
its equity interests in GTP Acquisition Partners, has guaranteed repayment of the 2015 Notes and pledged its equity
interests in GTP Acquisition Partners as security for such payment obligations.

The 2015 Notes were issued by GTP Acquisition Partners pursuant to a Third Amended and Restated Indenture and
related series supplements, each dated as of May 29, 2015 (collectively, the “2015 Indenture”), between the GTP
Entities and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee. The effective weighted average life and interest rate of the
2015 Notes was 8.1 years and 3.029%, respectively, as of the date of issuance.

Secured Tower Revenue Securities, Series 2013-2A, Secured Tower Revenue Securities, Series 2018-1, Subclass A

and Series 2018-1, Subclass R—On March 29, 2018, the Company completed a securitization transaction (the “2018
Securitization™), in which the American Tower Trust I (the “Trust”) issued $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of
Secured Tower Revenue Securities, Series 2018-1, Subclass A (the “Series 2018-1A Securities”). To satisfy the
applicable risk retention requirements of Regulation RR promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act” and, such requirements, the “Risk Retention Rules”), the Trust issued, and one of the
Company’s affiliates purchased, $26.4 million aggregate principal amount of Secured Tower Revenue Securities,

Series 2018-1, Subclass R (the “Series 2018-1R Securities” and, together with the Series 2018-1A Securities, the “2018
Securities”) to retain an “eligible horizontal residual interest” (as defined in the Risk Retention Rules) in an amount equal
to at least 5% of the fair value of the 2018 Securities.

The Secured Tower Revenue Securities, Series 2013-2A (the “Series 2013-2A Securities” and, together with the 2018
Securities the “Trust Securities”) issued in a securitization transaction in March 2013 (the “2013 Securitization” and,

182



Edgar Filing: C H ROBINSON WORLDWIDE INC - Form DEF 14A

together with the 2018 Securitization, the “Trust Securitizations”) remain outstanding and are subject to the terms of the
Second Amended and Restated Trust and Servicing Agreement entered into in connection with the 2018
Securitization.

The assets of the Trust consist of a nonrecourse loan (the “Loan”’) made by the Trust to American Tower Asset Sub,
LLC and American Tower Asset Sub II, LLC (together, the “AMT Asset Subs”). The AMT Asset Subs are jointly and
severally liable under the Loan, which is secured primarily by mortgages on the AMT Asset Subs’ interests in 5,116
broadcast and wireless communications towers and related assets (the “Trust Sites”).

The component of the Loan corresponding to the Series 2013-2A Securities also remains outstanding and is subject to
the terms of the Loan Agreement. The Loan Agreement includes terms and conditions, including with respect to
secured assets, substantially consistent with the First Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of
March 15, 2013. The 2018 Securities correspond to components of the Loan made to the AMT Asset Subs pursuant to
the Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement among the Trust and the AMT Asset Subs, dated as
of March 29, 2018 (the “Loan Agreement”) and were issued in two separate subclasses of the same series. The 2018
Securities represent a pass-through interest in the components of
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the Loan corresponding to the 2018 Securities. The Series 2018-1A Securities have an interest rate of 3.652% and the
Series 2018-1R Securities have an interest rate of 4.459%. The 2018 Securities have an expected life of approximately
ten years with a final repayment date in March 2048. Subject to certain limited exceptions described below, no
payments of principal will be required to be made on the components of the Loan corresponding to the 2018 Securities
prior to the monthly payment date in March 2028, which is the anticipated repayment date for such components.

The Loan is secured by (1) mortgages, deeds of trust and deeds to secure debt on substantially all of the Trust Sites
and their operating cash flows, (2) a security interest in substantially all of the AMT Asset Subs’ personal property and
fixtures and (3) the AMT Asset Subs’ rights under that certain management agreement among the AMT Asset Subs
and SpectraSite Communications, LLC entered into in March 2013. American Tower Holding Sub, LLC (the
“Guarantor”), whose only material assets are its equity interests in each of the AMT Asset Subs, and American Tower
Guarantor Sub, LLC whose only material asset is its equity interests in the Guarantor, have each guaranteed
repayment of the Loan and pledged their equity interests in their respective subsidiary or subsidiaries as security for
such payment obligations.

Under the terms of the Loan Agreement and 2015 Indenture, amounts due will be paid from the cash flows generated
by the Trust Sites or the 2015 Secured Sites, respectively, which must be deposited into certain reserve accounts, and
thereafter distributed solely pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement or 2015 Indenture, as applicable. On a
monthly basis, after payment of all required amounts under the Loan Agreement or 2015 Indenture, as applicable,
including interest payments, subject to the conditions described below, the excess cash flows generated from the
operation of such assets are released to the AMT Asset Subs or GTP Acquisition Partners, as applicable, which can
then be distributed to, and used by, the Company.

In order to distribute any excess cash flow to the Company, the AMT Asset Subs and GTP Acquisition Partners must
each maintain a specified debt service coverage ratio (the “DSCR”), which is generally calculated as the ratio of the net
cash flow (as defined in the applicable agreement) to the amount of interest, servicing fees and trustee fees required to
be paid over the succeeding 12 months on the principal amount of the Loan or the 2015 Notes, as applicable, that will
be outstanding on the payment date following such date of determination. If the DSCR were equal to or below 1.30x
(the “Cash Trap DSCR”) for any quarter, then all cash flow in excess of amounts required to make debt service
payments, fund required reserves, pay management fees and budgeted operating expenses and make other payments
required under the applicable transaction documents, referred to as excess cash flow, will be deposited into a reserve
account (the “Cash Trap Reserve Account”) instead of being released to the AMT Asset Subs or GTP Acquisition
Partners, as applicable. The funds in the Cash Trap Reserve Account will not be released to the AMT Asset Subs or
GTP Acquisition Partners, as applicable, unless the DSCR exceeds the Cash Trap DSCR for two consecutive calendar
quarters.

Additionally, an “amortization period” commences if, as of the end of any calendar quarter, the DSCR is equal to or
below 1.15x (the “Minimum DSCR”) and will continue to exist until the DSCR exceeds the Minimum DSCR for two
consecutive calendar quarters. With respect to the Trust Securities, an “amortization period” also commences if, on the
anticipated repayment date the component of the Loan corresponding to the applicable subclass of the Trust Securities
has not been repaid in full, provided that such amortization period shall apply with respect to such component that has
not been repaid in full. If either series of the 2015 Notes have not been repaid in full on the applicable anticipated
repayment date, additional interest will accrue on the unpaid principal balance of the applicable series of the 2015
Notes, and such series will begin to amortize on a monthly basis from excess cash flow. During an amortization
period, all excess cash flow and any amounts in the applicable Cash Trap Reserve Account would be applied to pay
the principal of the Loan or the 2015 Notes, as applicable, on each monthly payment date.
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The Loan and the 2015 Notes may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time, provided such payment is accompanied
by the applicable prepayment consideration. If the prepayment occurs within 12 months of the anticipated repayment
date with respect to the Series 2015-1 Notes, 18 months of the anticipated repayment date with respect to the Series
2013-2A Securities or the Series 2015-2 Notes, or 36 months of the anticipated repayment date with respect to the
Series 2018 Securities, no prepayment consideration is due.

The Loan Agreement and the 2015 Indenture include operating covenants and other restrictions customary for
transactions subject to rated securitizations. Among other things, the AMT Asset Subs and the GTP Entities, as
applicable, are prohibited from incurring other indebtedness for borrowed money or further encumbering their assets
subject to customary carve-outs for ordinary course trade payables and permitted encumbrances (as defined in the
Loan Agreement or the 2015 Indenture, as applicable). The organizational documents of the AMT Asset Subs and the
GTP Entities contain provisions consistent with rating agency securitization criteria for special purpose entities,
including the requirement that they maintain independent directors. The Loan Agreement and the 2015 Indenture also
contain certain covenants that require the AMT Asset Subs or GTP Acquisition Partners, as applicable, to provide the
respective trustee with regular financial reports and operating budgets, promptly notify such trustee
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of events of default and material breaches under the Loan Agreement and other agreements related to the Trust Sites
or the 2015 Indenture and other agreements related to the 2015 Secured Sites, as applicable, and allow the applicable
trustee reasonable access to the sites, including the right to conduct site investigations.

A failure to comply with the covenants in the Loan Agreement or the 2015 Indenture could prevent the AMT Asset
Subs or GTP Acquisition Partners, as applicable, from distributing excess cash flow to the Company. Furthermore, if
the AMT Asset Subs or GTP Acquisition Partners were to default on the Loan or a series of the 2015 Notes, the
applicable trustee may seek to foreclose upon or otherwise convert the ownership of all or any portion of the Trust
Sites or the 2015 Secured Sites, respectively, in which case the Company could lose the revenue associated with those
assets. With respect to the 2015 Notes, upon the occurrence and during an event of default, the applicable trustee may,
in its discretion or at the direction of holders of more than 50% of the aggregate outstanding principal of any series of
the 2015 Notes, declare such series of 2015 Notes immediately due and payable, in which case any excess cash flow
would need to be used to pay holders of such notes.

Further, under the Loan Agreement and the 2015 Indenture, the AMT Asset Subs or GTP Acquisition Partners,
respectively, are required to maintain reserve accounts, including for ground rents, real estate and personal property
taxes and insurance premiums, and, under the 2015 Indenture and in certain circumstances under the Loan Agreement,
to reserve a portion of advance rents from tenants on the Trust Sites. Based on the terms of the Loan Agreement and
the 2015 Indenture, all rental cash receipts received for each month are reserved for the succeeding month and held in
an account controlled by the applicable trustee and then released. The $63.3 million held in the reserve accounts with
respect to the Trust Securitizations and the $16.8 million held in the reserve accounts with respect to the 2015
Securitization as of December 31, 2018 are classified as Restricted cash on the Company’s accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

India Indebtedness—Amounts outstanding and key terms of the India indebtedness consisted of the following as of
December 31, 2018 (in millions, except percentages):

Amount Amount

Outstanding Outstanding Interest Rate (Range) Maturity Date (Range)

(INR) (USD)

Term

looyEs1 $ 240.1 8.75% - 8.95% January 1, 2019 - November 30, 2024
ey
Working

capital $ — 8.40% - 8.75% March 18, 2019 - October 23, 2019
facilities (2)

(1)In January 2019, the Company repaid approximately 5.0 billion INR ($72.0 million) of India indebtedness.

(2)5.7 billion INR ($81.8 million) of borrowing capacity as of December 31, 2018.

The India indebtedness includes several term loans, with maturities ranging from 1 to 10 years, which are generally
secured by the borrower’s short-term and long-term assets. Each of the term loans bear interest at the applicable bank’s
Marginal Cost of Funds based Lending Rate (as defined in the applicable agreement), plus a spread. Interest rates on
the term loans are fixed until certain reset dates. Generally, the term loans can be repaid without penalty on the reset
dates; repayments at dates other than the reset dates are subject to prepayment penalties, typically of 1% to 2%.
Scheduled repayment terms include either ratable or staggered amortization with repayments typically commencing
between 6 and 36 months after the initial disbursement of funds.
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The India indebtedness also includes several working capital facilities, most of which are subject to annual renewal,
and which are generally secured by the borrower’s short-term and long-term assets. The working capital facilities bear
interest at rates that consist of the applicable bank’s Marginal Cost of Funds based Lending Rate (as defined in the
applicable agreement), plus a spread. Generally, the working capital facilities are payable on demand prior to maturity.
Preference Shares—On March 2, 2017, ATC TIPL issued 166,666,666 Preference Shares and used the proceeds to
redeem the preference shares previously issued by Viom. As of December 31, 2018, ATC TIPL had 166,666,666
Preference Shares outstanding, which are required to be redeemed in cash. Accordingly, the Company recognized debt
of 1.67 billion INR ($23.9 million) related to the Preference Shares outstanding on the consolidated balance sheet. The
Company intends to redeem the Preference Shares on March 2, 2019.

Other Subsidiary Debt—The Company’s other subsidiary debt includes (i) a credit facility entered into by one of the
Company’s South African subsidiaries in December 2015, as amended (the “South African Credit Facility”), (ii) a
long-term credit facility entered into by one of the Company’s Colombian subsidiaries in October 2014 (the “Colombian
Credit Facility”), (iii) a credit facility entered into by one of the Company’s Brazilian subsidiaries in December 2014
(the “Brazil Credit Facility”) with Banco Nacional de Desenvolvimento Econdmico e Social and (iv) a note entered into
by one of the Company’s subsidiaries in October 2018 in connection with the acquisition of sites in Kenya (the “Kenya
Debt”). In 2017, the Company’s other subsidiary debt also
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included publicly issued simple debentures in Brazil (the “BR Towers Debentures”) issued by a subsidiary of BR
Towers and assumed by the Company in its acquisition of BR Towers. The BR Towers Debentures were repaid in
2018.

Amounts outstanding and key terms of other subsidiary debt consisted of the following as of December 31, (in
millions, except percentages):

Carrying Value Carrying Interest

(Denominated Value Rate Maturity Date
Currency) (1) (USD) (1)

2018 2017 2018 2017

South African Credit Facility (2) 577.4 866.0 $40.2 $69.9 9.10 % December 17, 2020
Colombian Credit Facility (3) 109,193.8 138,740.3 $33.6 $46.5 8.14 % April 24,2021

Brazil Credit Facility (4) 94.7 122.4 $24.4 $37.0 Various January 15,2022
Kenya Debt (5) 51.8 $ —$51.8 $— 8.00 % October 1, 2021
U.S. Subsidiary Debt (6) 2.5 — $25 $— — % January 1, 2022
BR Towers Debentures (7) — 306.8 $— $92.7 N/A N/A

(1)Includes applicable deferred financing costs.

Denominated in ZAR, with an original principal amount of 830.0 million ZAR. On December 23, 2016, the
(2)borrower borrowed an additional 500.0 million ZAR. Debt accrues interest at a variable rate. The borrower no
longer maintains the ability to draw on the South African Credit Facility.

Denominated in COP, with an original principal amount of 200.0 billion COP. Debt accrues interest at a variable
rate. The loan agreement for the Colombian Credit Facility requires that the borrower manage exposure to
variability in interest rates on certain of the amounts outstanding under the Colombian Credit Facility. The
borrower no longer maintains the ability to draw on the Colombian Credit Facility.

Denominated in BRL, with an original principal amount of 271.0 million BRL. Debt accrues interest at a variable
rate. The borrower no longer maintains the ability to draw on the Brazil Credit Facility.

Denominated in USD, with an original principal amount of $51.8 million. The loan agreement for the Kenya Debt
(5)requires that the debt be paid either (i) in future installments subject to the satisfaction of specified conditions or

(ii) three years from the note origination date.

(6)Related to a seller-financed acquisition. Denominated in USD with an original principal amount of $2.5 million.
(7)Denominated in BRL, with an original principal amount of 300.0 million BRL. Debt accrued interest at a variable
rate. In October 2018, the BR Towers Debentures were repaid in full.

3)

“)

Pursuant to the agreements governing the South African Credit Facility and the Colombian Credit Facility, payments
of principal and interest are generally payable quarterly in arrears. Outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid
interest will be due and payable in full at maturity. The South African Credit Facility may be prepaid in whole or in
part without prepayment consideration. The Colombian Credit Facility may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time,
subject to certain limitations and prepayment consideration.

The South African Credit Facility, the Colombian Credit Facility and the Brazil Credit Facility are secured by, among
other things, liens on towers owned by the applicable borrower.

Each of the agreements governing the other subsidiary debt contains contractual covenants and other restrictions.
Failure to comply with certain of the financial and operating covenants could constitute a default under the applicable
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debt agreement, which could result in, among other things, the amounts outstanding, including all accrued interest and
unpaid fees, becoming immediately due and payable.

Shareholder Loans—In connection with the establishment of certain of the Company’s joint ventures and related
acquisitions of communications sites in Ghana and Uganda, the Company’s majority owned subsidiaries entered into
shareholder loan agreements, as borrowers, with wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company and of the Company’s
joint venture partners, as lenders. The portions of the loans made by the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries are
eliminated in consolidation and the portions of the loans made by each of the Company’s joint venture partner’s wholly
owned subsidiaries are reported as outstanding debt of the Company. Outstanding amounts under each of the
Company’s shareholder loans consisted of the following as of December 31,:

Contractual

2018 2017 Interest Maturity Date

Rate
Ghana loan (1) $59.9 $66.5 21.87 % December 31, 2019
Ugandaloan (2) $— 34.1 N/A N/A
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Denominated in GHS. As of December 31, 2018, the aggregate principal amount outstanding under the Ghana loan
was 294.4 million GHS.

Denominated in UGX. On August 30, 2018, the Company repaid the remaining 127.2 billion UGX ($33.8 million)
(2)under the Uganda loan, including principal and accrued unpaid interest. As a result, no amounts were outstanding
under the Uganda loan as of December 31, 2018.

ey

Capital Lease and Other Obligations—The Company’s capital lease and other obligations approximated $179.5 million
and $165.5 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. These obligations are secured by the related
assets, bear interest at rates of 3.36% to 9.25%, and mature in periods ranging from less than one year to

approximately 75 years.

Maturities—Aggregate principal maturities of long-term debt, including capital leases, for the next five years and
thereafter are expected to be:

Year Ending December 31,

2019 $2,754.8
2020 1,884 .4
2021 2,014.2
2022 3,238.8
2023 3,043.1
Thereafter 8,367.9
Total cash obligations 21,303.2

Unamortized discounts, premiums and debt issuance costs and fair value adjustments, net (143.3 )

Balance as of December 31, 2018 $21,159.9

9. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other non-current liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31,:

2018 2017
Deferred rent liability $506.7 $467.0
Unearned revenue 504.6 509.2

Other miscellaneous liabilities 253.8 268.0
Other non-current liabilities $1,265.1 $1,244.2

10. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The changes in the carrying amount of the Company’s asset retirement obligations were as follows:

2018 2017
Beginning balance as of January 1, $1,175.3 $965.5
Additions 39.6 334
Accretion expense 83.6 94.5
Revisions in estimates (1) (81.5 ) 86.6
Settlements (7.0 ) (4.7 )
Balance as of December 31, $1,210.0 $1,175.3
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( )Revisions in estimates include a decrease to the liability of $49.4 million and an increase to the liability of $13.0
million related to foreign currency translation for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

As of December 31, 2018, the estimated undiscounted future cash outlay for asset retirement obligations was $2.7
billion.
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11. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company determines the fair value of its financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy, which requires
an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair
value. Below are the three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at
1 the measurement date.

Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices
in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market
data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level

Level Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value
3 of the assets or liabilities.

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis—The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that
are required to be measured on a recurring basis at fair value was as follows:

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Fair Value Fair Value
Measurements Using ~ Measurements Using
Level 1 Igevel Level 3 Level 1 ;,evel Level 3
Assets:
Short-term investments (1) $— —  — $10 — —
Embedded derivative in lease agreement — —  $11s5 — —  $124
Liabilities:
Interest rate swap agreements — $33.8 — — $29.0 —
Acquisition-related contingent consideration — —  $0.9 — — $10.1
Fair value of debt related to interest rate swap agreements ~ $(31.3)— — $(24.5)— —
Redeemable noncontrolling interests — — $1,004.8 — — $1,126.2

(1)Consists of highly liquid investments with original maturities in excess of three months.
Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The fair value of the Company’s interest rate swap agreements is determined using pricing models with inputs that are
observable in the market or can be derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data. For
derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges, changes in the value of the derivatives are
recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in the current period, along with the offsetting gain or loss on
the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk. For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges, the Company records the change in fair value for the effective portion of the cash flow hedges in AOCL in the
consolidated balance sheets and reclassifies a portion of the value from AOCL into Interest expense on a quarterly
basis as the cash flows from the hedged item affects earnings. The Company records the settlement of interest rate
swap agreements in (Loss) gain on retirement of long-term obligations in the consolidated statements of operations in
the period in which the settlement occurs.
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The Company entered into three interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional value of $500.0 million
related to the 3.000% senior unsecured notes due 2021 (the “3.000% Notes”). These interest rate swaps, which were
designated as fair value hedges at inception, were entered into to hedge against changes in fair value of the 3.000%
Notes resulting from changes in interest rates. The interest rate swap agreements require the Company to pay interest
at a variable interest rate of one-month LIBOR plus applicable spreads and to receive fixed interest at a rate of 3.000%
through June 15, 2023.
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The Company entered into three interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional value of $600.0 million
related to the 2.250% senior unsecured notes due 2022 (the “2.250% Notes”). These interest rate swaps, which were
designated as fair value hedges at inception, were entered into to hedge against changes in fair value of the 2.250%
Notes resulting from changes in interest rates. The interest rate swap agreements require the Company to pay interest
at a variable interest rate of one-month LIBOR plus applicable spreads and to receive fixed interest at a rate of 2.250%
through January 15, 2022.

The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements in the U.S. at December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $33.5 million and
$28.5 million, respectively, and were included in Other non-current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded net fair value adjustments of $1.7 million related to
interest rate swaps and the change in fair value of debt due to interest rate swaps in Other expense in the consolidated
statement of operations.

One of the Company’s Colombian subsidiaries is party to an interest rate swap agreement with an aggregate notional
value of 55.0 billion COP ($16.9 million) with certain of the lenders under the Colombian Credit Facility. The interest
rate swap agreement, which was designated as a cash flow hedge at inception, was entered into to manage exposure to
variability in interest rates on debt. The interest rate swap agreement requires the payment of a fixed interest rate of
5.74% and pays variable interest at the three-month Inter-bank Rate (IBR) through the earlier of termination of the
underlying debt or April 24, 2021. The notional value is reduced in accordance with the repayment schedule under the
Colombian Credit Facility. The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements in Colombia at December 31, 2018 and
2017 was $0.3 million and $0.5 million, respectively, and were included in Other non-current liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets.

Embedded Derivative in Lease Agreement

In connection with the acquisition of communications sites in Nigeria, the Company entered into a site lease
agreement where a portion of the monthly rent to be received is escalated based on an index outside the lessor’s
economic environment. The fair value of the portion of the lease tied to the U.S. consumer price index was $14.6
million at the date of acquisition and was recorded in Notes receivable and other non-current assets on the
consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of the Company’s embedded derivative is determined using a discounted
cash flow approach, which takes into consideration Level 3 unobservable inputs, including expected future cash flows
over the period in which the associated payment is expected to be received and applies a discount factor that captures
uncertainties in the future periods associated with the expected payment. During the year ended December 31, 2018,
the Company recorded $0.9 million of fair value adjustments, which were recorded in Other expense in the
consolidated statement of operations.

Acquisition-Related Contingent Consideration

Acquisition-related contingent consideration is initially measured and recorded at fair value as an element of
consideration paid in connection with an acquisition with subsequent adjustments recognized in Other operating
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. The fair value of acquisition-related contingent consideration,
and any subsequent changes in fair value, is determined by using a discounted probability-weighted approach, which
takes into consideration Level 3 unobservable inputs, including assessments of expected future cash flows over the
period in which the obligation is expected to be settled, and applies a discount factor that captures the uncertainties
associated with the obligation. Changes in the unobservable inputs of Level 3 assets or liabilities could significantly
impact the fair value of these assets or liabilities recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, with the
adjustments being recorded in the consolidated statements of operations.
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As of December 31, 2018, the Company estimates that the value of all potential acquisition-related contingent
consideration required payments to be between $0.0 million and $0.9 million. The changes in fair value of the
contingent consideration were as follows during the years ended December 31,:

2018 2017
Balance as of January 1 $10.1 $154
Additions — —
Settlements 8.7 ) —
Change in fair value 0.9 )63 )
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.4 1.0
Balance as of December 31 $09 $10.1
F-35
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Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

The Company records the carrying amount of the redeemable noncontrolling interests as described in note 14. The fair
value of redeemable noncontrolling interests is determined using a discounted cash flow approach, which takes into
consideration Level 3 unobservable inputs, including expected future cash flows and applies a discount factor that
captures uncertainties in the future periods. If required, the Company adjusts the redeemable noncontrolling interests
to redemption value on each balance sheet date with changes in redemption value recognized as an adjustment to net
income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests.

The recurring Level 3 fair value measurements of the Company’s embedded derivative in lease agreement,
acquisition-related contingent consideration and redeemable noncontrolling interests include the following significant
unobservable inputs as of December 31, 2018:

Significant Unobservable Input Range

Embedded derivative in lease agreement Discount rate 10.93% - 13.96%

Acquisition-related contingent consideration Probability of payout 0.00% - 100.00%

Redeemable noncontrolling interests Revenue growth 3.16% - 12.87%
Long-term growth rate 4.00 %

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
Assets Held and Used—The Company’s long-lived assets are recorded at amortized cost and, if impaired, are adjusted to
fair value using Level 3 inputs.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, certain long-lived assets held and used with a carrying value of $22.4
billion were written down to their net realizable value as a result of an asset impairment charge of $394.0 million.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, certain long-lived assets held and used with a carrying value of $21.7
billion were written down to their net realizable value as a result of an asset impairment charge of $211.4 million. The
asset impairment charges are recorded in Other operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. These adjustments were determined by comparing the estimated fair value utilizing projected future
discounted cash flows to be provided from the long-lived assets to the asset’s carrying value.

There were no other items measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis during the year ended December 31, 2018.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments—The Company’s financial instruments for which the carrying value reasonably
approximates fair value at December 31, 2018 and 2017 include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts
receivable and accounts payable. The Company’s estimates of fair value of its long-term obligations, including the
current portion, are based primarily upon reported market values. For long-term debt not actively traded, fair value is
estimated using either indicative price quotes or a discounted cash flow analysis using rates for debt with similar terms
and maturities. As of December 31, 2018, the carrying value and fair value of long-term obligations, including the
current portion, were $21.2 billion and $21.1 billion, respectively, of which $13.4 billion was measured using Level 1
inputs and $7.7 billion was measured using Level 2 inputs. As of December 31, 2017, the carrying value and fair
value of long-term obligations, including the current portion, were $20.2 billion and $20.6 billion, respectively, of
which $13.3 billion was measured using Level 1 inputs and $7.3 billion was measured using Level 2 inputs.

12. INCOME TAXES

Beginning in the taxable year ended December 31, 2012, the Company has filed, and intends to continue to file, U.S.
federal income tax returns as a REIT, and its domestic TRSs filed, and intend to continue to file, separate tax returns
as required. The Company also files tax returns in various states and countries. The Company’s state tax returns reflect
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different combinations of the Company’s subsidiaries and are dependent on the connection each subsidiary has with a
particular state and form of organization. The following information pertains to the Company’s income taxes on a
consolidated basis.
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The income tax provision from continuing operations consisted of the following for the years ended December 31,:

2018 2017 2016

Current:

Federal $(1.4 ) $(0.1 ) $(26.5 )
State 1.8 )38 )RO )
Foreign (189.7 ) (113.4) (100.1 )
Deferred:

Federal 4.0 0.2 0.6 )
State 0.7 1.0 (0.3 )
Foreign 2983 854 (26.0 )
Income tax benefit (provision) $110.1 $(30.7) $(155.5)

The effective tax rate (“ETR”) on income from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016 differs from the federal statutory rate primarily due to the Company’s qualification for taxation as a REIT, as well
as adjustments for state and foreign items. As a REIT, the Company may deduct earnings distributed to stockholders
against the income generated by its REIT operations. In addition, the Company is able to offset certain income by
utilizing its NOLs, subject to specified limitations.

The Tax Act significantly changed how the U.S. taxes corporations. The Tax Act contained several key provisions
including, among other things, a reduction in the corporate income rate from 35% to 21% for tax years beginning after
December 31, 2017. As a result of this change in tax rate, the rate at which the Company’s deferred tax assets of the
Company’s TRSs decreased, resulting in additional tax expense of $2.4 million, which did not significantly impact the
Company's effective tax rate. As of December 31, 2017, the analysis of the full impact of the Tax Act on the Company
was considered provisional and subject to further analysis. As of December 31, 2018 the Company has completed its
analysis and all amounts are considered final. There were no material changes to the provisional impact.

In 2015, there was an income tax law change in Ghana that disallowed unused capital allowances to be carried into
2016, which resulted in a charge to income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2015. In 2017, the Ghana
Revenue Authority issued Practice Note Number DT/2016/010 (the “Practice Note”), which clarified the Capital
Allowance section of the Income Tax Act of 2015. The Practice Note allowed for unused Capital Allowance from
2015 to be treated as a deduction in 2016. As a result, the Company recorded a tax benefit of $17.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2017.

The change in the income tax (benefit) provision for the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily attributable to
receipt of the payment associated with the Tata settlement and the deferred benefit resulting from impairment charges
and accelerated amortization taken in the same foreign jurisdiction. The net impact from restructuring was primarily
due to a benefit of $85.7 million which resulted from the restructuring of foreign operations in certain jurisdictions.

Reconciliation between the U.S. statutory rate and the effective rate from continuing operations is as follows for the
years ended December 31,:

2018 2017 2016

Statutory tax rate 21% 35 % 35 %
Adjustment to reflect REIT status (1) (21) (35) (35)
Foreign taxes @®) 1 5
Foreign withholding taxes 4 3 4
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Uncertain tax positions — — 5
Changes in tax laws — 2) —
Impact from restructuring 6 ) — —
Effective tax rate (10)% 2 % 14 %
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(1) As aresult of the ability to utilize the dividends paid deduction to offset the Company’s REIT income and gains.
The domestic and foreign components of income from continuing operations before income taxes are as follows for
the years ended December 31,:

2018 2017 2016
United States $1,212.7 $971.2 $882.6
Foreign (58.1 ) 284.9 243.3
Total $1,154.6 $1,256.1 $1,125.9

The components of the net deferred tax asset and liability and related valuation allowance were as follows as of
December 31,:

2018 2017
Assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $264.9 $287.0
Accrued asset retirement obligations 165.7 157.0
Stock-based compensation 6.3 3.9
Unearned revenue 28.3 19.3
Unrealized loss on foreign currency 12.9 27.4
Other accruals and allowances 78.6 50.2
Items not currently deductible and other 26.2 28.0
Liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization (757.0 ) (1,073.9)
Deferred rent 369 ) @359 )
Other (153 ) (147 )
Subtotal (2263 ) (551.7 )
Valuation allowance (1519 ) (142.0 )
Net deferred tax liabilities $(378.2) $(693.7)

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has provided a valuation allowance of $151.9 million and $142.0
million, respectively, which primarily relates to foreign items. The increase in the valuation allowance for the year
ending December 31, 2018 is due to uncertainty as to the timing of, and the Company’s ability to recover, net deferred
tax assets in certain foreign operations in the foreseeable future, offset by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates. The amount of deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if objective evidence in the
form of cumulative losses is no longer present and additional weight may be given to subjective evidence such as the
Company’s projections for growth.
A summary of the activity in the valuation allowance is as follows:

2018 2017 2016
Balance as of January 1, $142.0 $1444 $137.0
Additions (1) 15.7 11.6 14.1
Reversals — 9.1 )—
Foreign currency translation (5.8 ) (49 ) (6.7 )
Balance as of December 31, $151.9 $142.0 $144.4

(1) Includes net charges to expense and allowances established through goodwill at acquisition.

The recoverability of the Company’s deferred tax assets has been assessed utilizing projections based on its current
operations. Accordingly, the recoverability of the deferred tax assets is not dependent on material asset sales or other
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transactions. Based on its current outlook of future taxable income during the carryforward period, the Company
believes that deferred tax assets, other than those for which a valuation allowance has been recorded, will be realized.

Despite a mandatory one-time inclusion in U.S. taxable income of accumulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries under
the Tax Act for the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company intends to continue to reinvest foreign earnings
indefinitely outside of the U.S. and does not expect to incur any significant additional taxes, including withholding
taxes, related to such amounts.

At December 31, 2018, the Company had net federal, state and foreign operating loss carryforwards available to
reduce future taxable income. If not utilized, the Company’s NOLs expire as follows:

Years ended December 31, Federal State Foreign

2019 to 2023 $—  $1429 $46.0
2024 to 2028 141.7 3784 1427
2029 to 2033 — 139 45
2034 to 2038 10.6 1354 —
Indefinite carryforward 9.6 — 746.5
Total $161.9 $670.6 $939.7

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that would impact the ETR, if
recognized, is $93.7 million and $105.8 million, respectively. The amount of unrecognized tax benefits for the year
ended December 31, 2018 includes additions to the Company’s existing tax positions of $8.4 million.

The Company expects the unrecognized tax benefits to change over the next 12 months if certain tax matters
ultimately settle with the applicable taxing jurisdiction during this timeframe, or if the applicable statute of limitations
lapses. The impact of the amount of such changes to previously recorded uncertain tax positions could range from
zero to $2.7 million.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits are as follows for the years ended
December 31,:

2018 2017 2016

Balance at January 1 $116.7 $107.6 $28.1
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 8.1 7.6 82.9
Additions and reductions for tax positions of prior years 0.3 — —
Foreign currency 81 )19 02 )
Reduction as a result of the lapse of statute of limitations 26 )©O4 )@B2 )
Reduction as a result of effective settlements 6.7 ) — —
Balance at December 31 $107.7 $116.7 $107.6

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the statute of limitations on certain unrecognized tax
benefits lapsed and certain positions were effectively settled, which resulted in a decrease of $9.3 million, $0.4 million
and $3.2 million, respectively, in the liability for uncertain tax benefits.

The Company recorded penalties and tax-related interest expense to the tax provision of $8.0 million, $5.0 million and
$9.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. In addition, due to the expiration of
the statute of limitations in certain jurisdictions and certain positions that were effectively settled, the Company
reduced its liability for penalties and income tax-related interest expense related to uncertain tax positions during the
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years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 by $16.2 million, $0.6 million and $3.4 million, respectively.
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the total amount of accrued income tax-related interest and penalties included in
the consolidated balance sheets were $19.1 million and $29.0 million, respectively.

The Company has filed for prior taxable years, and for its taxable year ended December 31, 2018 will file, numerous
consolidated and separate income tax returns, including U.S. federal and state tax returns and foreign tax returns. The

Company
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is subject to examination in the U.S. and various state and foreign jurisdictions for certain tax years. As a result of the
Company’s ability to carryforward federal, state and foreign NOLs, the applicable tax years generally remain open to
examination several years after the applicable loss carryforwards have been used or have expired. The Company
regularly assesses the likelihood of additional assessments in each of the tax jurisdictions resulting from these
examinations. The Company believes that adequate provisions have been made for income taxes for all periods
through December 31, 2018.

13.  STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
Summary of Stock-Based Compensation Plans—The Company maintains equity incentive plans that provide for the
grant of stock-based awards to its directors, officers and employees. The 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the
“2007 Plan™), provides for the grant of non-qualified and incentive stock options, as well as restricted stock units,
restricted stock and other stock-based awards. Exercise prices for non-qualified and incentive stock options are not
less than the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. Equity awards typically vest ratably,
generally over four years for RSUs and stock options and three years for PSUs. Stock options generally expire 10
years from the date of grant. As of December 31, 2018, the Company had the ability to grant stock-based awards with
respect to an aggregate of 7.7 million shares of common stock under the 2007 Plan. In addition, the Company
maintains an employee stock purchase plan (the “ESPP”) pursuant to which eligible employees may purchase shares of
the Company’s common stock on the last day of each bi-annual offering period at a 15% discount from the lower of the
closing market value on the first or last day of such offering period. The offering periods run from June 1 through
November 30 and from December 1 through May 31 of each year.
During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company recorded and capitalized the following
stock-based compensation expenses:

2018 2017 2016
Stock-based compensation expense $137.5 $108.5 $89.9
Stock-based compensation expense capitalized as property and equipment 2.0 1.6 1.4
Stock Options—The fair value of each option granted during the period was estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the assumptions noted in the table below. The expected life of stock
options (estimated period of time outstanding) was estimated using the vesting term and historical exercise behavior
of the Company’s employees. The risk-free interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury yield with a term that
approximated the estimated life in effect at the accounting measurement date. The expected volatility of the
underlying stock price was based on historical volatility for a period equal to the expected life of the stock options.
The expected annual dividend yield was the Company’s best estimate of expected future dividend yield.

There were no options granted during the year ended December 31, 2018. Key assumptions used to apply the
Black-Scholes option pricing model were as follows (percentages and years disclosed in full amounts):

2017 2016
Range of risk-free interest rate 1.88%-1.94% 1.00%-1.73%
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 1.89% 1.44%
Range of expected life of stock options 5.2 years 4.5 - 5.2 years
Range of expected volatility of the underlying stock price 18.95% - 19.45% 20.59% - 21.45%
Weighted average expected volatility of underlying stock price 19.05% 21.43%
Range of expected annual dividend yield 2.40% 1.85% - 2.40%

The weighted average grant date fair value per share during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $16.84
and $14.60, respectively. The intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016 was $98.8 million, $100.3 million and $77.6 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, total
unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options was $4.5 million and is expected to be
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of stock options was $88.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2018.
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The Company’s option activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 was as follows (share and per share data
disclosed in full amounts):
Weighted Weighted

Aggregate
Options Averag © Avera‘ge? In%ﬁns%c Value

Exercise Price Remaining

Per Share Life (Years)
Outstanding as of January 1, 2018 5,557,561 $81.32
Granted — —
Exercised (1,242,536) 71.41
Forfeited (57,555 ) 94.66
Expired — —
Outstanding as of December 31, 2018 4257470 $84.03 5.18 $315.7
Exercisable as of December 31, 2018 3,360,226  $81.10 4.76 $259.0
Vested or expected to vest as of December 31, 2018 4,257,470  $84.03 5.18 $315.7

The following table sets forth information regarding options outstanding at December 31, 2018 (share and per share
data disclosed in full amounts):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Outstanding Weighted . Weigl.lte‘d Av'erage Options Weighted .

Price Per Share Nuqlber of AYerage Exercise Remaining Life Exercisabl AYerage Exercise
Options Price Per Share  (Years) eiDI'ICG Per Share

$28.39 - $62.00 594,690 $ 56.69 2.67 594,600 $ 56.69

$71.07 - $74.06 14,717 73.26 4.48 14,717  73.26

$76.90 - $77.75 559,293 76.91 4.00 559,293 7691

$81.18 - $94.23 983,105 81.55 4.98 967,146 81.43

$94.57 - $94.71 2,070,809 94.62 6.28 1,213,187 94.60

$96.46 - $121.15 34,856 109.92 7.38 11,193  107.20

$28.39 - $121.15 4,257,470 $ 84.03 5.18 3,360,226 $ 81.10

Restricted Stock Units and Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units—The Company’s RSU and PSU activity for the
year ended December 31, 2018 was as follows (share and per share data disclosed in full amounts):
RSUs Weighted Average Grami)SUS Weighted Average Grant

Date Fair Value Date Fair Value

Outstanding as of January 1, 2018 (1) 1,742,725 $ 102.60 444,031 $ 102.81
Granted (2) 686,789 144.96 300,651 116.71

Vested and Released (3) (682,311 ) 98.24 (120,171) 100.35
Forfeited (97,230 ) 116.37 — —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2018 1,649,973 $ 121.23 624,511 $ 109.97
Expected to vest as of December 31, 2018 1,649,973 $ 121.23 624,511 $ 109.97
Vested and deferred as of December 31, 2018 32.596 $ 119.14 . §

)

PSUs consist of the target number of shares issuable at the end of the three-year performance period for the 2017
PSUs and the 2016 PSUs (each defined below), or 154,520 and 169,340 shares, respectively, and the shares

(1)issuable at the end of the three-year vesting period for the PSUs granted in 2015 (the “2015 PSUs”), based on
achievement against the performance metrics for the first, second and third year’s performance periods, or 120,171
shares.

(@)
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PSUs represent the shares above target that are issuable for the 2016 PSUs at the end of the three-year performance
cycle based on exceeding the performance metric for the three-year performance period, or 169,340 shares, and the
target number of shares issuable at the end of the three-year performance period for the 2018 PSUs, or 131,311
shares.

3) PSUs consist of shares vested pursuant to the 2015 PSUs. There are no additional shares to be earned related

to the 2015 PSUs. RSUs exclude 32,596 shares that are vested and deferred.
(4) Vested and deferred RSUs are related to deferred compensation for certain former employees.
The total fair value of RSUs and PSUs that vested during the year ended December 31, 2018 was $115.1 million.
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Restricted Stock Units—As of December 31, 2018, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested RSUs
granted under the 2007 Plan was $111.8 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of
approximately two years.

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units—During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s
Compensation Committee granted an aggregate of 131,311 PSUs (the “2018 PSUs™), 154,520 PSUs (the “2017 PSUs”),
and 169,340 PSUs (the “2016 PSUs”), respectively, to its executive officers and established the performance metrics for
these awards. Threshold, target and maximum parameters were established for the metrics for a three-year

performance period with respect to each of the 2018 PSUs, the 2017 PSUs and the 2016 PSUs and will be used to
calculate the number of shares that will be issuable when each award vests, which may range from zero to 200% of the
target amounts. At the end of each three-year performance period, the number of shares that vest will depend on the
degree of achievement against the pre-established performance goals. PSUs will be paid out in common stock at the

end of each performance period, subject generally to the executive’s continued employment or death, disability or
qualified retirement (each as defined in the applicable PSU award agreement). PSUs will accrue dividend equivalents
prior to vesting, which will be paid out only in respect of shares that actually vest.

On July 26, 2018, the Company changed the vesting terms of the PSU award agreements in the event of a participant’s
death, disability or qualified retirement (each as defined in the applicable award agreement) for all plan participants
with the exception of its Chief Executive Officer.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded $52.2 million in stock-based compensation
expense for equity awards in which the performance goals have been established and were probable of being achieved.
This amount included $19.1 million of incremental compensation that was accelerated in the third quarter due to the
changes in vesting terms. The remaining unrecognized compensation expense related to these awards at December 31,
2018, was $8.6 million based on the Company’s current assessment of the probability of achieving the performance
goals. The weighted-average period over which the cost will be recognized is approximately two years.

14. REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests—On April 21, 2016, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, ATC
Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., acquired a 51% controlling ownership interest in ATC TIPL (formerly Viom), a
telecommunications infrastructure company that owns and operates wireless communications towers and indoor DAS
networks in India (the “Viom Acquisition”).

In connection with the Viom Acquisition, the Company, through one of its subsidiaries, entered into a shareholders
agreement (the “Shareholders Agreement”) with Viom and the following remaining Viom shareholders: Tata Sons
Limited (“Tata Sons”), Tata Teleservices, IDFC Private Equity Fund III (“IDFC”), Macquarie SBI Infrastructure
Investments Pte Limited and SBI Macquarie Infrastructure Trust (collectively, the “Remaining Shareholders”). During
the year ended December 31, 2018, pursuant to the terms of the Shareholders Agreement, the Company merged its
other wholly-owned India subsidiaries into ATC TIPL. As a result, the Company’s controlling interest in ATC TIPL
increased from 51% to 63%, which resulted in an increase in the Company’s additional paid-in capital of $28.1 million.
Similarly, the noncontrolling interest was reduced from 49% to 37%, and a corresponding adjustment to reduce the
redeemable noncontrolling interest value by $28.1 million was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2018. In
addition, the Company reclassified $78.8 million of previously recorded accumulated other comprehensive loss to
additional paid-in capital due to the change in ownership of ATC TIPL.
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The Shareholders Agreement also provides certain of the Remaining Shareholders with put options, which allow them
to sell outstanding shares of ATC TIPL to the Company, and the Company with call options, which allow it to buy the
noncontrolling shares of ATC TIPL. The put options, which are not under the Company’s control, cannot be separated
from the noncontrolling interests. As a result, the combination of the noncontrolling interests and the redemption
feature requires classification as redeemable noncontrolling interests in the consolidated balance sheet, separate from
equity.

Given the provisions governing the put rights, the redeemable noncontrolling interests are recorded outside of
permanent equity at their redemption value. The noncontrolling interests become redeemable after the passage of time,
and therefore, the Company records the carrying amount of the noncontrolling interests at the greater of (i) the initial
carrying amount, increased or decreased for the noncontrolling interests’ share of net income or loss and foreign
currency translation adjustments, and (ii) the redemption value. If required, the Company will adjust the redeemable
noncontrolling interests to redemption value on each balance sheet date with changes in redemption value recognized
as an adjustment to Net income attributable to noncontrolling
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interests. Due primarily to the impact of impairment charges on net income and, as a result, on the carrying value of
the noncontrolling interests, the Company adjusted noncontrolling interests by $86.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018.

The put options may be exercised, requiring the Company to purchase the Remaining Shareholders’ equity interests, on
specified dates through March 31, 2021. The price of the put options will be based on the fair market value of the
exercising Remaining Shareholders’ interest in the Company’s India operations at the time the option is exercised. Put
options held by certain of the Remaining Shareholders are subject to a floor price of 216 INR.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, Tata Teleservices delivered to the Company notice of exercise of their put options under
the Shareholders Agreement with respect to 50% of their combined holdings with Tata Sons of ATC TIPL. Also in the
fourth quarter of 2018, IDFC delivered notice to the Company of exercise of its put option under the Shareholders
Agreement with respect of 100% of its holdings of ATC TIPL. The Company expects to complete the redemption of
the put shares, subject to regulatory approval, for total consideration of INR 29.4 billion (approximately $420.0
million) in the first half of 2019. As a result of the redemption, the Company’s controlling interest in ATC TIPL would
increase to approximately 79%.

The changes in Redeemable noncontrolling interests for the year ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Balance as of January 1, $1,126.2 $1,091.3 $—
Fair value at acquisition — — 1,100.9
Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests 879 ) @334 ) 139
Adjustment to noncontrolling interest redemption value 86.7 — —
Adjustment to noncontrolling interest due to merger 28.1 ) — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment attributable to noncontrolling interests (92.1 ) 68.3 235 )
Balance as of December 31, $1,004.8 $1,126.2 $1,091.3

15. EQUITY

Series B Preferred Stock—In March 2015, the Company issued 1,375,000 shares of its 5.50% Mandatory Convertible
Preferred Stock, Series B, par value $0.01 per share (the “Series B Preferred Stock™). As of December 31, 2017, the
Company had 13,749,860 depositary shares, each representing a 1/10th interest in a share of its Series B Preferred
Stock outstanding, after giving effect to the early conversion of 140 depositary shares at the option of the holder at a
conversion rate of 0.8687 per depositary share in May 2017.

On February 15, 2018, the Company paid the final dividend of $18.9 million to holders of the Series B Preferred
Stock at the close of business on February 1, 2018. Unless converted or redeemed earlier, each share of the Series B
Preferred Stock converted automatically on February 15, 2018 at a rate of 8.7420 per share of Series B Preferred
Stock, or 0.8742 per depositary share, each representing a 1/10th interest in a share of Series B Preferred Stock, into
shares of the Company’s common stock pursuant to the provisions of the Certificate of Designations governing the
Series B Preferred Stock. As a result of the conversions of the Series B Preferred Stock in 2018, the Company issued
an aggregate of 12,020,064 shares of its common stock. The Company paid cash in lieu of fractional shares of the
Company’s common stock. These payments were recorded as a reduction to Additional paid-in capital.

Dividends—The Company may pay dividends in cash or, subject to certain limitations, in shares of common stock or
any combination of cash and shares of common stock.
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Sales of Equity Securities—The Company receives proceeds from sales of its equity securities pursuant to the ESPP and
upon exercise of stock options granted under its equity incentive plan. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the
Company received an aggregate of $98.9 million in proceeds upon exercises of stock options and sales pursuant to the
ESPP.

Stock Repurchase Programs—In March 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program,
pursuant to which the Company is authorized to repurchase up to $1.5 billion of its common stock (the “2011
Buyback”™). In December 2017, the Board of Directors approved an additional stock repurchase program, pursuant to
which the Company is
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authorized to repurchase up to $2.0 billion of its common stock (the “2017 Buyback” and, together with the 2011
Buyback, the “Buyback Programs”).

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company repurchased 1,647,489 shares of its common stock under the
2011 Buyback for an aggregate of $232.8 million, including commissions and fees. As of December 31, 2018, the
Company had repurchased a total of 14,003,543 shares of its common stock under the 2011 Buyback for an aggregate
of $1.4 billion, including commissions and fees. There were no repurchases under the 2017 Buyback.

Under the Buyback Programs, the Company is authorized to purchase shares from time to time through open market
purchases, in privately negotiated transactions not to exceed market prices, and (with respect to such open market
purchases) pursuant to plans adopted in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in
accordance with securities laws and other legal requirements, and subject to market conditions and other factors.

The Company expects to fund any further repurchases of its common stock through a combination of cash on hand,
cash generated by operations and borrowings under its credit facilities. Purchases under the Buyback Programs are
subject to the Company having available cash to fund repurchases.

Distributions—During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company declared the following cash
distributions:
For the year ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate
DistribuRayment  Distribuapment DistribuReypment
per Amount per Amount  per Amount
share (in share (in share (in
millions) millions) millions)
COEPON G| 3808 $2.62 $1,1225 $2.17 § 923.7
Stock
Series
A
Pigferred $ — $2.63 $15.8 $5.25 $315
Stock
(1
Series
B$ 3.75 $18.9 $55.00 $75.6 $55.00 $ 75.6
Preferred
Stock

(1) 5.25% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A, par value $0.01 per share (the “Series A Preferred Stock™),
which converted into shares of the Company’s common stock pursuant to the provisions of the Certificate of
Designations governing the Series A Preferred Stock in 2017.

The following table characterizes the tax treatment of distributions declared per share of common stock and
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock.

For the year ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
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Per Per Per
Share % Share % Share %
Common Stock
Ordinary dividend $3.1500(1)100.00% $2.6200 100.00% $2.1700 100.00%
Capital gains distribution — — — — — —
Total $3.1500 100.00% $2.6200 100.00% $2.1700 100.00%
Series A Preferred Stock
Ordinary dividend $— — % $3.3643(2)100.00% $6.4578(3)100.00%
Capital gains distribution — — — — — —
Total $— — % $3.3643 100.00% $6.4578 100.00%
Series B Preferred Stock
)
Ordinary dividend $2.1314(5)100.00% $6.5233(6)100.00% $5.5000 100.00%
Capital gains distribution — — — — — —
Total $2.1314 100.00% $6.5233 100.00% $5.5000 100.00%

ey

Includes dividend declared on December 4, 2018 of $0.84 per share, which was paid on January 14, 2019 to

common stockholders of record at the close of business on December 27, 2018.
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(2)Includes a deemed distribution as a result of a conversion rate adjustment triggered on April 27, 2017.

(3)Includes a deemed distribution as a result of a conversion rate adjustment triggered on June 17, 2016.

( 4)Represents the tax treatment on dividends per depositary share, each of which represents a 1/10th interest in a share
of Series B Preferred Stock.

(5)Includes a deemed distribution as a result of a conversion rate adjustment triggered on January 18, 2018.

(6)Includes a deemed distribution as a result of a conversion rate adjustment triggered on April 12, 2017.

The Company accrues distributions on unvested restricted stock units, which are payable upon vesting. The amount

accrued for distributions payable related to unvested restricted stock units was $13.7 million and $10.1 million as of

December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company paid $4.3

million of distributions payable upon the vesting of restricted stock units. To maintain its qualification for taxation as

a REIT, the Company expects to continue paying distributions, the amount, timing and frequency of which will be

determined and subject to adjustment by the Company’s Board of Directors.

16. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE
Other operating expense consists primarily of impairment charges, net losses on sales or disposals of assets and other
operating expense items. The Company records impairment charges to write down certain assets to their net realizable
value after an indicator of impairment is identified and subsequent analysis determines that the asset is either partially
recoverable or not recoverable. These assets consisted primarily of towers, which are typically assessed on an
individual basis, network location intangibles, which relate directly to towers, and tenant-related intangibles, which
are assessed on a tenant basis. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, impairment charges included
amounts related to land easements. Net losses on sales or disposals of assets primarily relate to certain non-core
towers, other assets and miscellaneous items. Other operating expenses includes acquisition-related costs and
integration costs.
Other operating expenses included the following for the years ended December 31,:

2018 2017 2016
Impairment charges $394.0 $211.4 $28.5
Net losses on sales or disposals of assets 85.6  32.8  25.1
Other operating expenses (1) 337  11.8  19.7
Total Other operating expenses $513.3 $256.0 $73.3

(I)For the year ended December 31, 2017, the amount also includes refunds of acquisition costs and a charitable
contribution.
Impairment charges included the following for the years ended December 31,:
2018 2017 2016
Tower and network location intangible assets $284.9 $108.7 $18.0

Tenant relationships 107.3 100.1 —
Other 1.8 2.6 10.5
Total impairment charges $394.0 $211.4 $28.5

On February 28, 2018, one of the Company’s tenants in Asia, Aircel Ltd.’s (“Aircel”), filed for bankruptcy protection
with the National Company Law Tribunal of India. The bankruptcy process is ongoing and the ultimate outcome has
yet to be determined. The Company performed an impairment test based on current expectations of the impact of the
bankruptcy on projected cash flows for assets related to Aircel. These assets primarily consisted of towers, network
location intangibles and tenant-related intangibles. As a result, an impairment of $40.1 million was recorded on the
tower and network location intangible assets. The Company also fully impaired the tenant relationship for Aircel,
which resulted in an impairment of $107.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2018.
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In October 2017, one of the Company’s tenants in Asia, Tata Teleservices, informed the Department of
Telecommunications in India of its intent to exit the wireless telecommunications business and announced plans to
transfer its business to another telecommunications provider. In October 2018, the Company entered into agreements
with Tata for a settlement and release of certain contractual lease obligations of Tata. The Company performed an
impairment test based on current expectations of the impact of the settlement on projected cash flows for assets related
to Tata. These assets consisted primarily of towers, network
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location intangibles and tenant-related intangibles. As a result, an impairment of $164.2 million was recorded on the
tower and network location intangible assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded an additional $54.0 million of impairments on
tower and network location intangible assets related to other carrier consolidation-driven churn in India. During the
year ended December 31, 2017, $81.0 million of impairment charges on tower and network location intangible assets
and all impairment charges on tenant relationships related to carrier consolidation-driven churn in India.

17.  EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The following table sets forth basic and diluted net income per common share computational data for the years ended
December 31, (shares in thousands, except per share data):
2018 2017 2016

Net income attributable to American Tower Corporation stockholders $1,236.4 $1,238.9 $9564
Dividends on preferred stock 9.4 ) (87.4 ) (107.1)
Net income attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders 1,227.0 1,151.5 849.3
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 439,606 428,181 425,143
Dilutive securities 3,354 3,507 4,140
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 442 960 431,688 429,283

Basic net income attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders
per common share

Diluted net income attributable to American Tower Corporation common stockholders
per common share

$2.79 $2.69 $2.00

$2.77 $2.67 $1.98

Shares Excluded From Dilutive Effect

The following shares were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect would be
anti-dilutive for the years ended December 31, (in thousands, on a weighted average basis):
2018 2017 2016

Restricted stock awards — 3 6
Stock options — 4 817
Preferred stock 1,456 14,040 17,509

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation—The Company periodically becomes involved in various claims, lawsuits and proceedings that are incidental
to its business. In the opinion of Company management, after consultation with counsel, there are no matters currently
pending that would, in the event of an adverse outcome, materially impact the Company’s consolidated financial
position, results of operations or liquidity.

Verizon Transaction—In March 2015, the Company entered into an agreement with various operating entities of
Verizon Communications Inc. (“Verizon”) that currently provides for the lease, sublease or management of
approximately 11,250 wireless communications sites commencing March 27, 2015. The average term of the lease or
sublease for all sites at the inception of the agreement was approximately 28 years, assuming renewals or extensions
of the underlying ground leases for the sites. The Company has the option to purchase the leased sites in tranches,
subject to the applicable lease, sublease or management rights upon its scheduled expiration. Each tower is assigned to
an annual tranche, ranging from 2034 to 2047, which represents the outside expiration date for the sublease rights to
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the towers in that tranche. The purchase price for each tranche is a fixed amount stated in the lease for such tranche
plus the fair market value of certain alterations made to the related towers. The aggregate purchase option price for the
towers leased and subleased is approximately $5.0 billion. Verizon will occupy the sites as a tenant for an initial term
of ten years with eight optional successive five-year terms; each such term shall be governed by standard master lease
agreement terms established as a part of the transaction.

AT&T Transaction—The Company has an agreement with SBC Communications Inc., a predecessor entity to AT&T
Inc. (“AT&T”), that currently provides for the lease or sublease of approximately 2,280 towers commencing between
December 2000 and August 2004. Substantially all of the towers are part of the Trust Securitizations. The average
term of the lease or sublease for all sites at the inception of the agreement was approximately 27 years, assuming
renewals or extensions of the underlying ground leases for the sites. The Company has the option to purchase the sites
subject to the applicable lease or sublease upon its expiration. Each tower is assigned to an annual tranche, ranging
from 2013 to 2032, which represents the outside expiration date for the sublease rights to that tower. The purchase
price for each site is a fixed amount stated in the lease for that site plus the fair market value of certain alterations
made to the related tower by AT&T. As of December 31, 2018, the Company has purchased an aggregate of 149 of
the subleased towers upon expiration of the applicable agreement, including 61
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towers purchased during the year ended December 31, 2018 for an aggregate purchase price of $22.2 million. The
aggregate purchase option price for the remaining towers leased and subleased is $891.5 million and will accrete at a
rate of 10% per annum through the applicable expiration of the lease or sublease of a site. For all such sites, AT&T
has the right to continue to lease the reserved space through June 30, 2020 at the then-current monthly fee, which shall
escalate in accordance with the standard master lease agreement for the remainder of AT&T’s tenancy. Thereafter,
AT&T shall have the right to renew such lease for up to four successive five-year terms.

ALLTEL Transaction—In December 2000, the Company entered into an agreement with ALLTEL Communications,
LLC, a predecessor entity to Verizon Wireless, to acquire towers through a 15-year sublease agreement. Pursuant to
the agreement, as amended, with Verizon Wireless, the Company acquired rights to approximately 1,800 towers in
tranches between April 2001 and March 2002. The Company has the option to purchase each tower at the expiration
of the applicable sublease. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company exercised the purchase options
for 1,523 towers and provided notice to the tower owner, Verizon’s assignee, of its intent to exercise the purchase
options related to the 243 remaining towers. As of December 31, 2018, the purchase price per tower was $42,844
payable in cash or, at the tower owner’s option, with 769 shares of the Company’s common stock per tower. The
aggregate cash purchase option price for the subleased towers was $10.4 million as of December 31, 2018.

Other Contingencies—The Company is subject to income tax and other taxes in the geographic areas where it operates,
and periodically receives notifications of audits, assessments or other actions by taxing authorities. Taxing authorities
may issue preliminary notices or assessments while audits are being conducted. In certain jurisdictions, taxing
authorities may issue assessments with minimal examination. These notices and assessments do not represent amounts
that the Company is obligated to pay and are often not reflective of the actual tax liability for which the Company will
ultimately be liable. The Company evaluates the circumstances of each notification or assessment based on the
information available and records a liability for any potential outcome that is probable or more likely than not
unfavorable if the liability is also reasonably estimable.

On December 5, 2016, the Company received an income tax assessment of Essar Telecom Infrastructure Private
Limited (“ETIPL”) from the India Income Tax Department (the “Tax Department”) for the fiscal year ending 2008 in the
amount of 4.75 billion INR ($69.8 million on the date of assessment) related to capital contributions. The Company
challenged the assessment before the Office of Commissioner of Income Tax - Appeals, which ruled in the Company’s
favor in January 2018. However, the Tax Department has appealed this ruling at a higher appellate authority. The
Company estimates that there is a more likely than not probability that the Company’s position will be sustained upon
appeal. Accordingly, no liability has been recorded. Additionally, the assessment was made with respect to
transactions that took place in the tax year commencing in 2007, prior to the Company’s acquisition of ETIPL. Under
the Company’s definitive acquisition agreement of ETIPL, the seller is obligated to indemnify and defend the
Company with respect to any tax-related liability that may arise from activities prior to March 31, 2010.

Lease Obligations—The Company leases certain land, office and tower space under operating leases that expire over
various terms. Many of the leases contain renewal options with specified increases in lease payments upon exercise of
the renewal option. Escalation clauses present in operating leases, excluding those tied to a consumer price index or
other inflation-based indices, are recognized on a straight-line basis over the non-cancellable term of the applicable
leases.

Future minimum rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases include payments for certain renewal periods
at the Company’s option because failure to renew could result in a loss of the applicable communications sites and
related revenues from tenant leases, thereby making it reasonably assured that the Company will renew the leases.
Such payments at December 31, 2018 are as follows:

Year Ending December 31,
2019 $926.0
2020 904.2
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879.8
834.2
792.6
6,173.1
$10,509.9
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Aggregate rent expense (including the effect of straight-line rent expense) under operating leases for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 approximated $1,128.0 million, $1,088.0 million and $986.2 million, respectively.
Future minimum payments under capital leases in effect at December 31, 2018 were as follows:

Year Ending December 31,

2019 $40.7
2020 32.7
2021 27.8
2022 23.7
2023 19.2
Thereafter 117.5
Total minimum lease payments 261.6
Less amounts representing interest 82.1 )

Present value of capital lease obligations $179.5

Tenant Leases—The Company’s lease agreements with its tenants vary depending upon the region and the industry of the
tenant, and generally have initial terms of ten years with multiple renewal terms at the option of the tenant.

Historically, the Company has been able to successfully renew its ground leases as needed to ensure its tower revenue.
Accordingly, the Company assumes that it will have access to the land underneath its tower sites when calculating

future minimum rental receipts. Future minimum rental receipts expected from tenants under non-cancellable

operating lease agreements in effect at December 31, 2018 were as follows:

Year Ending December 31,

2019 $5,251.2
2020 5,062.2
2021 4,676.1
2022 3,754.6
2023 3,457.3
Thereafter 12,641.1
Total $34,842.5

Guaranties and Indemnifications—The Company enters into agreements from time to time in the ordinary course of
business pursuant to which it agrees to guarantee or indemnify third parties for certain claims. The Company has also
entered into purchase and sale agreements relating to the sale or acquisition of assets containing customary
indemnification provisions. The Company’s indemnification obligations under these agreements generally are limited
solely to damages resulting from breaches of representations and warranties or covenants under the applicable
agreements. In addition, payments under such indemnification clauses are generally conditioned on the other party
making a claim that is subject to whatever defenses the Company may have and are governed by dispute resolution
procedures specified in the particular agreement. Further, the Company’s obligations under these agreements may be
limited in duration and amount, and in some instances, the Company may have recourse against third parties for
payments made by the Company. The Company has not historically made any material payments under these
agreements and, as of December 31, 2018, is not aware of any agreements that could result in a material payment.
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19. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Supplemental cash flow information and non-cash investing and financing activities are as follows for the years ended
December 31,:

2018 2017 2016
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $789.7 $712.1 $645.1
Cash paid for income taxes (net of refunds of $25.0, $20.7 and $19.6, respectively) 1639 136.5 96.2
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses for purchases of property and

equipment and construction activities 8.3 340 (9.0 )

Purchases of property and equipment under capital leases 578 548 55.6
Fair value of debt assumed through acquisitions — — 786.9
Exercise of purchase option for property and equipment for common shares issued — — 120.8
Acquisition of Commercialization Rights 248 — —
Conversion of third-party debt to equity — 482 —
Debt financed acquisition of communication sites 542 — —

20. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Company’s primary business is leasing space on multitenant communications sites to wireless service providers,
radio and television broadcast companies, wireless data providers, government agencies and municipalities and
tenants in a number of other industries. This business is referred to as the Company’s property operations, which as of
December 31, 2018, consisted of the following:

U.S.: property operations in the United States;

Asia: property operations in India;

Europe, Middle East and Africa (‘EMEA”): property operations in France, Germany, Ghana, Kenya, Nigeria, South
Africa and Uganda; and

L atin America: property operations in Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Mexico, Paraguay and Peru.
The Company’s services segment offers tower-related services in the United States, including AZP and structural
analysis, which primarily support its site leasing business, including the addition of new tenants and equipment on its
sites. The services segment is a strategic business unit that offers different services from, and requires different
resources, skill sets and marketing strategies than, the property operating segments.

The accounting policies applied in compiling segment information below are similar to those described in note 1.
Among other factors, in evaluating financial performance in each business segment, management uses segment gross
margin and segment operating profit. The Company defines segment gross margin as segment revenue less segment
operating expenses excluding stock-based compensation expense recorded in costs of operations; Depreciation,
amortization and accretion; Selling, general, administrative and development expense; and Other operating expenses.
The Company defines segment operating profit as segment gross margin less Selling, general, administrative and
development expense attributable to the segment, excluding stock-based compensation expense and corporate
expenses. For reporting purposes, for periods through September 30, 2018, the Latin America property segment gross
margin and segment operating profit also include Interest income (expense), TV Azteca, net. These measures of
segment gross margin and segment operating profit are also before Interest income, Interest expense, Gain (loss) on
retirement of long-term obligations, Other income (expense), Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests
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and Income tax benefit (provision). The categories of expenses indicated above, such as depreciation, have been
excluded from segment operating performance as they are not considered in the review of information or the
evaluation of results by management. There are no significant revenues resulting from transactions between the
Company’s operating segments. All intercompany transactions are eliminated to reconcile segment results and assets to
the consolidated statements of operations and consolidated balance sheets.
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Summarized financial information concerning the Company’s reportable segments for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016 is shown in the following tables. The “Other” column (i) represents amounts excluded from
specific segments, such as business development operations, stock-based compensation expense and corporate
expenses included in Selling, general, administrative and development expense; Other operating expenses; Interest
income; Interest expense; Gain (loss) on retirement of long-term obligations; and Other income (expense), and (ii)
reconciles segment operating profit to Income from continuing operations before income taxes.

Property . Total
Year ended December 31, 2018 U.S. Asia EMEA kerlntl:rica Property Services Other  Total
Segment revenues (1) $3,822.1 $1,540.5 $687.3 $1,264.8 $7,314.7 $1254 $7,440.1
Segment operating expenses (2) 771.0 7109 238.1 406.3 2,126.3 482 2,174.5
Interest expense, TV Azteca, net — — — (0.1 ) (0.1 ) — (0.1 )
Segment gross margin 3,051.1 829.6 449.2 858.4 5,188.3 772 5,265.5
Segment selling, general,
administrative and development 165.2 110.7 69.1 835 428.5 14.4 4429
expense (2)
Segment operating profit $2,885.9 $718.9 $380.1 $7749  $4,759.8 $62.8 $4,822.6
Stock-based compensation expense $137.5 1375

Other selling, general, administrative
and development expense
Depre.matlon, amortization and 2.110.8 2.110.8
accretion

Other expense (3) 1,263.6 1,263.6
Incom§ from continuing operations $1.154.6
before income taxes
Capital expenditures (4) $376.9 $101.0 $232.7 $220.7 $931.3 $— $13.9 $945.2

156.1 156.1

Asia segment revenues include a net impact of $333.7 million as a result of the settlement payment received from
Tata in the fourth quarter of 2018.
@) Segment operating expenses and segment selling, general, administrative and development expenses exclude
stock-based compensation expense of $3.3 million and $134.2 million, respectively.
(3)Primarily includes interest expense and $394.0 million in impairment charges.
Includes $32.0 million of capital lease payments included in Repayments of notes payable, credit facilities, term
(4)loan, senior notes, secured debt and capital leases in the cash flow from financing activities in the Company’s
consolidated statement of cash flows.

ey
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Property Total
Year ended December 31, 2017 U.S. Asia EMEA karlntl:rica Property Services Other  Total
Segment revenues $3,605.7 $1,164.4 $626.2 $1,169.6 $6,565.9 $ 98.0 $6,663.9
Segment operating expenses (1) 746.5 649.0  238.3 386.1 2,019.9 338 2,053.7
Interest income, TV Azteca, net — — — 10.8 10.8 — 10.8
Segment gross margin 2,859.2 5154 387.9 794.3 4,556.8 64.2 4,621.0
Segment selling, general, administrative 151.4 2.4 679 775 3792 137 392.9
and development expense (1)
Segment operating profit $2,707.8 $433.0 $320.0 $716.8 $4,177.6 $ 50.5 $4,228.1
Stock-based compensation expense $108.5 108.5
Other selling, general, administrative and 1385 1385
development expense
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 1,7159 1,7159
Other expense (2) 1,009.1 1,009.1
Incomg from continuing operations $1.256.1
before income taxes
Capital expenditures (3) $360.6 $118.0 $141.7 $197.4 $817.7 $—  $17.7 $8354

1) Segment operating expenses and segment selling, general, administrative and development expenses exclude
stock-based compensation expense of $2.9 million and $105.6 million, respectively.
(2)Primarily includes interest expense.

Includes $31.8 million of capital lease payments included in Repayments of notes payable, credit facilities, term
(3)loan, senior notes, secured debt and capital leases in the cash flow from financing activities in the Company’s
consolidated statement of cash flows.

Property

Latin Total Other Total
Year ended December 31, 2016 U.S. Asia EMEA Amlerica Property Services
Segment revenues $3,370.1 $827.6 $529.5 $985.9 $5,713.1 $72.6 $5,785.7
Segment operating expenses (1) 733.4 4659 22377 338.0 1,761.0 27.0 1,788.0
Interest income, TV Azteca, net — — — 10.9 10.9 — 10.9
Segment gross margin 2,636.7 361.7 305.8 658.8 3,963.0 45.6 4,008.6
Segment selling, general, administrative and 1476 482 609  60.7 3174 125 329.9
development expense (1)
Segment operating profit $2,489.1 $313.5 $244.9 $598.1 $3,645.6 $ 33.1 $3,678.7
Stock-based compensation expense $89.9 89.9
Other selling, general, administrative and 1260 126.0
development expense
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 1,525.6 1,525.6
Other expense (2) 811.3 811.3
.Income from continuing operations before $1.125.9
income taxes
Capital expenditures (3) $310.7 $115.5 $86.1 $172.6 $6849 $— $165 $701.4

Segment operating expenses and segment selling, general, administrative and development expenses exclude
stock-based compensation expense of $2.4 million and $87.5 million, respectively.

ey
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(2)Primarily includes interest expense.
Includes $18.9 million of capital lease payments included in Repayments of notes payable, credit facilities, term
(3)loan, senior notes, secured debt and capital leases in the cash flow from financing activities in the Company’s
consolidated statement of cash flows.
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Additional information relating to the total assets of the Company’s operating segments is as follows for the years
ended December 31,:
2018 2017 2016

U.S. property $18,782.0 $19,032.6 $18,846.9
Asia property (1) 4,938.8 4,770.8  4,535.3
EMEA property (1) 3,367.8 3,213.6 2,062.4
Latin America property (1) 5,594.7 5,868.4  4,938.1
Services 46.3 42.3 48.3
Other (2) 280.8 286.6 448.2
Total assets $33,010.4 $33,214.3 $30,879.2

Balances are translated at the applicable period end exchange rate, which may impact comparability between

periods.

(2)Balances include corporate assets such as cash and cash equivalents, certain tangible and intangible assets and
income tax accounts that have not been allocated to specific segments.

Summarized geographic information related to the Company’s operating revenues for the years ended December 31,

2018, 2017 and 2016 and long-lived assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

ey

2018 2017 2016
Operating Revenues:

United States $3,947.5 $3,703.7 $3,442.7
Asia (1):

India 1,540.5 1,164.4 827.6
EMEA (1):

France 72.7 59.5 —
Germany 69.1 63.1 60.2
Ghana 125.4 122.9 116.2
Kenya 7.0 — —
Nigeria 220.7 213.9 2154
South Africa 125.3 106.5 80.0
Uganda 67.1 60.3 57.7
Latin America (1):

Argentina 16.0 15.9 1.0
Brazil 595.5 620.1 506.2
Chile 44.2 40.4 33.8
Colombia 103.8 89.3 79.7
Costa Rica 18.4 194 19.0
Mexico 456.5 364.3 331.2
Paraguay 10.4 2.7 —
Peru 20.0 17.5 15.0
Total International 3,492.6 2,960.2 2,343.0

Total operating revenues $7,440.1 $6,663.9 $5,785.7

(1)Balances are translated at the applicable exchange rate, which may impact comparability between periods.
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2018
Long-Lived Assets (1):
United States $16,543.7
Asia (2):
India 3,947.8
EMEA (2):
France 963.8
Germany 388.5
Ghana 159.2
Kenya 190.0
Nigeria 606.5
South Africa 342.5
Uganda 138.7
Latin America (2):
Argentina 81.6
Brazil 2,288.1
Chile 129.7
Colombia 381.6
Costa Rica 119.1
Mexico 1,421.3
Paraguay 107.4
Peru 113.8

Total International 11,379.6
Total long-lived assets $27,923.3

(1)Includes Property and equipment, net, Goodwill and Other intangible assets, net.
Balances are translated at the applicable period end exchange rate, which may impact comparability between

2

periods.

The following tenants within the property and services segments individually accounted for 10% or more of the
Company’s consolidated operating revenues for the years ended December 31,:

2018 2017 2016

AT&T 19% 19% 21 %
Verizon Wireless 15% 16% 15 %
Sprint 8 %9 % 11%

2017
$16,930.2
4,052.6

1,009.6
428.0
171.4
587.2
330.4
136.9

117.9
2,557.4
151.2
369.0
112.9
1,396.8
71.5

93.7
11,592.5
$28,522.7

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company had no significant related party

transactions.
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22. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
Selected quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in millions, except
per share data):

Three Months Ended Year Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30,December 31,December 31,
2018:
Operating revenues $1,741.8 $1,780.9 $ 1,785.5 $2,131.9 $ 7,440.1
Costs of operations (1) 519.9 560.3 556.7 540.9 2,177.8
Operating income 402.9 546.0  567.2 388.9 1,905.0
Net income 280.3 314.4 377.3 292.7 1,264.7

Net income attributable to American Tower

Corporation stockholders 285.2 306.7  366.9 277.6 1,236.4
Dividends on preferred stock 9.4 ) — — — 9.4 )
Net income attributable to American Tower 275 8 306.7 366.9 277 6 1.227.0
Corporation common stockholders
Basic net income per share attributable to American 0.63 0.69 0.83 0.63 79
Tower Corporation common stockholders
Diluted net income per share attributable to American 0.63 0.69 0.83 0.62 )77
Tower Corporation common stockholders
El;iehMonths Ended Year Ended
3] June 30, September 30,December 31, December 31,
2017:
Operating revenues $1,616.2 $1,662.5 $ 1,680.7 $1,704.5 $ 6,663.9
Costs of operations (1) 492.7 517.2 519.8 526.9 2,056.6
Operating income 531.4 576.9 561.1 329.0 1,998.4
Net income 307.4 388.5 334.7 194.8 1,225.4
Net income attributable to American Tower 316.1 367.0 3173 38 5 1.238.9
Corporation stockholders
Dividends on preferred stock (26.8 ) (22.8 ) (18.9 ) (18.9 ) (874 )
Net income attributable to American Tower 7893 3442 298 4 2196 11515
Corporation common stockholders
Basic net income per share attributable to American 0.68 081 070 051 769

Tower Corporation common stockholders
Diluted net income per share attributable to American

Tower Corporation common stockholders 0.67 0.80 0.69 051 267

Represents Operating expenses, exclusive of Depreciation, amortization and accretion, Selling, general,
administrative and development expense, and Other operating expenses.

)
23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
2019 Term Loan—On February 14, 2019, the Company entered into a $1.3 billion unsecured term loan (the “2019 Term

Loan”), the net proceeds of which were used, together with cash on hand, to repay all outstanding indebtedness under
the 2018 Term Loan. The 2019 Term Loan matures on February 13, 2020. The Company has the option of choosing
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either a defined base rate or LIBOR as the applicable base rate for borrowings under the 2019 Term Loan. The interest
rate on the 2019 Term Loan ranges between 0.550% and 1.375% above LIBOR for LIBOR based borrowings or up to
0.375% above the defined base rate for base rate borrowings, in each case based upon the Company’s debt ratings. The
current margin over LIBOR for the 2019
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Term Loan is 0.800%. Any outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest will be due and payable in full at
maturity. The 2019 Term Loan does not require amortization of principal and may be paid prior to maturity in whole
or in part at the Company’s option without penalty or premium.

The agreement for the 2019 Term Loan contains certain reporting, information, financial and operating covenants and
other restrictions (including limitations on additional debt, guaranties, sales of assets and liens) with which the
Company must comply. Any failure to comply with the financial and operating covenants of the loan agreement may
constitute a default, which could result in, among other things, the amounts outstanding, including all accrued interest
and unpaid fees, becoming immediately due and payable.
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(dollars in millions)

Cost Gross amount Accumulated Life on which
_ Initial cost capitalized carried at deprematlorbate of Date deprec.latlon n
Description Encumbrances close of at close of . . . latest income

to company subsequent to construction acquired .

. current current statements is

acquisition . .
period period computed

168,985?1;)68 $3,014.2(2) (3) 3) $15,960.1(4) $(5,724.7) Various  Various Up to 20 years

(1) No single site exceeds 5% of the total amounts indicated in the table above.

(2) Certain assets secure debt of $3.0 billion.

(3) The Company has omitted this information, as it would be impracticable to compile such information on a
site-by-site basis.

(4) Does not include those sites under construction.

2018 2017 2016
Gross amount at beginning $15,349.0 $14,277.0 $13,046.3
Additions during period:
Acquisitions 721.4 499.7 787.2
Discretionary capital projects (1) 173.5 120.7 105.3
Discretionary ground lease purchases (2) 180.4 150.4 168.1
Redevelopment capital expenditures (3) 177.3 138.8 136.8
Capital improvements (4) 94.0 65.6 81.8
Start-up capital expenditures (5) 113.1 158.1 128.7
Other (6) 3.0 ) 106.4 139.4
Total additions 1,456.7 1,239.7 1,547.3
Deductions during period:
Cost of real estate sold or disposed (395.7 ) (2465 ) (85.8 )
Other (7) (4499 ) 78.8 (230.8 )
Total deductions: (845.6 ) (167.7 ) (3166 )
Balance at end $15,960.1 $15,349.0 $14,277.0

2018 2017 2016

Gross amount of accumulated depreciation at beginning $(5,181.2) $(4,548.1) $(3,994.9)
Additions during period:
Depreciation (7514 ) (7187 ) (6479 )
Other — —
Total additions (7514 ) (7187 ) (6479 )
Deductions during period:
Amount of accumulated depreciation for assets sold or disposed 129.3 100.7 24.9
Other (7) 78.6 (15.1 ) 69.8
Total deductions 207.9 85.6 94.7
Balance at end $(5,724.7) $(5,181.2) $(4,548.1)

(1)Includes amounts incurred primarily for the construction of new sites.
(2)Includes amounts incurred to purchase or otherwise secure the land under communications sites.
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Includes amounts incurred to increase the capacity of existing sites, which results in new incremental tenant

revenue.

Includes amounts incurred to enhance existing sites by adding additional functionality, capacity or general asset

improvements.

Includes amounts incurred in connection with acquisitions or new market launches. Start-up capital expenditures

(5)includes non-recurring expenditures contemplated in acquisitions, new market launch business cases or initial
deployment of new technologies or innovation solutions that lead to an increase in site-level cash flow generation.

(6)Primarily includes regional improvements and other additions.

(7)Primarily includes foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations and other deductions.

3)
“)
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